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COLUMBIA

July 30, 2015

Honourable Teresa Wat

Minister of International Trade and Minister Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and
Multiculturalism

Parliament Buildings

Victoria, British Columbia

V8V 1X4

Dear Minister:

On behalf of the people of British Columbia, I would like to thank you for the contributions
made by you and your ministry over the past 12 months to make our province stronger.

You have been part of a government that has continued to deliver on the promises we made in
our election platform, Strong Economy, Secure Tomorrow during the past 24 months. Balancing
the budget for a third time, having our triple A credit rating confirmed and re-confirmed as stable
by Moody’s Investors Service, and continuing to support the growth of a diverse economy are all
accomplishments of which we collectively and you individually can be rightly proud.

I am very pleased to note that you and each of your colleagues were again able to live within
your voted legislative budgets. The people of our province elect us to work on their behalf—to
control spending.

Living within our means is demonstrating our respect for the people of our province and the tax
dollars they send to Victoria. By keeping government lean and reducing the cost of
administration, we can make significant investments in people and the infrastructure on which
they depend to succeed in a strong and growing economy.

As a result of our strong fiscal position, we have been able to provide new assistance to single
parents as they return to the workforce, greater income exemptions for single parents on income
assistance and continued record investments in funding for public health care, education and
transportation—services on which families depend.

Our government is resolute in our desire to grow the economy as a way to enable more British
Columbians to participate in the economy and obtain meaningful, family-supporting work. The
work your ministry does each and every day to contribute to these efforts are noticed and valued.

Office of the Mailing Address:
Premier World Trade Centre
740 - 999 Canada Place
Vancouver BC V6C 3E1
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In particular, I would like to congratulate you and your ministry for:

Launching the HQ Vancouver project with the federal government and BC Business
Council as committed in Strong Economy, Secure Tomorrow

Continuing to implement the Report of the Chinese Historical Wrongs Consultation
including the creation of the Legacy Initiatives Advisory Council

Your coordination of all provincial trade missions to maximize the value of each mission
and ensure ministries are delivering maximum results for taxpayers

As you know, the annual mandate letter you receive is designed to be an ongoing workplan for
your ministry that is updated on an annual basis. You will undoubtedly notice some changes
since last June.

Your mandate for the following year is as follows:

1.

Balance your ministerial budget in order to control spending and ensure an overall
balanced budget for the province of British Columbia.

Coordinate trade missions across all ministries to ensure maximum coverage and minimal
duplication as ministries execute BC Jobs Plan strategies.

Work with the BC chapter of the Canadian Manufacturers and Exporters Association to ( '
further export opportunities for BC business that were identified by your ministry last
year,

Continue to work with Canada and the BC Business Council and HQ Vancouver to
attract major Asian firms to invest in BC and locate their North American presence in our
province as commitied in Strong Economy, Secure Tomorrow.

Work with the federal government to ensure British Columbia’s interests are protected in
the Trans-Pacific Partriership trade negotiations.

Work with the BC construction industry to fight the federal tariffs imposed on imported
rebar and ensure construction costs remain as low as possible in BC.

Work with the Ministries of Advanced Education and Technology, Innovation and
Citizens’ Services to develop and present options to Cabinet on ways to improve the
availability of venture capital funding in British Columbia.

Develop and present options to Cabinet on a trade strategy for China focussing on mid-
sized Chinese cities.

Work with the Premier’s Office to recognize the 20th anniversary of the sister province
relationship between British Columbia and Guangdong, China. (
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10. Develop options and present to Cabinet a strategy for increasing our trade with India and
presence in the ASEAN nations.

11. Continue to implement the recommendations of the Chinese Historical Wrongs
Consultation Report and provide an update to Cabinet on their status by December 31,
2015.

12. Work with the Ministry of Education to ensure the Historical Wrongs Educational
Curriculum Supplement is available to BC schools in the 2015/16 school year.

13. Work with the Minister of State for Small Business and Tourism to review and make
options to Cabinet on ways to expand the LNG-Buy BC online tool to other sectors of the
provincial economy.

14. Implement the Medal of Good Citizenship and ensure potential nominees are aware of
the program in advance of its first investiture ceremony in 2016.

In addition, as discussed and approved by Cabinet, our government is committed to ensuring
British Columbia government services are easily accessed by our citizens and businesses.
Minister Coralee Oakes will be leading this initiative on my behalf and over the following 12
months she will be reaching out to all ministries to assist in reducing unnecessary red tape and

regulation.
It is hard to believe but it has been two years since the people of British Columbia put their faith
in us to lead their province. We have accomplished much in those two years, but much work

remains to deliver the promise of a strong economy and secure tomorrow for our citizens. I look
forward to working with you over the coming year.

Y )

- ﬁ,/
Christy Clark

Premier of British’Columbia
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Ministry of International Trade

Mandate Accountabilities

Mandate Letter Commitments 2015 Status Staff Lead
1. Balance your ministerial budget in COMPLETE — MIT balanced its ministerial budget in 2015/16. MIT met
order to control spending and ensure an | expenditure targets.
overall balanced budget for the province
of British Columbia.
2. Coordinate trade missions across all ONGOING - MIT continues to work with all Ministries across Government to
ministries to ensure maximum coverage ensure approved Trade Missions align with the BC Jobs Plan priorities. MIT is
and minimal duplication as ministries coordinating all international travel to ensure there is no duplication in
execute BC Jobs Plan strategies. market.
6 Month Focus:
2016-17 Annual Mission Plan:
The 2016-17 Mission Plan was submitted to the PO on May 11, 2016.
Mandate commitment is complete for 2016-17.
The 2016-17 mission planning cycle will end as scheduled on March 31
2017. No further out-bound travel is forecast for Ministers and/or the
Premier.
2017-18 Annual Mission Plan
The 2017-18 annual plan will be tabled with Cabinet Operations March 2017
but reviewed post election against the new government mandate.
Last update: June 1, 2017 Page 1 of 15
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Ministry of International Trade

Mandate Accountabilities

2. (continued) - Coordinate trade
missions across all ministries to ensure
maximum coverage and minimal
duplication as ministries execute BC Jobs
Plan strategies.

Completed:

= Minister Steve Thomson Mision to China and Japan (Nov 2016)

=  Premier’s T&I Trip to London, UK

= Minister Michael de Jong Mission to Israel and UK (Nov 2016)

= Minister de Jong’s Mission to India and Malaysia(October 2016)

= Minister of Advanced Education Trip to USA for Bio2016 (June 2016).

= Premier’s Mission to Korea, Philippines and Japan. (May 23-30, 2016).

= 16-17 Annual Mission Plan submitted for Premier’s Office endorsement
(May 11 2016) NB: This meets mandate letter commitment

= Minister of Technology Mission to USA (May 2016)

= Minister of Finance Investor trip to USA (April 13 - 19)

=  Minister of Finance Investor trip on mission (March 15-31).

= Minister of Natural Gas Development trip to Malaysia and Japan
(March 28-April 7)

= 2016/17 Annual Mission Plan Submission and final MIT Led Mission
QOutcomes Final Report Back to CCSE (April 11, 2016)

Cancelled:
g S.13

Last update: June 1, 2017
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Ministry of International Trade

Mandate Accountabilities

3. Work with the BC chapter of the
Canadian Manufacturers and Exporters
Association to further export
opportunities for BC business that were
identified by your ministry last year.

COMPLETE - The Province worked closely with CME BC through ongoing
dialogue from August to December 2015, exploring the export experiences of

| businesses and ways to encourage more businesses to export. On December

8, 2015 CME BC and the Province hosted a roundtable with CME members on
furthering export opportunities for B.C. businesses. Feedback and resulting
recommendations were shared with CME members in April, along with the
province’s export report, which used CME input to develop recommendations
for how to further export opportunities for B.C. businesses. ‘Insights Into
Exporting’ Report shared with stakeholders, including the Small Business
Roundtable.

6 Month Focus:
= Summary of broader export engagement Report shared with key
stakeholders.

4. Continue to work with Canada and the
BC Business Council and HQ Vancouver to
attract major Asian firms to invest in BC
and locate their North American presence
in our province as committed in Strong
Economy, Secure Tomorrow.

ONGOING ~- The project was announced by Minister Wat and Federal Minister
Moore in early February 2015. The first Head Office announcement was made
on May 1, 2015. A number of subsequent announcements and commitments

have been made under the HQ Vancouver logo, including Poly Culture, Aikang

and Zhiye.

6 Month Focus:

= Quarterly meetings scheduled for Minister Wat and HQV to discuss
accounts, communications and operational alignment.

= Operational alignment meetings scheduled between ADMs and HQV.

5. Work with the federal government to
ensure British Columbia’s interests are
protected in the Trans-Pacific Partnership
trade negotiations.

COMPLETE — TPP countries reached final agreement;s-13

s.13 The US has subsequently announced it will not be part of the TPP.
The remaining 11 countries are now considering whther to make any
adjustments to the agreement, and bring it into force without the US.

6 Month Focus:

= Expected economic benefits/impact assessment and analysis of necessary
legislative amendments is done.

= Staff continue to engage with the federal government and stakeholders.

Last update: June 1, 2017
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Ministry of International Trade

Mandate Accountabilities

6. Work with the BC construction industry
to fight the federal tariffs imposed on
imported rebar and ensure construction
costs remain as low as possible in BC.

Completed — Rebar I: The CITT issued its opinion and supporting reasons
report on Dec 22, 2015. The Tribunal found that the public interest does not
warrant a reduction or elimination of the duties.S- 14

s.14

Update: In May 2017, the CBSA launched a re-investigation of Rebar | after
determining that Chinese producers were state owned enterprises and the
prices used to calculate dumping may not be competitive market prices. As
part of this re-investigation, the CBSA will also be conducting an inquiry
respecting the steel industry in China as the domestic prices are substantially
determined by the Government of China (GOC) and there is sufficient reason
to believe that they are not substantially the same as they would be if they
were determined in a competitive market. The re-investigation is expected to
conclude September 1, 2017.

ONGOING - Rebar II: CBSA launched an anti-dumping investigation into
international imports of concrete reinforcing bar (rebar) originating in or
exported from Belarus, Chinese Taipei, Hong Kong, Japan, Portugal and

Spain. The CBSA completed a preliminary determination and assessed duties
between 0% and 109.2%. The CITT completed its injury inquiry on May 3,
2017 and confirmed the findings of dumping and injury. CBSA will continue to
assess the duties until a 5 year review. This is separate from Rebar 1.

6 Month Focus:
s 513s8.17

Last update: June 1, 2017

Page 4 of 15

-

page 11 of 295 MIT-2017-72289



Ministry of International Trade

Mandate Accountabilities

7. Work with the Ministries of Advanced
Education and Technology, Innovation
and Citizens’ Services to develop and
present options to Cabinet on ways to
improve the availability of venture capital
funding in British Columbia.

COMPLETE — MIT staff completed the Province’s Venture Capital Policy
Review, to address the shortage of BC-based, early-stage venture capital to
support growing technology businesses in BC, and to align with the Province’s
Technology Strategy. Cabinet direction received in summer 2015 and TB
reviewed in October 2015. BC Tech Fund was announced in December 2015,
and the Fund was launched on Oct 21, 2016.

6 Month Focus:
s.12,8.17

8. Develop and present options to
Cabinet on a trade strategy for China
focussing on mid-sized Chinese cities.

COMPLETE — MIT East Asia Branch is working with ISC Division to develop a
strategy for mid-sized Chinese cities, seeking to identify new trade and
investment opportunities that align with BC sector priorities and building
upon current engagement with key coastal cities in China over the past
several Premier and Ministers missions to China.

Achievements:

= |SC Division and East Asia Branch have undertaken research on key
Chinese mid-sized cities and opportunities for alignment with BC exports
and investment needs, including cities where BC has existing economic
partnership agreements and ties, including Qingdao in Shandong
Province, Nanjing in Jiangsu Province and Hangzhou in Zhejiang Province.
The Ministry has also undertaken consultations with key stakeholder
groups to confirm selection of priority mid-sized cities on shortlist and
share their perspectives on trade and investment opportunities in China
or BC. The mid-sized Chinese cities Strategy was presented to DMSCE
and CCSE in early April.

9. Work with the Premier’s Office to
recognize the 20" anniversary of the
sister province relationship between
British Columbia and Guangdong, China.

COMPLETE — The Premier’s mission to Guangdong Province in November
2015 marked the culmination of a year-long celebration of the 20"
anniversary of sister province relations. Over 200 B.C. participants from a
diversity of sectors and community members the Premier’s mission to
Guangdong to celebrate the occasion.

Last update: June 1, 2017
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Ministry of International Trade

Mandate Accountabilities

10. Develop options and present to
Cabinet a strategy for increasing our
trade with India and presence in the
ASEAN nations.

COMPLETE: Both ASEAN and India strategies were presented and approved
by cabinet. The subsequent request to Treasury Board was also approved and
funding was allocated for implementation of a TIR presence in ASEAN. FlI
received a budget increase for India in February 2016 budget.

ASEAN presence implementation is on schedule with the RFP process
completed and TIR offices in Manila and Jakarta operational.

India strategy cabinet submission was presented and approved by cabinet. Fil
incremental funding for strengthening ties with India approved. New TIR
started in August 2016. Office is fully operational with four staff. Year1
strategy implementation is underway. Year 2 planning in progress.

11. Continue to implement the
recommendations of the Chinese
Historical Wrongs Consultation Report
and provide an update to Cabinet on
their status by December 31, 2015.

COMPLETE: Of the 13 recommendations committed to by the Premier, the
Ministry has implemented 8 and continues to make progress in implementing
the remaining 5. A progress report to the Cabinet Committee on a Secure
Tomorrow was tabled on December 14, 2015 and presented to CCST on
January 26, 2016 fulfilling this mandate letter commitment.

12. Work with the Ministry of Education
to ensure the Historical Wrongs
Educational Curriculum Supplement is
available to BC schools in the 2015/16
school year.

COMPLETE —MIT worked with the Ministry of Education to develop learning
objectives related to Asian and South Asian discrimination in the updated
education curriculum. The updated education curriculum was announced in
August 2015. The education curriculum supplement for Chinese Historical
Wrongs developed by MIT and the Ministry of Education was announced and
made available to BC schools in September 2015.

13. Work with the Minister of State for
Small Business and Tourism* to review
and make options to Cabinet on ways to
expand the LNG — Buy BC online tool to
other sectors of the provincial economy.

*now Minister of Small Business, Red-Tape Reduction and
Minister Responsible for the Liquor Distribution Branch

COMPLETE — MIT is continuing to increase the number of suppliers in the tool
and to provide these suppliers with information that helps them prepare for
LNG opportunities.

The review has been completed and a submission and recommended path
forward was presented to the Chair of CCSE. Submission to the full
committee is not required.

6 Month Focus:
= Continue outreach to LNG proponents, major contractors and suppliers to
increase engagement with online tool (ongoing)

Last update: June 1, 2017
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Ministry of International Trade

Mandate Accountabilities

14. Implement the Medal of Good
Citizenship and ensure provincial
nominees are aware of the program in
advance of its first investiture ceremony
in 2016.

COMPLETE - GCPE worked with IGRS to announce the award. The nomination
period has closed and the selection committee recommendations have gone
forward to the LG in Council. Regional presentations will take place
throughout the year. (IGRS lead)

1 -Staff/Contractors in overseas Offices

Deliverables: :
A target of 70 overseas office staff/ contractors was set in FY 12/13 for
2014/15 prior to contingency funding being reduced.

2-Leads Generated

Deliverables:
MIT’s target was to generate 1,000 leads in 2014/15.

3-FDI Influenced by MIT Deliverables:
MIT had a target to facilitate $1.6 billion in foreign direct investment (FDI) in
2014/15

4-Operation & Construction jobs Created

5-New Foreign offices Attracted to BC Deliverables:

MIT’s target in 2014/15 was to attract 20 international offices to BC

6-New BC Business Network Clients

Deliberables:
MIT's target in 2014/15 was to attract 400 new clients to the BC Business

Network

7-International Business Agreements - Deliverables:

Trade, Education, and Innovation MIT’s target for 2014/15 was to generate 120 international business
agreements

Last update: June 1, 2017
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Ministry of International Trade Mandate Accountabilities

8-Outbound and Inbound Missions Deliverables:
MIT’s target in 2014/15 was to support 50 outbound and inbound trade
missions

9-Participation in Trade Negotiations and | Deliverables:
Disputes launched/Resolved MIT had a target of 6 participation instances

2016/17 outcomes:

Number of trade negotiations: 3

e CFTA
e NWPTA
e WTOTISA

Number of disputes: 6
WTO Wine
Softwood
Mercer
Catalyst
Rebar

Drywall

*list and deliverables as per, 2014-15 Jobs plan report back

Mandate Letter Commitments 2014 Status Staff Lead
1. Balance your ministerial budget in COMPLETE - MIT balanced its ministerial budget in 2014/15. Public Accounts,
order to control spending and ensure an | which will be released in July 2015, will verify that MIT met expenditure

overall balanced budget for the targets.
province of British Columbia.

Last update: June 1, 2017 Page 8 of 15
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Ministry of International Trade

Mandate Accountabilities

2. Develop a government-wide trade
mission plan by August 1, 2014 for the
upcoming fiscal year.

COMPLETE — MIT has submitted the annual trade mission plan for fiscal
2014/15 and 2015/16 to the Premier’s office.

3. Coordinate trade missions across all
ministries to ensure maximum coverage
and minimal duplication as ministries
execute BC Jobs Plan priorities.

COMPLETE — MIT worked with all Ministries across Government to ensure
approved Trade Missions align with the BC Jobs Plan priorities and that
international travel was coordinated to ensure there is no duplication in
market.

4. Undertake a sectorial analysis of
export opportunities for BC
manufacturers and exporters by
December 31, 2014,

COMPLETE - The Ministry completed this analysis in early December and
submitted the findings to PO. The findings of the report were reflected in
JTSTL’s Manufacturing Strategy and informed MIT’s business case for expansion
in the ASEAN region.

5. Continue to work with Canada and BC
Business Council to attract major Asian
firms to invest in BC and locate their
North American presence in our
province as committed in Strong
Economy, Secure Tomorrow. (June
2013/2014)

COMPLETE - The project was announced by Minister Wat and Federal Minister
Moore in early February 2015. The first Head Office announcement was made
on May 1, 2015. The project spans three years and ongoing operational
alignment between MIT and HQ Vancouver is required.

6. Work with the Ministry of Forests,
Lands and Natural Resource Operations
to ensure British Columbia’s interests
are well understood by Canada and
represented in our negotiating position
as we approach the 2016 renewal date
for the Softwood Lumber Agreement.
(June 2013/2014)

ONGOING - Ministry staff continue to provide support to these important
negotiations, representing BC at meetings and bilaterals, and in completing
economic analysis and support.

6 Month Focus:
s 5.13,5.16,58.17

=  Assist FLNRO with the completion of the US Department of Commerce’s
supplemental questionnaires.
=  Support the Deputy Ministers strategy sessions with industry.

Last update: June 1, 2017
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Ministry of International Trade

Mandate Ai:countabilities

=  Support for BC Trade Envoy to the United States, David Emerson, to work
with Canada and the new US administration on securing a new Softwood
Lumber Agreement.

7. Work with provincial multicultural
organizations to ensure they are
connected to and are participating in
the activities of the provincial
government. (June 2013/2014)

COMPLETE — MIT staff continue to implement province-wide multicultural
programming and leverage BC’'s multicultural advantage.

8. Work with the Ministry of Education
as they develop the new Asian and
South Asian curriculum.

COMPLETE - As an initiative related to the Apology to the Chinese Community
for Historical Wrongs, MIT worked with the Ministry of Education to develop
the Asian and South Asian curriculum.

1 -Staff/Contractors in overseas Offices

Deliverables:
The Ministry of International Trade (MIT) had a target of having 70 overseas
staff or contractors

2-Leads Generated

Deliverables:

MIT had a target of generating 900 leads, potential opportunities that MIT and
TIRs have identified which are expected to generate potential current or future
benefits for BC and in some cases associated employment opportunities.

3-FDI Influenced by MIT

Deliverables:
MIT had a target to generate $1.4 billion in FDI influenced

4-Operation & Construction jobs
Created

Last update: June 1, 2017
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Ministry of International Trade

Mandate Accountabilities

5-New Foreign offices Attracted to BC

Deliverables:
MIT had a target to attract 15 new international offices to BC

6-New BC Business Network Clients

Deliverables:
MIT had a target to add 400 new clients to the BC Business Network

7-International Business Agreements -
Trade, Education, and Innovation

Deliverables:

MIT had a target to generate 110 international agreements. Agreements
include international purchases of BC goods and services as well as partnerships
and agreements that improve and support the development of new
relationships that yield future benefits and results.

8-Outbound and Inbound Missions

Deliverables:
MIT had a target to support 50 inbound and outbound missions.

9-Participation in Trade Negotiations
and Disputes launched/Resolved

Deliverables:
MIT had a target of 7 participation instances

10-Business & Inidivudals Encountered
Trade Barriers Assisted

Deliverables:
MIT had a target of 100 participation instances

Mandate Letter Commitments 2013
1. Balance your ministerial budget in
order to control spending and ensure
an overall balanced budget for the
province of British Columbia.

Status
COMPLETE - The Ministry balanced its ministerial budget in 2013/14.

Staff Lead

Last update: June 1, 2017
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Ministry of International Trade Mandate Accountabilities

2. Develop our Asian trade export. | COMPLETE — MIT has developed a trade and investment strategy that supports
E-strategy as. outlmed |n Strong Economy, | the BC Johs Plan and accelerates export opportunities (Mandate Commitment 4,
| 2013). The strategy also incorporates best practices from Australia. The Strategy

.| was endorsed by CCSE on March 16, 2015 and approved for public release by
CCSE on May 27™, 2015.

53:;.3 “Work. W|th Canada and the BC lﬁ.;: COMPLETE — HQ Vancouver was established in February 2015. First Head Office

f"B_Us 5 Councn to attract major 2 sian | relocation decision announcement was made on May 1, 2015. See 2014 table for
firms to invest in BC and locate thelr : more info.

North. Amerlcan presence in our.-
: provmce (June 2013/2014) '

*4 Work wrch the Mmlstry of Jobs | COMPLETE — The work completed supports the Ministry’s Trade and Investment
;Tourlsm and’ Sk||ls Tramlng to re\new 21 Strategy and will be incorporated in to the final strategy.

:-'the status’ aof current BC Jobs. Pion
-_-targets ‘for exports and make
-'.recommendatlons to’ Cablnet on. how to
":accelerate export opportumtles s

5. Work’ wuth the: Mlnlstry of Forests - | COMPLETE — Ministry staff provided support to these important negotiations,

_:Lands and Natural Resource. Operations representing BC at heads of Delegations meetings and bilaterals, and in
as-we approach theend of the = . | completing economic analysis and support.

-_'softwood lumber agreement in 2016 to -
:ensure British Columbia’s position is
understood and well represented by
Canada inany. upcomlng negotlatlons

{June.2013/2014)
6. Work withr provmclal muilticultural . | COMPLETE — Ministry staff held community engagement fofums to connect with
organlzatlons to ensure they are multicultural organizations to inform of multicultural programs and services.

'connected to and.are partrupatmg m
the act|wt|es of the provincial =
government (June 2013/2014)

Last update: June 1, 2017 Page 12 of 15

page 19 of 205 MIT-2017-72289




Ministry of International Trade

Mandate Accountabilities

7. Represent British Columbia’s
interests with the federal government
in current and future international
trade agreement discussions.

ONGOING — Ministry staff continue to participate and represent BC in Canada’s
ongoing international negotiations and market access issues.

BC’s input has been requested on WTO agreements (Environmental Goods
Agreement, Trade in Services Agreement) and on the exploratory discussions
towards a potential free trade agreement with China.

Completed:

e  Work with federal partners to pursue negotiations on product specific
agreements: securing fresh cherries access into China (completed
November 2014) and fresh blueberries into China (completed June 2015)
and Korea (completed 2015).

6 Month Focus:

e Actively engage with Global Affairs Canada (GAC) in international trade
negotiations to ensure key goods and services of interest to the province
are being well represented.

e Coordinate with Global Affairs Canada (GAC) on its outreach on the
Canada-Korea Free Trade Agreement (CKFTA) and the Canada-EU
Comprehensive Economic and Trade Agreement (CETA).

e Work with federal partners to improve market access and pursue
negotiations on product specific agreements.

e 5.13,5.16,8.17

e Manage provincial response to trade disputes (SC paper, Mercer, wine
drywall, and Rebar ).

8. Examine the strategy executed by
Australia to aggressively pursue Asian
trade and economic development and
report back to Cabinet on what B.C. can
learn and implement from their
successful strategy.

COMPLETE - Best practices have been incorporated in to the Ministry’s trade and
investment strategy, and further includes a diversified trade and investment
portfolio, a strategic investment attraction approach and building an Asian
Business literacy program that can be used to support BC businesses and
government.

Last update: June 1, 2017

Page 13 of 15

page 20 of 295 MIT-2017-72289



Ministry of International Trade

Mandate Accountabilities

9. Ensure that our multicultural
programming is relevant and useful to
our ethnic communities and that they
are able to participate fully in the
programs of our government.

COMPLETE - Ministry staff organised events to discuss community best practices
in multicultural planning and barriers in accessing provincial programs. This
continues to be an ongoing priority for government.

1 -Staff/Contractors in overseas
Offices

AALLLLLY

T T -

Dlierabies:
The Ministry of International Trade (MIT) had a target of having 70 overseas staff
or contractors

2-Leads Generated

Deliverables:

MIT had a target of generating 800 leads, potential opportunities that MIT and
TIRs have identified which are expected to generate potential current or future
benefits for BC and in some cases associated employment opportunities.

3-FDI Influenced by MIT

Deliverables:
MIT had a target to generate $1.025 billion in FDI influenced

4-Operation & Construction jobs
Created

5-New Foreign offices Attracted to BC

Deliverables:
MIT had a target to attract 10 new international offices to BC

6-New BC Business Network Clients

Deliverables:
MIT had a target to add 400 new clients to the BC Business Network

7-International Business Agreements -
Trade, Education, and Innovation

Deliverables:

MIT had a target to generate 100 international agreements. Agreements include
international purchases of BC goods and services as well as partnerships and
agreements that improve and support the development of new relationships that
yield future benefits and results.

Last update: June 1, 2017
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Ministry of International Trade

Mandate Accountabilities

8-Outbound and Inbound Missions

Deliverables:
MIT had a target to support 50 inbound and outbound missions.

9-Participation in Trade Negotiations
and Disputes launched/Resclved

Deliverables:
MIT had a target of b participation instances

10-Business & Inidivudals Encountered
Trade Barriers Assisted

Deliverables:
MIT had a target of 60 participaticn instances

L ast update: June 1, 2017

Page 15 of 15

page 22 of 205 MIT-2017-72289



MINISTRY PROFILE

Ministry:
International Trade and Minister Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism

Ministry Mandate:

The Ministry pursues strategic opportunities to promote British Cojumbia internationally as a
preferred place to invest and do business. This is done by delivering services that accelerate
B.C.'s exports, aftraciing strategic investments—including international offices, developing
international partnerships, increasing awareness of B.C.'s competitive advantages, and by
negotiating and managing trade agreements and delivering venture capital programs.

Specifically, the Ministry works to:

e Open and expand priority markets for B.C. goods and services, particularly in Asia,
Europe and the United States, and engage B.C. exporters in new opportunities.

s Attract strategic investments to B.C.’s priority sectors that create jobs and grow
competitiveness,

» Leverage invesiment capital programs (venture capital and infrastruciure) to support a
compefitive busingss environment.

s Leverage B.C.'s cultural diversity to connect the province with giobal markets and
promote the value of diversity and inclusiveness in B.C. communities.

These efforts promote economic prosperity in communities across B.C. while simuitaneously
positioning the province for long-term growth and job creation.

The Minisiry also promotes the benefits of B.C.'s diverse cultures within the province and
connects communities with services to eliminate racism and foster the full and free participation
of all British Columbians in the economic, social, cultural and palitical life of the province.

The Ministry has an oversight role for the following Crown corporations: the BC Immigrant
investment Fund, Forestry Innovation Investment and B.C. Trade and Invest Ltd.

Last update: July 11, 2017 Page 1 of 3
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2017/18 Budget (in $000’s):

International Business Development
International Strategy and Competitiveness

Coarporate Initiatives and Multicuituralism

Executive and Suppert Services (Management Services)
Transfers to Crown Corporations and Agencies

Total

Full Time Equivalents {(FTEs):" _
Representative of average FTE burn for 2016/17

International Business Development
Internationat Strategy and Competitiveness
Corporate [nitiatives and Multiculturalism

Executive and Support Services

Total
Notes:

'Includes tribunal and boards.
?International Business Development includes 4 FTEs that provide
management services functions for the Ministry.

Executive Organizational Chart:

Deputy Minister
Clark M. Roberts

$22,216
$8,991
$1,631
$1,712
$19,050
$53,600

865
41
11

126

oy

A_{ADM . . ADM Executl\ff..'nl.e'ad ADM & EFO
international Business international Strategy & Corporate Inittatives & S
. . . Management Services Division
Development: Competitiveness Multiculturalism Tracy Camphell
Brian Krieger lamie Hammond Dean Sekyer Y P
Last update: July 11, 2017 Page 2 of 3
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Key Contacts List:

Deputy Minister

Clark M. Roberts

Victoria:
250-952-0242

Vancouver:
804-775-2251

Director, Executive Operations

Pam Shatzko

250-952-0710

A/Assistant Deputy Minister

Brian Krieger

604-660-0220

A/Executive Admin. Assistant

Joyce Yap

604-660-5913

Assistant Deputy Minister

Jamie Hammond

250-952-0367

Executive Admin. Assistant

Sarah Wempe

250-952-0517

Executive Lead

Dean Sekyer

250-852-0408

Assistant Deputy Minister and EFO

Tracy Campbell

250-387-8705

A/Executive Coordinator

Lorna Hay

778-608-3485

Last update; July 11, 2017

s.17
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MINISTRY OF INTERNATIONAL TRADE

The mission of the Ministry of International Trade is to provide integrated trade and investment
programs and services to help British Columbia increase its exports, develop international
partnerships, increase awareness, negotiate irade deals, and atiract investment and company head
offices. The ministry alsc promotes multicutturalism and engages in initiatives 10 éliminate racism.

MINISTRY SUMMARY

(3000)
Estimates Estimates
20161171 204748
VOTED APPROPRIATION
Vote 30 — Ministry Operations....... oot ceiceecmsme e csreeseniecnins T o BN e HoR 50,291 53,600
OPERATING EXPENSES . 50,291 53,600
CAPITAL EXPENDITURES 2 1 1

LOANS, INVESTMENTS AND OTHER REQUIREMENTS 3 = =

REVENUE CCLLECTED FOR, AND TRANSFERRED TQ, OTHER ENTITIES # - —

NOTES

! For comparative purposes, figures shown for the 201617 operating expenses; capilal expenditures; loans, invesiments and other requirements; and
revenue collecled for, and transfatred to, olher entifies are restated ko be consistenl with the presentation of 2017/18 Estimales, A reconciliation of
restated operaling expenses and capital expenditures resuling from transfers between minisiries is presented in Schadule A,

z A fisting of estimated capital expenditures by ministry is presented in Schedule C.

3 A sumeary of loans, investments and cther requirements by ministry is: presented in Schedule D,

+ A summary of revenue collected for, and transferred to, other entities by ministry is. presented in Schedule E.

page 27 of 295 MIT-2017-72289



MINISTRY OF INTERNATIONAL TRADE
SUMMARY BY CORE BUSINESS

(5000}
201617 201718 ESTIMATES
External

OPERATING EXPENSES Net Gross Recoveries Net
Core Business
international Business Development. ... s ieners i 19,678 22,218 (2) 22,218
international Strategy and Compefitiveness.. 8,974 8,993 ) 8,991
Carporale Initiafivas and Multiculturalism 16827 1,632 {1} 1,631
Transfers to Crown Corporations and AGENGIES.... .. cerwrrirur e comsirseererrsianen: 18,300 19,050 —— 19,050
Execulive and Support SErviCes. .........amiu e ronens o v ecsosentenness it e 1,712 1,713 {1} 1,712

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES.....c _ 50,291 53,606 {6} 53,600
CAPITAL EXPENDITURES Met Disbursements Raceipts Net
Core Business
Exeoulive and SUPPOM SEMIGES........ccveserrsrnsrnmssnssime e reses s rasasssssess st s 1 1 — 1

TOTAL CAPITAL EXPENDITURES 1 1 — 9
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123
MINISTRY OF INTERNATIONAL TRADE

VOTE DESCRIPTIONS
(o0t}
Esfimates Estimates
2016147 2H78

VOTE 30 — MINISTRY OPERATIONS

This vote provides for the programs, opérations, and other acfiviies described in the voted appropriaions under he foflowing core businesses:
Intemational Business Development, Internationa! Stralegy and Compefitiveness, Corporats Initiatives and Multiculturalism, Transfers to Crown
Corporations and Agencies, and Executive and Suppart Services.

INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

Voted Appropriation
Interriational Business DEVEIOPMENL.........c..cv..reesreenvcres e sareeinsan e e e e b e bt e - 0,678 22,216

Voted Appropriation Description:  This sub-vole provides for fadilitating Irade and investment-in siratsgic sectors and industries in all regions of
the province; promoling British Columbia intermationally, showeasing British Columbia at national and intemational evenls; the operation of the
provinge's international network of frade and investment representatives; offices, and agencies; development and delivery of outbound trade and
investment missions in conjunction. with public and private seclor pariners; programming !o assist Brifish Columbian companiss o conduct
international business; and paringrships with public and private seclor organizations {o achieve trade and investmanl objectives. Costs may be
recovered from minislries, Crown agencies, other levels of government, arganizations, and individuafs for activities described within this sub-vote.

INTERNATIONAL BTRATEGY AND COMPETITIVENESS

Voted Appropriation

International Sirategy and ComMPEIVENESES.....c.cco.ceivivcssrisees i rststerms et sis traeree e traesias s nrrns 8874 8,991
Voted Appropriation Description;  This sub-vote provides for the delivery of investment capital and venture capital programming by administering
tax credits under the Small Busingss Veniire Capital Act and the Employes fnvestmeni Acl, and by acting as the lead and working with the BC
{mmigrant investment Fund Lid. and the B.C. Renaissance Capital Fund Lid. This sub-vole provides for the dslivery of all inlernational marketing
aciivities; and the development and delivery of gecgraphic market sirategies and sector stralegies, including acling as lead and working with Forestry
Innovation Investment Ltd. This sub-vote also provides for the management of British Columbia's participalion in domestic and internationa! trade
agreements and inifiatives; the facilitation of trade and investment through resolution of trade disputes; the promofion of business development
opparlunifies provided by frade agreements; and the provision of strategic advice with respect to the provinee's trade obligations. Costs may be
recovered from ministries, Crown agencies, other levels of government, crganizations, and individuals for activities described wilhin 1his sub-vote.

CORPORATE INITIAT'VES AND MULTICULTURALISM

Vated Appropriation
Corporate iniliatives and MUICUBUIBISITL ....cc.. e e e eece st st snres 1627 1,831

Voted Appropriation Descriplion:  This sub-vole provides for the pelicy, administration, operalion, delivery, and support of mulliculluralism
programs and services, Programs and services include public education, leveraging British Caolumbia's mullicultural advaniage, community
engagament, and developing netwarks fo fight racism and hate. Costs may be recovared from mmrstnes organizations, and the federal govemment
for activities described within this sub-vota,

TRANSFERS TC CROWN CORPORATIONS AND AGENCIES
Voted Anprapriation
Forastry Innovalion INVESIMENRT LI, ... i s rebcas s ememness et s e p st e 1t st saban e 18,300 19,050

Voted Appropriation Description;  This sub-vote provides for fransfers 1o Crown corporations and agencies including Forest Innovation Invesiment
Ltd.
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124
MINISTRY COF INTERNATIONAL TRADE

VOTE DESCRIPTIONS (’ '
{3000) !

Estimates Estiimates
. 201817 2017M8

EXECUTIVE AND SUPPORT SERVICES

Voted Appropriations

Minister's.Office.. . ... - 596 596

D OPOIALE BEIVICES. 1ot vt toran ees st cer s eeasi s s et b1 e e bR s eS8k e 480 b Rt 1,116 1,116
1,712 1,712

Voted Appropriations Description:  This sub-vate provides for the office of the Minister of International Trade and Minister Responsible for Asia
Pacific Strategy and Muliiculturalism, including salaries, benefits, allowances, and operafing expenses for the minister and the minister's staff. This
sub-vole also provides for execuive direction of the Ministry of International Trade; and administrative services for the opsraling programs of the
Ministry of Intemnational Trade, incliding finansiat adminislration and budget coordination, strategic and husiness planning and reporting, huran
resaurces, office management, and accommodation and information systems, some of which are provided by the Ministry of Community, Sport and
Cullural Development and the Ministry of Jobs, Tourlsm and Skills Training. Costs may be recovered from ministries and Crown corporations and
agencies for activiies described within this sub-vote.

VOTE 30 — MINISTRY OPERATIONS 50,291 53,600

{
MINISTRY GROUP ACCOUNT CLASSIFICATION SUMMARY
GROUP ACCOUNT CLASSIFICATION
Salaries and Benefits ......c........... vt ettt et Seer e £ 08 8888150 et bt s AE RS e 13677 14,198
Operating Costs ..o . 16,902 18,941
GOVErmEnt TTARSIEIS ........vv. v evinseissieossi s mssness tt s ersnessseens 19435 20,185 B
Other Expenses ............ 287 286 {
IEINE] RECOVEIIES ....vvvuicsvossseeesssees oo srs o sas e s sas a1 1o oo Rf LR st s e R e s (4] {4) ’
EXAETNE] REIOVETIES .-\ cvuuee et ieeie s ocinictn o rseessbe s rns st a2 ks b bt {6) {6)
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 50.291 53600

i
1_
j
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Clark M. Roberts, Q.C.

Deputy Minister

Ministry of International Trade and Responsible
for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism

Clark M. Roberts is the Deputy Minister to the Ministry of International Trade and has held the
position since March 2016. Previously, he held the position of Assistant Deputy Minister,
International Business Division, Ministry of International Trade.

Clark oversees trade and investment activities in British Columbia’s priority international
markets; international trade missions; trade strategy and policy, including international and
domestic trade agreements; international marketing; and venture capital programs. As well,
Clark leads the development and implementation of provincial multiculturalism programs and
initiatives.

Prior to joining government, Clark was a partner in an international law firm for twelve years. For
four years, Clark was the law firm’s Chief Representative of their Beijing office, focusing on
energy, mining, financial services and clean technology.

Clark was awarded a Queen’s Counsel by the Province of British Columbia in December of
2013. He is also admitted to the rolls as a solicitor (non-practising) in England and Wales.

5.22

Last update: June 1, 2017 Page 1 of 1
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Brian Krieger

Acting Assistant Deputy Minister
International Business Development Division
Ministry of International Trade

Brian started his career with the Government of British Columbia 24 years ago. Prior to that, he
was involved in a number of entrepreneurial business ventures spanning the food, technology
and automotive sectors. In 1992, Brian joined the Ministry of Economic Development and has
worked on a number of priority projects for the Province of British Columbia over the years
including:

e A public-private partnership that attracted 15 back-office operations to the province,
creating more than 10,000 new jobs.

e The development of the 2010 Commerce Centre, with supported BC companies in
winning more than $800 million in 2010 Olympic Winter Games contracts.

e And, the development of the Ministry’s Technology and Innovation Branch to increase
trade and investment activity in the key sectors of ICT, Wireless, Life Sciences, Digital
Entertainment, Clean Technology, Aerospace, Ocean Technology and International
Education.

Now, as Acting Assistant Deputy Minister, Brian continues to champion the Ministry’'s mandate
to grow the economy by increasing British Columbia’s international trade activity, and attracting
foreign direct investment in all sectors.

Last update: May 9, 2017 Page 1 of 1
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Jamie Hammond, OMM, CD

Assistant Deputy Minister

International Strategy & Competitiveness Division
Ministry of International Trade

Jamie Hammond is the Assistant Deputy Minister, International Strategy & Competitiveness
Division and has held the position since September 2015. As ADM for International
Competitiveness and Strategy, Jamie is responsible for international trade and investment
strategy, and international marketing for BC. He also oversees trade negotiations and the
investment and venture capital strategies for the Province.

Previously, he held the position of Private Secretary to the Lieutenant Governor for four years,
where he supported two Lieutenant Governors, advising on their constitutional, celebratory and
promotional roles across British Columbia, as well as their work with First Nations and the
hosting of Royal and diplomatic guests to the province.

Prior to that, Jamie was a Colonel in the Canadian Forces and served across Canada, in
Germany, England, Brunei, Hong Kong, Bosnia, and Afghanistan in a variety of command and
staff positions in the Infantry and Special Forces. He also worked on policy issues at the
national level, was a member of Canadian delegations to international negotiations and was
seconded to the Privy Council Office.

Jamie has a BA (Hons) in History from the University of Victoria, a Master’s of Arts in
International Affairs from Carleton University, and a Master’s of Strategic Studies from the
US Army War College. He pursued doctoral studies, taught political science at Carleton
University and has published a number of articles.

Last update: May 9, 2017 Page 1 of 1
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Tracy Campbell

Assistant Deputy Minister and EFO
Management Services Division
Ministry of International Trade

Tracy Campbell is the Assistant Deputy Minister, Management Services Division and Executive
Financial Officer, and has held the position since February 2016. In this position, Tracy heads a
leadership team with over 125 years of collective public sector experience. Previously, she held
the position of Chief Financial Officer for the Ministries of Jobs, Tourism and Skills Training;
International Trade; and Small Business and Red Tape Reduction.

Tracy brings extensive financial management experience, a strong client focus and in-depth
understanding of the Economy Sector to her job. With her Management Service Division (MSD)
team, she leads the strategic delivery of a suite of corporate services to support the Ministry,
and the broader Economy Sector, in the areas of: budget and financial management,
information technology, human resources and internal communications, corporate planning and
compliance reporting, and FOIl/records management.

Tracy began her professional career as a management consultant in the IT industry. She joined
the BC Public Service more than a decade ago in the financial services stream, assuming
progressively more senior roles within the Economy Sector.

Tracy also shares her knowledge and expertise as a Board member for the BC Immigrant

Investment Fund, the BC Renaissance Capital Fund Ltd., and British Columbia Trade and
Invest Ltd.

Last update: June 1, 2017 Page 1 of 1
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Deputy Minister: Clark M. Roberts, QC

Description:

The Deputy Minister is accountable for meeting the provincial government’s objectives
related to international trade and multiculturalism. The position is accountable for
developing a professional, motivated, highly engaged team, and building collaborative
working relationships with governments, ministries, and stakeholders.

The Deputy Minister’s Office (DMO) is responsible for all aspects of information that
flows from Elected Officials and the Executive Council (Cabinet) to the ministry by
acting as the touchpoint between the elected arm of government and the public service.
The office provides strategic advice on issues management, oversees the development
of Cabinet material, and provides strategic direction to staff. The DMO also ensures the
ministry is in compliance with Cabinet approved mandates, Treasury Board directives
and other specific issues.

The DMO builds strategic alliances across government and works with the Executive
team and ministry staff to ensure efficient collaboration, the flow of information and
increased integration within the Ministry to support the achievement of the Ministry's
strategic direction and government’s overall objectives for international trade.

Contact: Pam Shatzko, Director of Operations, Deputy Minister's Office

Last update: April 5, 2017 Page 1 of 1
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MIT Deputy Minister’s Office

Senior Executive Assistant Issues Manager Doa:irrlents Records Management Analyst
Joyce Yap ({TA) Alyson Tan Coordinatar Vacant
Vacant
Iuly 2017 MINISTRY OF INTERNATIONAL TRADE 1

page 37 of 295 MIT-2017-72289



International Business Development Division has two sector branches, two geographic
branches and a logistics team to support missions and events;

e FEast Asia Markets (EAM)

o International Markets (IM)

s Technology and Innovation (T&l)

e Natural Resaurces, Infrastructure and Professional Services (NRIPs)
« |International Missions and Corporate Events (IMCE)

The division delivers British Columbia's international trade promotion and investment attraction
program, and oversees a network of overseas offices. Activities include promoting B.C.
internationally and faciiitating global business parinerships to grow B.C.'s economy.

The branches work collaboratively to operationalize the province's trade and investment
strategies for key sectors in priority markets. All branches deliver investment attraction and
export promotion programs that contribute to increasing foreign investment in B.C., and growing
B.C. exports abroad.

Geographic branches oversee both domestic and overseas, including the province’s Trade and
Investment Representatives (TIRs) operations. They focus on providing in-market expertise and
support, including servicing outbound activities from B.C.

Sector branches oversee domestic operaticns with a focus on servicing inbound activities inta
the province. Sector teams also work closely to assist B.C. companies in their export efforts to

open up new markets and find customers abroad. Clase collaboration is also undertaken with
local industry / sector assaociations.

Branch | Overview

EAM Overseas offices in China, Japan, and Korea markets.

IM Overseas offices in India, Southeast Asia, Europe, and U.S. markets.

Also responsible for business development engagement with other international
markets {e.g. Australia, Americas, Middie East, etc.)

Tl Covers key sectors of: information and comrnunication technologies; digital
entertainment; wireless; life sciences; clean technology; international education;
aerospace; and ocean and marine technology.

NRIPs | Covers key sectars of: agrifood; oil and gas; forestry; mining; professionat and
financial services; and infrastructure.

IMCE Logistics team responsible for supportting trade missions and event management.

Contact: Brian Krieger, AIADM, International Business Development

{ ast update: April 5, 2017 Page 1 of 1
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MIT International Business Development

. ology Natural . ivisi
. International Techn 08y & International DW'SI.On
East Asia Innovation Resources .. Operations
. Markets . . Missions .
 Executive . Executive Executive . Senior
. Executive . . Senior
Director . Director Director . Manager
T Director . . . Director .
Paul lrwin Henrv Han David Collier Leslie Teramoto Vacant (TA) Gloria Yang-
Y (TA) (TA) Mason
May 2017 MINISTRY OF INTERNATIONAL TRADE 1
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ivision consists of three branches:

'In:té'rhahonall :Slrategg; and ompetltrvenéss

» Strategy, Business Infelligence and |nternational Marketing (SBIIM)
» Trade Policy and Negotiations (TPN)
¢ Investment Capital Branch (ICB)

The primary function of the division is to provide a long-term vision and coherent strategy for the
development of opportunities fo promote British Columbia internationally as a preferred place to
invest and do business. This is done by delivering services that accelerate British Columbia’s
exports; attracting strategic investments, including international offices; and increasing
awareness of B.C.’s competitive advantages, as well as negotiating and managing {rade
agreements and delivering venture capital programs that support innovation and job retention.

The three branches work closely with the International Business Development Division, other
ministries, stakeholders and all levels of government to ensure that British Columbia’s economy
is best positioned to grow and prosper in the competitive global environment.

Branch Overview

SBIIM The Strategy, Business Intelligence and Internationai Marketing Branch
contributes to the cutcomes of the ministry's strategic goals by developing
strategic and policy abjectives; tracking and reporting on performance
measures; developing action plans; and providing strategy implementation
support. The branch also develops international marketing material,
strategies and meassaging to support the Ministry's investment attraction
and export develepment efforts.,

TPN The Trade Policy and Negotiations Branch works to gain international and
interprovincial market access, develop policy options, and lead negctiations
and disputes to remove restrictive and unnecessary barriers to trade,
investment and [abour maobility.

IcB The Investment Capital Branch provides strategic delivery of investment
capital programs to stimutate economic growth, targeting B.C.'s venture
capital and technology sectors by actively coordinating venture capital
investment aftraction, administering the province's Venture Capital Tax
Credit Programs, and by managing government’s venture capital fund
initiatives, including the BC Tech Fund.

Provincial Crown Agency Responsibilities: Forestry Investment Innovation
(FIl}, BC Immigrant Investment Fund (BCIIF) and its subsidiary, the BC
Renaissance Capital Fund (BCRCF).

Contact: Jamie Hammond, ADM, International Strategy and Competitiveness
Last update: April 5, 2017 Page 1 of 1

page 40 of 205 MIT-2017-72289



MIT International Strategy and Competitiveness

Trade Policy and
Negotiations
Executive Director
Steve Anderson

Investment Capital
Executive Director
Bindi Sawchuk

May 2017

MINISTRY OF INTERNATIONAL TRADE

Strategy, Business Intelligence &
International Marketing
Executive Director
Nichola Wade
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Corporate Initiatives and Mulficulturaiism Division consists of three branches: Corporate
Initiatives, Multiculturalism, and Corparate Planning and Strategic Initiatives.

The primary function of the division is to provide project management expertise on unique
projects of strategic importance {o the Deputy Minister's Office, lead corporate planning and

strategic initiatives for the Ministry and actively engage with B.C.'s multicultural communities to
ensure they are participating in provincial government programs.

Branch QOverview
Corporate Assigned corporate projects with unique challenges which are consistent
Initiatives with the Ministry’s mandate, but not part of existing programs or ministry

capacities. The Apology for Historical Wrongs is a current example. Projects
reflect the Ministry mandate but are maore likely to include economic
development related projects with a focus on trade and investment.

Multiculturalism The branch is responsible for the delivery and administration of multicuitural
programs in adherence to the B.C. Multicufturalism Act. Current programs
include Organizing Against Racism and Hate Network, the Report on
Multiculturalism, the BC Multiculturalism Awards and a variety of
multicultural community engagemeni initiatives.

Corporate The branch has oversight for corporate priority and planning functions for
Pianning and MIT. The branch determines the goals and objectives required to achieve
Sirategic the strategic vision for planning within the ministry and reporting

Initiatives requiremenis. Key accountabilities include leading key corporate internal

communications initiatives required by the Deputy Minister's office; and the
internal ministry coardination of service planning, estimates preparation,
and ministry business. planning.

Provincial Agency Responsibilities: Multicultural Advisory Council, Legacy
Initiatives Advisory Council

Contact: Dean Sekyer, Executive Lead, Corporate Initiatives and Multiculturalism

Last update: May 9, 2017 Page 1 of 1
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Corporate Initiatives and Multiculturalism

Multiculturalism

Corporate Initiatives

Community
Engagement
Director
Philip Yung

Corporate Planning and
Strategic Initiatives
Senior Director
Gail Greenwood

Director Director
Mark Seeley Tom Graham
May 2017

MINISTRY OF INTERNATIONAL TRADE
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Tiﬁe Management Services D|V|5|or| (MSD) d.é.\}elnops the internal infrastructure and systems thaf
support ministry programs and contribute to improved service delivery. This includes supports in

the areas of;

« Budget and financial management

¢ Information technology

e Human resources & internal communications

+ Corporate planning, legislation & compliance reporting
« FOI & records management

MSD provides services to the Economy Sector, including: the Ministry of Community, Sport and
Cultural Development; the Ministry of Jobs, Tourism and Skills Training and Responsible for
Labour; the Ministry of International Trade and Respensible for Asia Pacific Strategy and
Muiticukturalism; and the Ministry of Small Business and Red Tape Reduction.

Branch Overview

ADM'’s Office QOversees a range of corporate management services provided to Ministry
pragrams.

Financial Provides financial management and oversight of ministry budgets. Includes

Services financial planning and reporting (budgets); financial operations (accounts);
and contracts pelicy and review.

Information Provides information technology services including business needs

Systems anaiysis,; technology acquisition and support (help desk}; training; and

standards compliance. This branch is also responsibie for facilities and
administration services.

Strategic Human

Provides professicnal strategic HR services including workforce planning;

Resources organizational design assistance; engagement, recognition and weliness
programs; learning and development programs; and diversity st_rategy.

Corporate Provides key corporate supports, including: Executive suppert for

Planning and Estimates, UBCM and transitions; corporate and compliance reporting (e.g.

Priorities service plans and reports); legislative portfolia management; Crown
portfolio management; risk management, business continuity planning and
FOI and records management.

Contact: Tracy Campbell, ADM & EFO, Management Services

250-387-8705 (office)

s.17

Last update: June 1, 2017
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Management Services

Strategic Human Resources
A/Executive Director
Roberta Turton

Corporate Planning & Priorities
Executive Director
Danine Leduc

CFO & Executive Director
David Mortimer

CFO & Executive Director
lim MacAulay

Corporate Priorities
Executive Director
Vacant

Strategic Initiatives
Executive Director
Karyn Scott

Executive Director
Christine Johnson

Strategic Initiatives
A/Executive Director
Shannon Baillie

Information Systems
CiO & Executive Director
Bruce Klette

Information Systems
A/Executive Director
Nathan Nankivell

June 2017 Ministry of International Trade 1
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Statutory authority: Business Corporations Act

Type of organization: Crown Corpaoration

Appointment Process: Shareholder Consent Resolution

Mandate:

The Ministry of International Trade is expanding its Trade and Investment Representative (TIR)
network into Malaysia. The opening of a BC Trade and Investment Office in Johor Bahru,
Malaysia was publically announced on November 2, 2016. The Minister of Financa has
commitied to establishing an office in Malaysia in early 2017.

The Malaysian Investment Development Authority (MIDA), an agency of the Malaysian
Government, authorizes offices (known as Representative Offices) to carry out trade and
investment activities in Malaysia.

s.13,5.16,5.17

British Columbia Trade and Invest Ltd. was incorporated on April 4, 2017 to conduct Trade and
Investment activities as a Representative Office in Malaysia.

Financial Information {high level):

Summary Financial Outlook
{$000’s) [ 2017/18 Budget
Total Revenue
Contribution from the Province of B.C. 325
Other Revenue 0
Total Revenue 325
Total Expenses 325
Excess of Reventue over Expenses 0
Issue(s):
o N/A

Organizational Chart:

Board of Directors
Tracy Campbell, Member
Brian Krieger, Member
Clark Roberts, Member

]
Clark Roberts
President
Brian Krieger
Secretary
Last update: May 9, 2017 Page 1 of 2
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Appointment Status:
« No board appointments are expiring within the next 80 days.

{.ast update: May 9, 2017 Page 2 of 2
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EXECUTIVE MEMBER BIOGRAPHIES

Clark Murray Roberts, Q.C.

President

Clark M. Roberts is the Deputy Minister to the Ministry of International Trade and has held the
position since March 2016. Previously, he held the position of Assistant Deputy Minister,
International Business Division, Ministry of International Trade.

Clark oversees trade and investment activities in British Columbia’s priority international markets;
international trade missions; trade strategy and policy, including international and domestic trade
agreements; international marketing; and venture capital programs. As well, Clark leads the
development and implementation of provincial multiculturalism programs and initiatives.

Prior to joining government, Clark was a partner in an international law firm for twelve years. For
four years, Clark was the law firm’s Chief Representative of their Beijing office, focusing on energy,
mining, financial services and clean technology.

Clark was awarded a Queen’s Counsel by the Province of British Columbia in December of 2013. He
is also admitted to the rolls as a solicitor (non-practising) in England and Wales.
s.22
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Brian T. Krieger
Secretary

“ 1d

Brian Krieger is the Acting Assistant Deputy Minister for the Ministry of International Trade.
Previously, he was an Executive Director for the Ministry of International Trade and the Director for
the BC Olympic Games Secretariat. During his career, he developed the 2010 Commerce Centre
which supported B.C. companies to win more than $800 million in 2010 Olympic Winter Games
contracts. Prior to joining the BC Public Service, Mr. Krieger was involved in a number of
entrepreneurial business ventures spanning the food, technology and automotive sectors. Mr.
Krieger completed his Bachelor of Business Administration from Simon Fraser University.

Last update: June 14, 2017 Page 2 of 2
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Tracy Ann Campbell
Assistant Deputy Minister and EFO

Tracy began her professional career as a management consultant in the IT industry. She joined the
BC Public Service over nine years ago as a Senior Financial Analyst, taking on progressively more
senior roles within the Economy Sector including the Director of Financial Planning and Reporting
and the Chief Financial Officer. Currently, Ms. Campbell is the Assistant Deputy Minister and
Executive Financial Officer for the Ministries of Jobs, Tourism and Skills Training; International Trade;
Community Sport and Cultural Development; and Small Business and Red Tape Reduction.

Brian T. Krieger : J
Acting Assistant Deputy Minister N " b

Brian Krieger is the Acting Assistant Deputy Minister for the Ministry of International Trade.
Previously, he was an Executive Director for the Ministry of International Trade and the Director for
the BC Olympic Games Secretariat. During his career, he developed the 2010 Commerce Centre
which supported B.C. companies to win more than $800 million in 2010 Olympic Winter Games
contracts. Prior to joining the BC Public Service, Mr. Krieger was involved in a number of
entrepreneurial business ventures spanning the food, technology and automotive sectors. Mr.
Krieger completed his Bachelor of Business Administration from Simon Fraser University.
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* BC Immigrant Investment Fund Ltd

Profil

Statutory Authority: Company Act
Type of Organization: Crown Corporation
Appointment Process: Shareholder Consent Resolution.

Background:

+ The BC Immigrant Invesiment Fund Ltd. (BCIIF} was incorporated in 2000 under the
Company Act of British Columbia. 1t is a Crown Corporation wholly-owned by the
Province of British Columbia.

» The BCIIF participates as an “approved fund” in the federal Immigrant Investor Program
{IIP), which provides an opportunity for experienced business persons to immigrate to
Canada after depositing a prescribed sum of money ($800,000) with the federal Minister
of Citizenship and Immigration. The federai minister then disburses these monies to
approved funds according to an allocation formula set out in the Itmmigration and
Refugee Protection Regulations.

s In February 2014, the federal government announced that it was terminating the 1IP and
in response the B.C. government conducted a mandate review of the BCIF in 2015. As
an outcome of the review, the governance and operations of the BCIIF were moved into
the Ministry of International Trade an April 1, 2016.

o The BCIIF receives and manages the provincial allocation of funds under the 1IP. The 1P
confers discretion on the provinces to manage their allocation of the tP's immigrant
investor funds ("Funds”) for investment in economic devetopment and job creation.
Provincial allocations are repayable to immigrant investors without interest on the fifth
anniversary of their receipt. In order to participate in the I[P, the province has provided
the federal government with a repayment guarantee of the Funds.

Program Description:

« Mandate: The BCIF promotes economic development and job creation through its
investments in public infrastructure projects and venture capital funds that are focused
on four key technology sectors: information technology, digital media, clean technology,
and life sciences.

¢ BCIIF manages approximately $285 million in assets, which includes $178 millian in
outstanding infrastructure loans, $66 million in venture capital fund invesiments, and
$41.6 million in cash and short-term investments (figures are as of March 31, 2017).

« The BCHF's infrastructure loans have helped to fund the construction of university
research facilities, schools, and health care facilities. Projects include the BCIT
Aerospace Technology Campus, the University of Victoria Technology Enterprise
Facility, Revelstoke Secondary School, and the Gateway Prince George Heailth Care
Complex.

+ The BCIIF, through its subsidiary, the B.C. Renaissance Capital Fund, invests in venture
capital funds that focus on four key sectors: information technology, digital media, clean
technology and iife sciences.

Last update: July 11, 2017 Page 1 of 3
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B.C. Renaissance Capital Fund {(BCRCF):

» The BCRCF is a wholly owned subsidiary of the BCIIF which complements existing (,
early-stage venture capital tax-credit programs and pre-commercial research funding by
providing venture capital financing that is invested in companies by venture capital fund
managers. These funds help investee companies commercialize innovative products
and services.

s By targeting institutional investors capable of financing the growth of companies, the
BCRCF fills a void and builds on B.C.'s existing success in generating early stage
opportunities.

¢ The BCRCF has committed $9C million to eight fund managers to bring funding inte up-
and-coming B.C. companigs in information technolagy, clean technology, digital media
and life sciences.

= Through its fund managers, the BCRCF expects to leverage more than $360 miltion of
investment to help B.C. technology companies succeed. Together, these fund managers
have access to over $2.5 billion in capital under management for investment.

» The eight fund managers are: ARCH Venture Partners, Azure Capital Partners, iNovia
Capital, Kearny Venture Partners, Tandem Expansion Fund, Vanedge Capital,
VantagePoint Venture Partners, and Yaletown Venture Partners.

BC Tech Fund;

e in October 20186, the $100-million BC Tech Fund was launched as part of the BCRCF
porifolio. The BC Tech Fund is a fund-of-funds that invests in B.C.-based venture capital
funds and makes some co-investmenis into B.C.-based companies.

« The BC Tech Fund.is managed by an expert private sector fund manager who was
selected through a competitive procurement process.

» As of January 24, 2017, the BC Tech Fund made two investments, one into B.C.-based
venture capital fund Vanedge Il {$15 million committed) and the other in B.C -based
company Mojio for $1.5 miliion.

Current Issues:

» Although the federal government announced in its 2014 Budget that it is terminating the
Federal Immigrant Investor Program, the BCIIF has an ongoing mandate to oversee the
BC Tech Fund and current BCRCF porifolie, support development of the venture capital
system in B.C. and to minimize exposure of triggering the provincial [oan guarantee for

~ monies received under the 1IP. To this end the BCIIF received a small amount of funds
from the Immigrant Investor Program in 2016. These funds will need to be repaid to the
federal government in 2021. Other, previous iIP obligations will also be repaid over the
next five years,

s The BCRCF is the signatory on behaif of government to the BC Tech Fund limited
partnership agreement. The BC Tech Fund portfolio of investments is expected to
mature between 13 and 15 years. During this time, the BCRCF will oversee the terms of
the BC Tech Fund parinership agreement. The private sector fund manager will make all
BC Tech Fund investment decisions, as well as manage the existing portfolio of BCRCF
venture capital investments.

Last update: July 11, 2017 Page 2 of 3
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Organizational Chart:

Board of Directors
Shannon L. Baskerville, Chair
Tracy Ann Campbell, Director

Clark Murray Roberts, Director

Bindi Sawchuck

CEO
| ]
Nathan Nankivell Vacant Rachelie Kallechy
Corporate Secretary Co0 CFO

Sean Hosick

Crown Financial Reporting

Current Appointees:

Members of the BCIIF/ BCRCF board of directars are appointed by Shareholder Consent
Resolution:

» Shannon L. Baskerville, Chair, term expires at pleasure.
+ Tracy Ann Campbell, Director, term expires at pleasure.

» Clark Murray Roberts, Q.C., Director, term expires at pleasure.

Appointments required:

» There are no board appointments expiring within the next 90 days.

Website: www.boref.ca/baiif

Contact: Bindi Sawchuk

Executive Director, Investment Capital Branch
(250) 952-0814

Last update: July 11, 2017 Page 3 of 3
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS BIOGRAPHIES

Shannon Baskerville
Deputy Minister, Ministry of Jobs, Tourism and Skills Training

An executive with significant leadership and corporate governance experience in the BC public
sector, Shannon Baskerville was appointed Deputy Minister, Ministry of Jobs, Tourism and Skills
Training, and Responsible for Labour in March 2016. Shannon oversees Labour Market
Development and Information, Immigration, Economic Development, the Major Investment Office
and Tourism, and Labour programs. Shannon also has responsibility for Destination BC and the
Industry Training Authority, and is Chair for the Labour Market Priorities Board and the Centre for
Data Driven Innovation.

Shannon has over 24 years of experience with the Province of British Columbia. Prior to her
appointment as Deputy Minister in her current role, Shannon held the position of Deputy Minister
of International Trade and Ministry Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism.
Previous appointments also include Assistant Deputy Minister of Labour Market Development;
Immigration and International Education; and Economic Development and Competitiveness.

Shannon is currently Chair of the BC Immigrant Investment Fund and Vice-Chair of the Board of
Directors of Forestry Innovation Investment.

s.22
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JAN 18 2017 Ref: 16905

Ms. Shannon Baskerville

Chair

Board of Directors

BC Immigrant Investment Fund Ltd.
8th Floor, 1810 Blanshard Street

PO Box 9800 Stn Prov Govt
Victoria, BC V8T 4J1

Dear Ms. Baskerville:

This Mandate Letter confirms your organization’s mandate, provides government’s annual
strategic direction and sets out key performance expectations for the 2017/18 fiscal year.

On behalf of the Province of British Columbia, thank you for your leadership and the
contributions made by the BC Immigrant Investment Fund Ltd. over the past year and
congratulations on the efforts made towards the following achievements:

e Bringing the BC immigrant Investment Fund Ltd. and B.C. Renaissance Capital Fund
Ltd. (BCRCF) within the Ministry of International Trade and having them governed by
a public sector board and managed by public sector officers;

o Implementing the BC Tech Fund, which will utilize the private sector fund manager’s
expertise to make venture capital investment decisions on behalf of government;

e Continuing to minimize the exposure of accessing the guarantee that the Province has
given to the federal government on monies received under the Immigrant Investor
Program, by maintaining best business and investment practices to realize positive
investment returns;

e Monitoring and reporting on its capital commitments for the BC Renaissance Capital

Fund Ltd.; and,
e Integrating the Taxpayer Accountability Principles into the daily operations of the BC
Immigrant Investment Fund Ltd.
-

Ministry of International Trade and  Office of the Minister Mailing Address: Location:
Minister Responsible for PO Box 9063 Stn Prov Govt Room 342
Asia Pacific Strategy and Victoria BC V8W 9E2 Parliament Buildings
Multiculturalism Phone: 250 953-0910 Victoria BC

Fax: 250 953-0928
www.gov.be.ca/mit
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Ms. Shannon Baskerville
Page2

BC’s Corporate Governance Framework takes & principles-based approach in providing direction {
for effective governance of ministries and Public Sector Organizations (PSQOs). Since June 2014,

the Taxpayer Accountablllty Principles (TAP) have provided gnidance to ensure that the actions

taken and services provided strengthen accountability and promote cost control while meeting

the public policy objectives established by government on behalf of thie citizens of BC.

Tt is eritical that public sector organizations operate as efficiently as possible, in orderto.ensure
British Columbians are provided with effective services at the lowest cost possible. This
requires constant focus on majntaining a cost-conscious and priucipled culture through the
efficient delivery of services that stand the test of publio scrutiny and help develop a prosperous
economy in an environmentally sustainable:manner. This is critical to government's
committnent to control spending and balance the budget.

Government is making open information a priority across the public sect0r to enhance
government transparency and accountability in the use of public resources, the delivery of
programs and public services..

Govemment provided the following mandate direction to the BC knmigrant Investment Fund
Ltd., under the Business Corpordations Act, to manage BC’s allocation of funds undef the federal |
lrmmgraut Investor Program (IIP): use the funds for economic development and job creation in ;
the province by directing those fimds into public sector infrastructure investments, venture
capital fund investments, and money markeét and central depository investinents.

To-achieve this mandate, the BC Immigrant Investment Fund Ltd. is directed to take the (
following strategic actions: '

+ Implement and oversee the BC Tech Fund and current BCRCF portfolio and report out
by providing bi-annual updates, starting on April 1, 2017, detailing how venture capital
investments are supporting the growth of BC technology companies and helping to
create jobs for British Columbians;

»  Work with the Ministry of International Trade and the BC Tech Furnd manager to
support venture capital ecosystem building activities in BC and to show progress,
develop a summary report of achievements by December 31, 2017; and,

» Minimize the exposure of accessing the guarantee that the Province has given to the
federal government on monies received under the Immigrant Invesior Program, by
maintaining best business and investment practices to realize positive investment
returns.

The ongoing culture shift to principled public sector governance remains 2 priority for
government. PSOs are expected to undertake more eomprehensive professional development to
enhance orieniation of their board members and senior executives. Government will be providing
programming and resources designed fo complement compoenents of orientation to ensure
understanding of the accountahilities and expectations of public sector boards and organizations.
For detailed information about TAP directives, please refer to the following link: Taxpayer
Accountability Principles.

.13
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Ms. Shannon Baskerville
Page 3

Government is committed to continue to revitalize the relationship between Government and
PSOs. This strong focus on increased two-way communication supports and ensures a common
understanding of Government’s expectations. Timely communication of emerging issues which
may affect the business of the BC Immigrant Investment Fund Ltd. and/or the interests of
government is critical to building trust and the effective delivery of public services, including
information on any risks to achieving financial forecasts and performance targets. With the TAP
embedded in the Annual Service Plans and Reports, this will support board chairs in assessing
and communicating the organization’s overall performance.

In addition, it is expected that your organization will continue to be diligent in ensuring
familiarity with and adherence to statutory obligations and policies that have broad application
across the public sector. Please refer to the following link for a summary of these
accountabilities, PSO Accountability Summary.

Each board member is required to acknowledge the direction provided in the Mandate Letter by
signing this letter. The Mandate Letter is to be posted publicly on your organization’s website,
and a copy signed by all board members provided to the ministry and made available to the
public upon request.

I look forward to our regular meetings focusing on strategic priorities, performance against TAP,
and working together to protect the public interest at all times.

Sincerely,

jm[f

Teresa Wat

. Minister

Enclosure

@ —1,2,0 {/ Wt .

Shannon Baskerville Clark Roberts |
Chair, BC Immigrant Investment Fund Ltd. Director, BC Imm‘igrant Investment Fund Ltd.

& -

Tracy Campbell
Director, BC Immigrant Investment Fund Ltd.

.../4
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Pl

Honourable Christy Clar,
Premier '

Kim Henderson
Deputy Minister to the Premier and Cabinet Secrefary

Athana Méntzelopoulos
Deputy Minister and Secretary to Treasury Board Ministry of Finance

Cheryl Wenezenki-Yalland
Associate Deputy Minister
Ministry of Finance

Clark M. Roberts, QC
Deputy Minister
Ministry of International Trade and
Minister Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism.

Shannon Baskerville
Chair | |
BC Immigrant Investment Fund Ltd.

Clark Roberts
Director
BC Immigrant Investinent Fund Lid.

Tracy Campbell
Director
BC Immigrant Investment Fund Lid.

Bindi Sawchuk
Chief Executive Officer
BC Immigrant Investment Fund Ltd.
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Further information available at: http://gov.bc. ntabiliti

I Cost Consciousness (Efficiency) Strengthen cost management capabilities and foster a culture of cost-
consciousness at all levels of public sector organizations. Provide
public services and programs as efficiently and effectively as possible
to “bend the cost curve” and support sustainable public policies and
programs as a lasting legacy for generations to come.

2 Accountability Transparently manage responsibilities according to a set of common
public sector principles in the best interest of the citizens of the
province. By enhancing organizational efficiency and effectiveness in
the planning, reporting and decision making, public sector
organizations will ensure actions are aligned with government’s
strategic mandate.

©  Appropriate Compensation Comply with a rigorous, standardized approach to performance
management and employee compensation, which reflects appropriate
compensation for work across the public sector that is consistent with
government’s taxpayer accountability principles and respectful of the
taxpayer.

4 Service Maintain a clear focus on positive outcomes for citizens of British
Columbia by delivering cost-efficient, effective, value-for-money public
services and programs.

% Respect Engage in equitable, compassionate, respectful and effective
communications that ensure all parties are properly informed or
consulted on actions, decisions and public communications in a timely
manner. Proactively collaborate in a spirit of partnership that respects
the use of taxpayers’ monies.

& Integrity Make decisions and take actions that are transparent, ethical and free
from conflict of interest. Require the establishment of a strong ethical
code of conduct for all employees and executives. Serve the citizens
of British Columbia by respecting the shared public trust and acting in
accordance with the taxpayer accountability principles.
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For more information an the B.C. Immigrant Investment Fund Ltd. (BCIIF) contact:

BCIIF
3" Floor 1803 Douglas Street
Victoria, B.C.
V8T 5C3

or visit our website at
www.BCIIF.ca
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B.C. Immigrant Investment Fund Ltd.

Accountability Statement

The 2017/18 - 2019/20 B.C. Immigrant Investment Fund Ltd. (BCIIF) Service Plan was prepared
under the Board’s direction in accordance with the Budget Transparency and Accountability Act and
the B.C. Reporting Principles. The plan is consistent with government's strategic priorities and fiscal
plan. The Board is accountable for the contents of the plan, including what has been included in the
plan and how it has been reported. The Board is responsible for the validity and reliability of the
information included in the plan.

All significant assumptions, policy decisions, events and identified risks, as of January 27, 2016 have
been considered in preparing the plan. The performance measures presented are consistent with the
Taxpayer Accountability Principles, and BCIIF’s mandate and goals, and focus on aspects critical to
the organization’s performance. The targets in this plan have been determined based on an
assessment of BCIIF’s operating environment, forecast conditions, risk assessment and past
performance.

===

Shannon Baskerville

Board Chair

2017/18 — 2019/20 Service Plan 3
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B.C. Immigrant Investment Fund Ltd.

Strategic Direction and Context

Strategic Direction

The B.C. Immigrant Investment Fund Ltd. (BCIIF or the Corporation) underwent a mandate review in
2015/16, which resulted in a change in governance and revised strategic direction.’ The review
confirmed the Corporation’s continued mandate to receive and manage B.C.’s allocation of funds
under the Federal Immigrant Investor Program (IP), in order to invest in economic development and
job creation in B.C.% and set new new priorities for the Corporation including the launch of the $100
million venture capital BC Tech Fund to be managed by an experienced, private sector fund manager.

The BCIIF has been directed by Government in its 2017/18 Mandate Letter to:

1. Implement and oversce the BC Tech Fund and current BCRCEF portfolio and report out by
providing bi-annual updates, starting on April 1, 2017, detailing how venture capital
investments are supporting the growth of B.C. technology companies and helping to create
jobs for British Columbians;

2. Work with the Ministry of International Trade and the B.C. Tech Fund manager to support
venture capital ecosystem building activities in B.C. and to show progress, develop a
summary report of achievements by December 31, 2017; and

3. Minimize the exposure of accessing the guarantee that the Province has given to the federal
government on monies received under the Immigrant Investor Program, by maintaining best
business and invesiment practices to realize positive investmeitt returns,

Operating Environment

BCIIF investments are targeted broadly to promote economic development and job creation in B.C.
within three asset classes: public sector infrastructure loans, venture capital fund investments and cash
and short-term investments through the Province’s Central Deposit Program (CDP) and the British
Columbia Investment Management Corporation (bcIMC).

Loan Portfolio: BCIIF long-term infrastructure loans have been made to entities in the provincial
public sector (the Government Reporting Entities (GRE), primarily post-secondary institutions,

* The review was in responsc to the federal government terminating the Immigrant Investor Program (1IP) in 2014 and the
Corporation having folly committed all of the $90 million it was allocated to venture capital funds. Building ok the past
success of the BCITF, on April 1, 2016 a new board of directors and officers were appointed to. govern and operate the
BCIIF/ BCRCF because the Corperations’ operations were moved back into government. '

* The federal government termiinated the IIP in 2014 and wind-up of the program will continue until sometime after 2020.

2017/18 — 2019/20 Service Plan 5
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B.C. Immigrant Investment Fund Ltd.

thereby supporting student education and knowledge-based sectors. With the 2014 federal
termination of the IIP, the BCIIF is no longer offering new infrastructure loans.

Venture Capital Investments: The BCIIF includes two venture capital portfolios through the B.C.
Renaissance Capital Fund (BCRCF), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Corporation. Venture capital
investments focus on funds and companies in the information and commurications technology, digital
media, clean tech, and life science sub-sectors. The Corporation’s venture capital investments are
managed by a private sector fund manager.

¢ Portfolio 1 — the BCRCF is comprised of investment commitments to cight fund managers
between 2007 and 2011. The BCRCEF is a mature $90 million fund-of-funds intended to attract
venture capital fund managers and their investments to B.C.

o Portfolio 2 — the BC Tech Fund is a $100 million fund-of-funds® launched in 2016 that
makes investments into B.C.-based venture capital funds and direct investments into B.C.
technology companies. The BC Tech Fund is focused on investments at the Seties A stage* of
financing,

Cash & Short Term Investments: beIMC manages the BCIIF’s short-term low-risk investments in
government and corporate debt securities, Since 2013, cash funds have also been invested with the

Ministry of Finance in the CDP, which deploys short-term cash primarily for financing government’s ("°'
Consolidated Revenue Fund. ‘

Key risks faced by the Corporation, along with strategies for their management are:

» Interest rate risk: Very modest growth has kept interest rates low, resulting in reduced
interest income from liquid investments. BCIIF manages exposure to interest rate volatility by
holding a portfolio of long-term fixed rate and short-term floating rate investments.

o Currency risk: Venture capital investments denominated in U.S. dollars pose a foreign
currency risk. BCIF holds U.S. dollar liquid assets sufficient to meet all remaining U.S.
dollatr-based commitments.

o Credit risk: BCIIF’s loan portfolio is at risk in the event of non-repayment by borrowers. All
loans are made to GRE borrowers and structured with a correspending general obligation
ranking equivalent to other leans by the borrowers.

e Liquidity risk: Timing differences exist between cash receipts from infrastructure loans and
cash repayments to the federal government. BCIIF manages this risk by holding a significant
portfolio of short-term liquid investments, and seeking alternate financing when required.

* A fund-of-funds is a fund that invests in investment funds. In the case of the BC Tech Fund, investments are also made
directiy into tech companies.
* Series A financing is the first round of financing from institutional investors after friends, family and angel investment,

2017/18 — 2019720 Service Plan 6
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e Returns risk: Venture capital is a high risk asset class that does not afford guaranteed returns.
Venture capital investments are subject to the “J-curve effect” typically over a 10-year fund
lifecycle, whereby negative returns may occur in early years, while new investments are being
made. Gains occur in later years as portfolio companies mature and exit. Historically, returns
begin three to five years after a fund’s investment period ends, and caution should be
exercised regarding the expected timing of venture capital returns.

BCIIF has fully embraced the Taxpayer Accountability Principles (TAP) established in July 2014.
Specific initiatives implemented include:
e Formalized Standards of Conduct have been developed for BCIIF staff. All staff and
Directors have reviewed the employee code of conduct and signed a declaration affirming

compliance;

e The 2017/18 Mandate Letter provided by the Minister responsible was reviewed and signed by
each Director, and will be posted on our website; Directors have attended relevant training
addressing the requirements, intentions and spirit of TAP;

e Regular quarterly meetings are held between our Board Chair and the Minister, and regular
discussions occur between the Deputy Minister and the Corporation’s CEO;

e TAP is addressed in the orientation of all new employees; and

e A cost-conscious environment prevails, whereby spending is closely monitored and
commitments are made in accordance with B.C. Government procurement practices and
follows Treasury Board Directives.

The organization embraces TAP initiatives and will continue to focus on communications with the
Ministry, clear and transparent reporting and opportunities for operational efficiencies.

2017/18 — 2019/20 Service Plan 7
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B.C. Immigrant Investment Fund Ltd.

Performance Plan

Goals, Strategies, Performance Measures and Targets

The goals, strategies and performance measures reflect the ongoing transition of the BCIIF and the
Corporation’s refreshed mandate. The Board of Directors and executive have provided capacity to the
organization to meet compliance practices and implement the direction contained in BCIIF’s Mandate
Letter.

Performance Measures Framework

BCIIF’s performance measures framewark follows Budget Transparency and Accountability Act
requirements for performance measures, benchmarks and targets that are linked to specific goals,
objectives and strategies. The framework reflects BCIIF’s mandate to earn commercial returns and to
promote economic development, while keeping the Province’s debt burden affordable. The
framework identifies broad goals, aligns specific corporate strategies to each goal, incorporates
ongoing research regarding suitable benchmarks and targets and provides discussion of the
significance of results.

Outlook {
BCIIF believes its performance measures highlight the most ¢rucial aspects of its performance and

reflect aspects where it has control or influence over outcomes. These performance measures arc

subject to refinement and evolution.

Source Data and Reliability

BCIIF has sought to identify performance measures that are reliable and valid. While performance
measures are not audited, they are largely based on audited information and information subject to
third-party verification.

Goal 1: Generate Returns that Meet or Exceed BCIIF’s
Current Investment Strategy Targets

BCIIF’s returns strategy supports Government’s economic priotities and achieves commercial returns,
while meeting BCIIT’s risk profile,

Strategies
» BCIIF achieves commercial returns on low-risk infrastructure loans, which mitigates the
higher-risk venture capital portfolio. BCIIF’s loan portfolio is comprised of long-term loans to

LR
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the Provincial Treasury, which in turn provides loan financing to GRE entities to support
approved public sector infrastructure projects with loan vields equivalent to Government’s
cost of borrowing.

« BCIIF deposits funds with CDP and beIMC to have sufficient liquidity to meet five-year [IP
repayment obligations to the federal government and to meet capital calls5 for venture capital
investments,

Performance Measure 1: Achieve Targeted Average Yields on Investments

L1 Five Year Weighted Average 2.53% 2.44% 2.36% 2:35% 2.67%
BCIIF Portfolio Retum
1.2 One Year Weighted Average 2.21% 2.64% 2.64% 2.84% 2.84%

BCIIF Portfolio Return

Data Source: Rates projected based on Canada 3-month T-bill 2.20% (long~term average spread between T-Bill and
Primc), T-Bill rate based Bank of Canada Treasury Bill Yields.

Discussion

Targeted yields are comparable to returns that could be realized through similar investment vehicles.
Targets have been adjusted upward from past Service Plans to reflect expected changes in the
portfolio composition. As the BCIIF stops receiving I1P allocations, cash balances in the BCIIF will
decline leaving the majority of investments in higher yield infrastructure loans.

Goal 2: Optimize BCIIF’s Investment Strategy and
Operations

Strategies

s Develop and implement a Performance and Accountability Framework to optimize BCIIF’s
effectiveness and ensure alignment with Government’s direction, TAP and the Budget
Transparency and Accountability Act.

* The BCRCF has investment abtipations to fund managers (referred to as ‘committed capital’}), When fund managers .
request capital to make investments into companies it is referred to as a “capital call”,

S Both the 1 and 5 year weighted averages include rates on Money Market (beIMC and CDP) and Infrastructure
investments and exclude Venture Capital investments.
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Performance Measure 2:

BCIIF Operational Effectiveness

Draft Monitor Monitor
Framework Framework frameworkto | performance performance
2.1 Develop and adopt Performance under under be submitted and refine and refine
and Accountability Framework devefopment | development to Board for | frameworkas | framewark as
approval® appropriate appropriate

Data Source: BCIIF internal draft performance and accountability framework and internal BCIIF calculations.

Discussion

The new Performance and Accountability Framework will allow BCIIF to improve its operational
effectiveness, whilc ensuring alignment with Government’s mandate direction, TAP and Budgef

Transparency and Accountability Act requirements. It will include a clear set of performance and
accountability metrics with a sct of outcomes, and impacts correspomling to BCIIF’s mandate,

Goal 3: Contribute to a stronger B.C. Venture Capital System

The Province’s 2015/16 venture capital policy review recognized that B.C. has an emerging, high-
potential venture capital system, which will fuel sustained growth in the technology sector as it
matures. To realize this growth, venture capital system development activities are focused on:

o Addressing the “series. A-round” venture capital funding gap in B.C,, so that technology

companies can grow and stay.in B.C.

s Expanding the number of high perfotming venture capital funds in B.C. ta provide capital and

expertise related to growing a business to emerging B.C. technology companies.

¢ Increasing the competiveness of B.C.’s venture captial system by facilitating greater cohesion
to respond effectively to rapid changes in the venture capital environment.

7 Performance Measure 2.2 from previous Setvice Plans (to create an expense ratio) has been remcved because BCIIF now

operates from within the Ministry of International Trade. BCIIE’s new organizational structure is more efficient than
previous madels, making an industry expense ratic unnecessary.
® The timing of this target has been adjusted since last year’s Service Plan to account for BCIIF’s transition to the new
governance madel, selection of the private secior fund manager and launch of the new BC Tech Fund in 2016,

2017/18 — 2019/20 Service Plan
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Strategies
s Continue to implement the $100 million BC Tech Fund to address the A-round funding gap
and ensure that investments benefit B.C. technology companies.

o Ensure that BC Tech Fund investmients aré made into B.C.-based venture capital funds to
increase the number of funds and grow the number of fund managers.

o Collaborate with the BC Tech Fund manager to implement initial system building activities.

Performance Measure 3: Cumulative Investment Commitments to Funds and
B.C. Businesses

3.1 Cumulative number of investment
commitments made 10 B.C. Businesses from N/A 2 6 10 12
the BC Tech Fund

3.2 Cunnulative number of investment
commitments made 1o B.C.-based VC N/A 2 6 6 6
Funds from the BC Tech Fund

Discussion

In 2036/17, the BCIIF / BCRCF made a $100 million investment into the BC Tech Fund, and the new
performance measures 3.1 and 3.2 support effective oversight of BC Tech Fund outcomes. The
cumulative number of investment commitments made to B.C. businesses and B.C.-based venture
capital funds demonstrates that the BC Tech Fund is benefiting B.C.’s venture capital system and
technology sector growth.

Goal 4: Stimulate Commercialization of Innovation and
Venture Capital Investment in B.C,

Venture capital fuels technology companies’ growth as they commercialize and scale operations,
~ which in turn drives innovation. The more venture capital that is available in B.C.; the more B.C.
companies will have access to funding for their continued growth.

Strategies

To increase accessto capital in B.C., the BCRCF has invested in two venture capital fund-of-funds
portfolios:

e Portfolio 1 — the BCRCF is designed to attract world-class venture capital investors to B.C.

2017/18 — 2019/20 Service Plan 11
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investment opportunities. From 2007 to 2011, nine investments totalling $90 million in capital
commitments were made with eight expert fund managers. The BCRCF fund-of-funds
increases domestic and international linkages through its fund managers, many of whom have
networks extending around the world, To increase the probability of investments in B.C.
companies, fund managers have entered into side letter agreements with the BCRCF under
which they commit to perform investment activities in B.C.

s Portfolio 2 — the BC Tech Fund is designed to stimulate the quantity of local venture capital
available for B.C. businesses. To this end, the $100 million Fund will invest the majority of
its capital into B.C.-based venture capital {unds and a portion of its portfolio (as direct
investments) into B.C. companies. The BC Tech Fund manager * has an extensive investment

network which will help leverage capital from other sources into B.C.

Performance Measure 4: Cumulative Capital Called and Invested by the
BCRCF Portfolio 1 (2007-2011)

015/16 17 .17

Performance Measu

4.1 Cumulative capital called on o ]
BCRCE’s commitments to fund $76 million $81 million $85 million %30 million $90 million

managers

4.2 Cumulative investment by BCRCF _ o - : . .
fund managers in B.C, companies $148 million | 3165 million | S170 million | $178 million | $186 million

4.3 Cumulative investment by BCRCF
fund managers and syndicate partners in | 3315 million | $324 million | $340 million | $356 million | $372 million

B,C. companies

Data Source: Capital calls and investment amounts are based on invoices, BCRCF venture capital fund managers’ audited
financial statements and quarterly performance reports.

* The BC Tech Fund manager also oversees existing Portfolio 1 - BCRCF investments.

2017/18 — 2019/20 Service Plan 12
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Performance Measure 5: Cumulative Capital Calied and Invested by the BC
Tech Fund, Portfolio 2 (2016-2020)

5.1 Cumulative capital called on BC o . ) -
Tech Fund investments ' N/A -$5 million- $12 million $37 million 362 million

5.2 Cumulative investment by fund . _ L _ o
managers in B.C. companies N/A %15 million $40 million $60 million $80 million

5.3 Cumulative investment by BC Tech . i .

B.C. companies

Diita Source: Capital calls and investment amounts are based on invoices, BC Tech Fund venture capital fund managers’
audited financial statements and quarterly performance reports from the BC Tech Fund manager.

Discussion:

Measuring cumulative capital called and cumulative investments demonstrate that investments made
by Portfolios 1 and 2 are increasing the amount of venture capital in B.C. and helping to leverage
investments into B.C. technology companies.

For forecast and target purposes, Portfolio 1 has used an approximate leverage multiple of slightly
aver 4.0 times the capital called on BCRCE’s commitments to fund managers for performance
measures 4.2 and 4.3, respectively. Although BCRCF funds are fully committed, follow-on
investments and corresponding capital calls may still be made by fund managers.

Forecasts and targets for Portfolio 2 were developed considering the investment period of the BC
Tech Fund, past investment patterns of similar fund-of-funds, and investment restrictions.

Forecasts contain ¢lements that are not within direct control of the BCIIF or its fund manager such-as
capital being invested by investee funds based on their investment strategy and capital being invested
by the other syndicate partners.

' The BC Tech Fund was implemented in fall 2016, hence no investments were made in fiscal year 2015/16.

' Venture capital industry practices would not generally view the pacing of when capital is called and invested as a
measure of performance and instead would consider this an activity measure, These measures and targets are, however,
appropriate to assess the effectiveness of the BC Tech Fuad initiative in helping to increase access to capital for B.C.
technology businesscs.
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Financial Plan

Summary Financial Outlook

Venture Capital Investment Income

Realized Investment Gains 952 950 179 178 179
Interest Income 7,611 6,214 4,164 2.240 1,309
10,576 13,685 - - -

Advertising and promofion 68 a 0 0 ]
Amortization of promissory nofe _

discount 4,581 3,160 2,150 1483 1,015
Investment fees ) 54 13 3 0
Board of Director fees 88 0 0 0 0
Director support services 72 0 0 0 0
Office and husiness expenses 94. 0 0 0 ¢
Professlonal fees 261 0 0 0 0
Salary, wages and benefits b57 0 0 0 0
Venture capital investment losses 8,366 0 0 0 0
Dabt service costs 0 0 0 409 973

2017718 — 2019/20 Service Plan
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Key Forecast Assumptions

The above financial information and forecasts are prepared based on Public Sector Accounting
Standards in Canada. This Service Plan incorporates “forward-looking statements™ including
information related to future anticipated investment performance and related revenues, along with
expected expense levels. Actual results may differ materially from those in the forward-looking
estimates as a result of various factors, some of which are beyond BCIIF’s control, including, but not
limited to, the risks discussed under the Operating Environment section of this Scrvice Plan. Review
and interpretation of forecasts should take into consideration the following:

1. Revenue assumes that all available funds, other than those required to meet near-term
commitments, which includes repayments to the federal government, will be invested in liquid
financial instruments with CDP and beIMC, earning returns reflecting shart-term, low-risk
investments. Acknowledging uncertainties around the timing and amount of venture capital
distributions, and to be conservative, venture capital investment income is reported as realized,
with no amounts budgeted.

2. In fiscal year, (2016/17), the management and governance of the BCIIF and BCRCF was
transitioned to Ministry of International Trade (the Ministry), and all operating expenses other
than amortization are and will continue to be borne by the Ministry, not by the BCIIF or
BCRCF.

3. Loans received through the IIP are received net of commission costs. BCIIF amortizes those
commission costs over the term of the loan (five years). The debt to Canada is supported by a
Provincial guarantee.

4. Based on forecasted cash flow, the BCIIF may experience a cash shortfall in 2018/19, which
would require a loan to meet repayment obligations. This cash shortflow is a result of a timing
mismalich between cash inflows from investments and repayment requirements.

Management Perspective on Future Financial Outlook

BCHF’s revenue budgets for realized investment gains and investment income are decreasing over the
next three years due to the absence of new IIP allocations to invest as current investments mature and
cash proceeds are used to repay the federal IIP obligation. Venture capital investment income is not
included in the budget as returns are uncertain.

Venture capital investment in Canada has grawn steadily year-over-year since 2012. Exit valuations
for tech companies were $4.3 billion in 2015, far surpassing 2014 ($1.5 billion) and 2013 ($1.3

2017/18 — 2019720 Service Plan t5
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billion) 2. The investment climate and recent strenght of exit values indicate that the outlook for the {
Canadian venture capital industry looks favourable,

Based on current cash flow projections, BCHF will require new financing in 2018/19 to meet its [IP
repayment obligations and capital calls in the BC Tech Fund. This is a result of a timing mismatch
between cash inflows from investments and repayment requirements. Future debt servicing costs may
change in proportion to the amount of new financing needed. However, the Bank of Canada’s October
2016 Monetary Policy Report projects that interest rates will remain low and as a result BCIIF debt
servicing costs are not expected to vary materially from the current forecasts

2 Source: CVCA.
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Appendix A:

Hyperlinks to Additional Information

B.C. Immigrant Investment Fund (BCIIF)

An organizational overview of BCIIF, mission and values, leadership, and corporate governance
information (includes all information and disclosure requirements of the Crown Agencies Resource
Office) can be found starting here: http://BCIIF.ca/about-BCIIF/overview/ and by examining subsequent
drop-down menu links.

Mission and values: http://BCIIF.ca/about-BCIIF/missions-values/

Leadership and governance including Board information: http://BCIIF .ca/about-BCIIF/leadership/

Standards of Conduct: http://BCIIF.ca/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/Standards-of-Conduct-2014.pdf

The most recent Mandate Letter, for 2017/18, can be found at: http://bciif.ca/wp-
content/uploads/2017/02/Mandate-Letter-2017-2018.pdf

B.C. Renaissance Capital Fund Ltd. (BCRCF)

Additional information on investment strategy, venture capital fund managers and investee companies of
BCRCEF, a wholly-owned subsidiary of BCIIF, can be found at: http://BCIIF.ca/about-BCRCF/overview/

Fund manager profiles and B.C. investment details can be found at: http://BCIIF.ca/about-BCRCF/fund-
managers/

BC Tech Fund

Additional information on investment strategy, manager of the BC Tech Fund, and portfolio investments
can be found at: http://www kcpl.ca/be-tech-fund/

2017/18 — 2019/20 Service Plan 17
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Appendix B:

Subsidiaries and Operating Segments

Active Subsidiaries

The B.C. Renaissance Capital Fund Ltd. is a Crown corporation wholly-owned by the BCHF. The
members of the Board of Directors and management are the same as the BCIIF. Like the BCHF, the
BCRCF:

o  Adheres {o the Corporation’s TAP framework; and

¢ Aligns its activities with the Corporation’s mandate, strategic priorities and fiscal plan.

In August 2007, the provincial Treasury Board approved an allocation of $90.2 million from BCIIF to
BCRCF for venture capital investments in key technology sectors of information technology, digital
media, clean technology and life sciences, In 2016, a further $100 million was approved to support the
BC Tech Fund, bringing BCRCF’s total atlocation to venture capital investments to $190.2 million. The
objectives of the BCRCF’s venture capital investments are to:

e Generate positive returns for the capital committed;

e Increase the probability that innovative new goods and services in B.C. gain full-scale
commercialization;

» Increase the depth of the venture capital market and increase the quantity of venture capital available
in B.C.; and

» Enhance the visibility of B.C. as an attractive market for venture capital opportunitiés in North
America and globally.

The BCRCF, in addition to being a wholly owned and operated subsidiary of the BCIIF, is the venture
capital component of the larger BCIIF investment portfolio. As such, any financtal and operational risks
or opportunities facing BCRCF are reflected in the BCIF Service Plan.
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Summary of BCRCF’s Fund-of-Funds Portfolios
folio
1 -BCRCF 2007 ARCH Venture Partners N/A
VantagePoint Capital Partners
Kearny Venture Partners
2009 Vanedge Capital Partners LTD N/A
Tandem Expansion
Yaletown Venlure Partners

2011 Azure Capital N/A
Novia Capital
2 —BC Tech Fund 2016 Vanedge I1 (Vanedge Capital Mojio (B.C. Company)
Partners LTD)

BCRCF: Summary Financial Outlook Table

Total Revenue' 10,57 11,250 - - .

{ BCRCF financial accounts are consolidated into the parent company statements of BCIIF. To. be conservative given the
‘high-risk nature of venture capital investments, venture capital income is reported as it is realized.
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For moré information on BC [minigrant Investment Fund Ltd. contact:

3" floor-1803 Douglas Street
Victoria, B.C. V8T 5C3
Bindi Sawchuk, CEO
Bindi.Sawchuk@hbciif.ca

or visit our website at
www.bciif.ca
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Board Chair’s Accountability Statement

I am pleased to submit the BC Immigrant Investment Fund Ltd.’s 2016/17
Annual Service Plan Report. This report was prepared under the BC
Immigrant Investment Fund Ltd. board’s direction and in accordance with
the Budget Transparency and Accountability Act and the B.C. Reporting
Principles.

The BC Immigrant Investment Fund 2016/17 Annual Service Plan Report
compares the corporation’s actual results to the expected results identified
in the 2016/17 - 2018/19 Service Plan. I am accountable for those results as
reported.

Shannon Baskerville
Board Chair

2016/17 Annual Service Plan Report 3
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Chair/CEO Report Letter

On behalf of the BC Immigrant Investment Fund, we are happy to provide an update on our progress.

In 2016/17, BC Immigrant Investment Fund Ltd. (BCIIF) fully integrated the
Taxpayer Accountability Principles which strengthen accountability, ensure the
appropriate management of public funds and strengthen the relationship between
government and public sector organizations. During the year, BCIIF’s operations,
including its goals, strategies, measures and targets, fully aligned with the Taxpayer
Accountability Principles by emphasizing efficiency, accountability and integrity in
the delivery of the organization’s programs, and in managing relationships with
stakeholders inside and outside the provincial government. BCIIF’s actions during
the year also aligned with the Government’s strategic direction as outlined in the
2016/17 Mandate Letter from the Minister of International Trade (refer to Appendix
C for a summary of BCIIF’s response to the strategic priorities set out in the Mandate Letter).

The BCIIF and its wholly owned subsidiary the B.C. Renaissance Capital Fund
(BCRCF) completed its transition to public sector governance and operations in
2016/17. Building on the past success of the BCIIF / BCRCF, the Crown sought to
adopt and refine top financial, business, human resource, governance and
management practices throughout the transition to ensure the Crown’s economic and
financial mandates are achieved.

Chief among this year’s successes, the BCRFC launched the $100-million BC Tech
Fund in October, 2016. The purpose of the BC Tech Fund is to generate financial
return and to help promising B.C. tech companies access the early stage venture
capital they need to grow and stay in B.C., which leads to a strong diversified economy and more high-
paying jobs for British Columbians. The fund supports development of a more sustainable venture capital
system in the province, which builds on the success of the BCRCF and the province’s well developed
Angel investment community.

The first BCRCF venture capital portfolio which was launched in 2008, received returns on its
investments throughout 2016/17 demonstrating that the fund is maturing, and beginning to show a
favourable return pattern.

In 2016/17, BCIIF realized a net operating income of $4.1 million, had $41.6 million in cash and short-
term investments, and $178.3 million invested in low-risk public sector infrastructure loans. The BCRCF
invested $79.4 million of its $90.2 million commitment to venture capital funds, and as at March 31, 2017,
the BC Tech Fund had invested $4.2 million of its $100 million.

Results have been positive and staff have worked hard to improve access to capital for British Columbia’s
businesses and to improve transparency in our practices.

Sincerely, i

/i {
%ﬁ% {8522 Z {,./l g Py
Shannon Baskerville Bindi Sawchuk
Board Chair Chief Executive Officer
2016/17 Annual Service Plan Report 5
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Purpose of the Organization (

BC Immigrant Investment Fund Ltd.

The BC Immigrant Investment Fund Ltd. (BCIIF) was incorporated on September 19, 2000 under the
Company Act (as it was then) and then registered under the Business Corporations Act (BC). It is
wholly-owned by the Province of British Columbia.

The BCIIF is an approved fund under the federal Immigrant Investor Program (IIP), which is
administered by Citizenship and Immigration Canada (CIC). CIC requires that the funds they give the
BCIIF be invested in projects that contribute to economic development and job creation in Canada.

The money received from the CIC is repayable to the federal government without interest until the
fifth anniversary of the loan. Although there is no interest charged on the funds, there is a small fee
paid to cover federal government administration. In order to participate in the IIP, the Province has
provided the federal government with a repayment guarantee up to $500 million.

B.C. Renaissance Capital Fund Ltd.

The B.C. Renaissance Capital Fund Ltd. (BCRCF) is a Crown corporation that is wholly-owned
subsidiary of the BCIIF. The purpose of BCRCF is to attract successful venture capital managers and
their capital to B.C. in order to develop promising, innovative technology companies in the province
and generate returns on venture capital investments. The Corporation’s venture capital investments
are managed by a private sector fund manager.

e Portfolio 1 — the BCRCF is comprised of investment commitments to eight fund managers
between 2007 and 2011. The BCRCF is a mature $90 million fund-of-funds' intended to
attract venture capital fund managers and their investments to B.C.

e Portfolio 2 — the BC Tech Fund is a $100 million fund-of-funds' launched in 2016 that
makes investments into B.C.-based venture capital funds and direct investments into B.C.
technology companies. The BC Tech Fund is focused on investments at the Series A stage2 of
financing.

Strategic Direction and Context

In February 2014, the federal government announced its intention to terminate the Immigrant Investor
Program. The BCIIF continues to receive smaller allocations under this program and monthly
repayment obligations continue to be met with the final repayment due in 2022.

As directed in the 2016/17 Mandate [etter from the Minister of International Trade, BCIIF focused on
a number of specific operational priorities during the year, including:

" A fund-of-funds is a fund that invests in investment funds. In the case of the BC Tech Fund, investments are also made
directly into tech companies. (
? Series A financing is the first round of financing from institutional investors after friends, family and angel investment.
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e Working with the Ministry of International Trade (MIT) IIF mandate review and implement
new mandate direction as a result of the federal termination of the federal Immigrant Investor
Program;

e Minimizing the exposure of accessing the guarantee that the Province has given to the federal
government on monies received under the Immigrant Investor Program, by maintaining best-
business and investment practices to realize positive investment returns;

e Monitoring and reporting on its capital commitments of up to $90 million in venture capital
investments; and

e Use of either the Ministry of Finance or BC Investment Management Corporation for
investment or deposit of funds in liquid investments, other than amounts allocated to venture
capital and Government Reporting Entity investments.

See Appendix C for a summary of the actions undertaken by BCIIF to fulfill the mandate letter
directions.

The above-noted accountabilities were implemented within the framework of the Taxpayer
Accountability Principles (TAP) which was introduced to strengthen accountability, promote cost
control and support strategic engagement.

Report on Performance

BCIIF’s previous board of directors and management team aligned the Crown’s 2016/17 strategic,
operating and financial performance practices to address government’s expectations as set out in the
Mandate Letter, as well as to focus on the goals set out in the 2016/17 Service Plan.

The BCIIF continues to adhere to TAP, including a code of conduct and a strategic engagement plan
that establishes regular and recurring meetings between its board chair and CEO, and the Minister of
International Trade and deputy minister. This regular engagement strategy helps to ensure that BCIIF
reflects the strategic interests of government and the best interest of British Columbians. BCIIF has
also developed an evaluation plan with specific efficiency and performance measures to ensure that
the corporation is meeting the expectations of British Columbians and government.

In addition to the 2016/17 Service Plan goals, during 2016/17, BCRCF launched the BC Tech Fund
and hired Kensington Capital Partners as the BC Tech Fund manager and to oversee BCRCF’s
existing venture capital commitments.

2016/17 Annual Service Plan Report 7
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Goals, Strategies, Measures and Targets (

Goal 1: Generate Returns that Meet or Exceed BCIIF’s Current Investment
Strategy Targets

BCIIF’s returns strategy supports government’s economic priorities and achieves commercial returns,
while mecting BCIIFs risk profile.

Strategies
e Achieve commercial returns on low-risk infrastructure loans, thereby mitigating the higher-
risk venture capital portfolio. BCIII’s loan portfolio is comprised of long-term loans to the
Provincial Treasury, which in turn provides loan financing to Government Reporting Entities
to support approved public sector infrastructure projects with loan yields equivalent to
government’s cost of borrowing.

e Deposit funds with Central Deposit Program (CDP) and BC Investment Management
Corporation { bcIMC) to have sufficient liquidity to meet five-year 1IP repayment obligations
to the federal government and to meet capital calls for venture capital investments.

Performance Measure 1: Achicve Targeted Average Yields on Investments

1.1 Five year
weighted average
BCIIF portfolio
return’

2.68% 2.60% 251% 2.36% 2.42% 2.36% 2.33%

1.2 One year
weighted average
BCIIT portfolia
teturs'

235% 221% 2.26% 2.63% 2.50% 2.64% 2.84%

~ Data Source: Rates projected based on Canada 3-month T-bill +1.93% (long-term average spread between T-Bilt and
Prime). T-Bill rate based on the average of six private sector forecasters (Scotiabank*, CIBC*, TD*, RBC*, IHS Global
Insight, BMQO).
1 Both the I and 5 year weighted average BCIIF portfolio return include rates on Money Market (beIMC and CDP) and
Infrastructure investments. For clarity, this calculation does not include venture capital investments.
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Discussion

The one and five year weighted average BCIIF portfolio return measures include Money Market
asscts (held in beIMC and CDP) and infrastructure investments. Venture capital investment refurns

are not included.

BCIIF exceeded its targeted five year weighted average target in 2016/17 because the majority of
investments are in higher yield loans as opposed to Money Market assets, which increases the
expected return yield of the portfolio.

The one year weighted avérage target was not achieved in 2016/17 as actual interest rates were lower

than the target.

Goal 2:

Optimize BCHF’s Investment Strategy and Operations

BCIIF established a goal of continuing to streamline operations and improve reporting, and

formalizing its accountabilities with the indroduction of a Performance and Accountability

Framework (“Framework™). The Framcwork is designed to align with the Taxpayer Accouniability
Principles and BCIIF s strategic direction.

Strategies

e Develop a formal Performance and Accountability Framework.

o Structure cost effective operations that meet strategic, business, and governance requircments.

Performance Measure 2: BCIIF Operatlonal Efﬁmency and Effectiveness

F ramework

2.1 Develop Framework | Draft re-drafted Draft Monitor
and adopt being framework | and framework | Performance
Performance n/a /a reviewed to | to be reviewed 1o be and refine
and ' align with submitted to § based on submitted to | framework
Accountability refreshed Board for new Board for as
Framework mandate approval gavernance | approval appropriate
structure
Baseline 10 gz::lji‘r‘;e o
be finalized )
2.2 Expense upon ensure 3 3 3 3
) n/a , alignment TBD n/a n/a nfa’
ratio completion with
of r‘nandate refteshed
review
mandate

Data Souvee: BCHF internal draft performance and accountability framework.

This was a new measure for 2015/16.
*TBD due to uncertainty of the timing of the transition to the new governance model, selection of private sector fund

manager, and launch of the new BC Tech Fund.

*Expense ratio is no longer applicable. When BCIIF transitioned into government for the 2016/2017 fiscal vear, the
corporation signed a Memorandum of Understanding with the Ministry of International Trade and Minister Responsible
for the Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism. The ministry incurs operating costs on behalf of BCIIF.
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Discussion {

Performance measure 2.1: Develop and adopt Performance and Accountability Framework
The Performance and Accountability Framework developed in 2015/2016 was reviewed and is being
re-drafted based on the BCIIF's new Public Sector operating environment. The framework continues
to be refined and will be submitted to the Board for approval in 2017/18,

Performance measure 2.2: Expense Ratio

BCIIF's new organizational structure operates from within the Ministry of International Trade and
Minister Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism (MIT) in a more efficient model.
BCIIF’s operating budget is included in MIT’s budget making an industry expense ratio unnecessary.

Goal 3: Stimulate Commercialization of Innovation and Venture Capital

Investment in B.C.

BCRCF is structured as a fund-of-funds designed to attract world-class venture capital investors to
B.C. Access to capital with a global reach and experienced management are critical to fostering
commercialization and growth for B.C. companies.

Strategies

To increase the visibility of B.C. as an attractive market for venture capital, BCRCT strives to

increase domestic and international links through its fund managers, many of whom have nctworks

around the world. To increase the probability of investments in B.C. companies, fund managers have .
entered into side letter agreements (legal agreements) with BCRCF in which they commit to perform (
investment activities in B.C.

Performance Measure 3: BCRCF Cumulative Capital Called and Invested

3.1 Cumulative capital called §59 %69 $76.2 $51 $79.4 $85 $89
on BCRCK’s commitments to | oy | million | million | million | million | million | million,
fund managers

3.2 Cumulative investmentby | )39 $157 $174 $165 5181 $189 $197
BCRCF fund managers in million | million | million | million | million | million | million
B.C. companies

3.3 Camutative investment by _ '

BCRCF fund managers and £288 $308 $385 £324 $400 $416 5432
syndicate partners in B.C. million million milliot million million ‘million million
companies

Data Source: Capital calls and investment amounts are based on invoices, BCRCF venture capital fund managers’ audited
financial statements and quarterly performance reports.

BCRCEF’s forecasts use a leverage factor of 2.0 to 3.5 times the capital called in establishing targets.
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Discussion

As a result of BCRCF investments, cumulative investment targets were exceeded in 2016/17
demonstrating that a significanl amount of additional capital was invested in B.C. BCRCF fund
managers developed and maintained key relationships and networks that encourage investment in
B.C. companies.

The cumulative capital called on BCRCF’s commitments to fund 1nanagefs was $79.4 million in
2016/17 versus the target of $81 million because the investee funds have reached, or are nearing the
end of their investment period.

Since inception, BCRCF fund managers and their syndicate partners have exceeded investment
targets. A total of $181 million has been invested in B.C. companies by BCRCF fund managers, and
$400 million by BCRCF fund managers and syndicate partners. This investment has created more
than 1,205 jobs in 34 B.C. companies.

Financial Report

Discussion of Results and Financial Report Summary Table

BCIIF continues best-business and investment practices to earn positive investment returns. As
mandated, BCIIF invests available funds in Money Market assets with the b¢cIMC and CDP.

BCIIF also maintains best business and investment monitoring practices over its three asset classes:
public sector infrastructure investments; venture capital fund investments; and Money Market assets.

Portfolio Balances as of March 31, 2017:
» A total of $41.6 million invested in Money Market assets.
e Loan principal and accrued interest for provincial capital infrastructure projects contributed
$178.3 million.
e Venture Capital investments held in BCRCF Portfolio 1 and BC Tech Furid Portfolio 2 totaled
$49 million.

Portfolio Activity:
¢ New venture capital investment of $3.2 million was called in BCRCF Portfolio 1.
o BCIIF received $838,000 in new funds and repaid $91.2 million in the ITP*,
e Interest income from infrastructure loans and Money Market assets totaled $6.2 million,

Variance and Trend Analysis

BCIIF’s total revenue was lower than budgeted in 2016/17 and lower than 2015/16 actuals. Net
income from operations was lower than budgeted and higher than 2015/16 actuals. BCIIF does not
budget for venture capital returns due to the unpredictability and high-risk nature of the investments.
Net income is higher in 2016/17 than 2015/16 because there are no administrative expenses in

* When the federal [IP was terminated in 2014 it had a significant backlog of applications which continue to be processed
and resulted in BCIIF receiving $838,000 in new funds in 2016/17. BCIIF is required to repay TP allocations after 5
years, and those repayments totalled $91 million in 2016/17.
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BCIIF’s new operating environment. As of April 1 , 2016, the board of directors of BCITF and
BCRCF are all B.C. Public Service employees and the management team are employees of MIT.
Expenses are horne by MIT.

Analysis includes:

« Realized investment pains: Realized investment gains are generated from disposition of
beIMC investments. BCITF did not dispose of beIMC investments to meet cash needs;
theretfore gains are lower than budgeted and lower than fiscal 2015/16. Realized investment
loss is due to foreign exchange loss on the disposal of US denominated VC distributions. The
foreign exchange at the time of purchase was greater than the foreign exchange at the time of
sale.

o Interest income: Interest income is higher than budgeted due to two factors: an interest rate
increase on funds held at the Ministry of Finance; and balances in intcrest earning accounts
being higher than anticipated.

Interest income is Jower than 2015/16 actuals due to decreasing balances of infrastructure
loans receivable. Interest income will trend down in subsequent years due to decreasing
investment account balances and loan receivable balances.

» Venture Capital Investment Income: During the year, BCIIF changed its accounting policy for ;
distributions received from its venture capital portfolio. Previously, BCIIF recorded i
distributions as a mixture of return of capital and revenue from a retutn on capital. The .
accounting policy change was adopted to recognize proceeds from fund distributions in a (/
manner that aligns with terms set out in Fund Limited Partnership Agreements (LPAs). For ;
each LPA, disttibutions are first provided as return of capital until all paid in capital has been i
returned. Revenue from a return on capital is only reporied once all paid in capital has been
returned. BCIIF income from distributions reported in prior years has been adjusied to
conform to the policy change.

¢ Expenses: Expenses in 2016/17 include: :
o beIMC investment management fees are incurred for managing short-term '
tnvestments. Resulfs are higher than budgeted because expense assumptions post- i
transition didn’t include management fees.
o Professional fees reflect a credit because of an over- accrual in 2015/16.

e Debt to Canada: Total Debt to Canada was higher than budgeted as BCIIF did not anticipate
continuing to receive new allocations; however, some small allocations continue to be
dispersed. Total debt year over year has decreased and will trend down as BCIIF continues to
meet repayment obligations.

o Total Liabilities: Total liabilities are lower in 2016/17 than 2015/16 hecause operating
liabilities are now part of the MIT budget, and the Debt to Canada is decreasing.
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Risks.and Uncertaintics
Key risks faced by the Corporation, along with strategies for their management are:
s Interest rate risk: Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in market interest
rates will affect future cash flows. BCIIF manages exposure to- interest rate volatility by
holding a portfolio of long-term fixed rate and short-term floating rate investments.

o Currency risk. Venture capital investments denominated in U.S. dollars pose a foreign
currency risk. BCIIF holds significant U.S. dollar liquid assets which are sufficicnt to meet all
remaining U.S. dollar-based commitments.

o Credit risk: BCIIF’s loan portfolio is at risk in the event of non-repayment by borrowers. This -
is mitigated by the fact that ali loans are made to Government Related Entities and structured
with a corresponding general obligation ranking cquivalent to other loans by the borrowers.

BCIIF is exposed to credit risk associated with its cash deposits and investments. This risk is
mitigated by placing deposits and investments in recognized British Columbia institutions, with
investments consisting entirely of high-quality short-ierm funds. Therefore credit risk arising
from cash deposits and investments is considered negligible.

BCIIF is also exposed to credit risk in the event its returns from the venture capital initiatives are
below cost. BCIIF's investment portfolio diversification is based on an investment strategy
developed to generate returns to cover potential losses from its higher risk investments.

o Liguidity risk: Liquidity risk is the risk that BCIIF will encounter difficulty in meeting loan
repayment obligations. Timing differences exist between cash receipts from infrastructure
loans and cash repayments to the federal government. BCIIF manages this risk by holding a
significant portfolio of short-term liquid investments.

BCIIF is also cxposed to liquidity risk associated with the venture capital initiatives. Venture
capital investments cannot be readily soid in the open market. BCIIF attempts to manage
liquidity risk by utilizing the expertise and skills of institutional venture capital managers with a
track record of commercial returns.

‘e Returns risk: Venture capital is a high risk asset class that does not afford guaranteed returns,
Venture capital investments are subject to the “J-curve effect” typically over a 10-year fund
lifecycle, whereby negative returns may occur in early years, while new investments are being
made. Gains occur in later years as portfolio companies mature and exit. Historically, returns
begin three to five years after a fund’s investment period ends. BCIIF exercises caution
regarding the expected timing of venture capital returns by net forecasting expected returns.
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‘Financial Resource Summary Table '

2016717 2016717

$000°s Budget Actual

Revenue

Realized investment

. 3,971 2
gains

Interest income 6,074 6,326

Venture capital

. . 1,177
investment income

Total Revenue

10,045 7,305

Operating Expenses

Advertising and
promotion

Board of director fees &
expenses

Board of director
support services

Salary, wages &
benefits

Investment fees 156

Office & business
€Xpenses

Professional fees

(14}

Amortization of

discount 3,160 : 3.294

Venture capital
investment losses

Toial Expenses 3,160 3,436

Net Income from

Qperations 6,885 4,069

Accumulated
Surphus/Retained
Earnings

52,388 49,572

Debt to Canada 214,672 216,537

Total Liabilities 214,846 216,739

GENERAL NOTES:

{a) Budgeted revenue is based on a conservative assumption that all available funds, other than amounts required to meet
venture capital commitments, will be invested in liquid financial instruments, earning returns based on the Treasury Board
Staff interest rate forecast. Given the uncertainty of the timing and quantum of venture capital returns, venture capital
income is reported as it is realized.

(b} The above budgeted information is from the 2016/17-2018/19 Service Plan. As of April 1, 2016, the board of directors
of BCHF and BCRCF are all B.C. Public Service employees and the management team are employees of the Ministry of
International Trade and Minister Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism. As a result, expenses
budgeted out for future years were uncertain,

NOTES: ;
Note L: The above financial infornation was prepared based on current Gencrally Accepted Accounting Principles. :

:
i

.
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Auditors Report and Audited Financial Statements

Consolidated Finnncial Statements of

BCIMMIGRANT INVESTMENT
FUND LTD.

Year Ended March 31, 2017
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MANAGEMENT'S REPORT

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Finaneizl Statements

The consolidated financial statements bave been prepared by management in accordance with
Canadian public sector zccounting standards, and the integrity and-objectivity of these statements are
managernent's responsibility, Management is also responsible for all-of the notes to the consolidated
financial statements, and for ensuring that this information is consistent, where appropriate, with the
information contained in the consolidated financial statements. A summary of the significant
dccounting policies are described in Nete 3 to the consolidated financial statenents. The preparaticn
of financial statements pecessarily involves the use of estimates based on management’s judgment,
particularly when transactions affecting the current accounting period cannot be finalized with
cettainty until fitnre periods. .

Management s alse responsible for implementing and maintaining a system of intemnal coatrols to
provide reasonable assurance that reliable finaricial information is produced. The internal controls are
designed to provide ressonable assurance that assews are safeguarded, transactions are properly
authorized and recorded in compliance with egislative and regolatory requirements, and reliable
financial information is available on a-timely basis for preparation of the consolidated financial

statements.

The Board of Dircctors are responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibiiities for
financial reporting and internal control, and exercises these responsibilities through the Board. The
Board reviews internal consolidated financial statements on a guarterly basis and extemal audited
consolidated financial statements yearly. The Board also discusses any significant financial reporting
or internal contrel matters prior to their approval of the consclidated financial staterments.

The Auditor General of British Columbia conducts an independent examination, in accordance with
Canedian auditing standards, and expresses her opinicn on the consolidated finencial statements. The
external auditors have fill and free acdess fo financial menagement of the Corporation and meet
when required. The accompanying Auditor's Report outlines their responsibilities, the scape of their
examination and their opinion on the consolidated financial statements,

Cn behalf of BC Immiprant Investment Fund Ltd, / y

Rachelle Kallechy. CFO 1 Sawchuk,

Victoria, B.C,
fune 26, 2017
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@ Auditor General

of British Columbia

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Board of Directors of BC Immigrant Investment Fund Ltd., and
To the Minister of International Trade and the Minister Responsible for the Asia Pacific Strategy
and Multiculturalism, Province of British Columbia

I have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of BC Immigrant Investment
Fund Ltd. (“the entity™), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
March 31, 2017, and the consolidated statement of operations and accumulated surplus,
statement of remeasurement gains and losses, statement of changes in net financial assets and
statement of cash flows for the year thén ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards, and for
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

My responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on
my audit. I conducted my audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing
standards. Those standards require that I comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

In my view, the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
my audit opinion.
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BC IMMIGRANT INVESTMENT FUND LTD.
Independent Auditor’s Report

Opinion

In my opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of BC Immigrant Investment Fund Ltd. as at March 31, 2017, and the results
of its operations, changes in its remeasurement gains and losses, changes in its net financial
assets and its cash flows for the vear then ended in accordance with Canadian Public Sector

Accounting Standards.
Q‘M BueQ
Victoria, British Columbia Russ Jones! FCPA, FCA
June 26, 2017 Deputy Auditor General
(
Auditor General
of British Columbia f
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BC IMMIGRANT INVESTMENT FUND LTD.

CONSOLIBATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

fir 3000}
AS AT MARCH 31 2017 2016
(Restated
Note 13)
Financial Assets
Cash 9,954 55911
Investments 31612 28,578
Accounts receivable 1 2
Loan receivable (Nofe 4) 178,289 212,593
Venture investments (Note 5} 49038 54 068
268 894 351 450
Liabifities
Accounts payable and accrued liohilities 131 328
Promissory noles (Nore 6} 216,337 303,683
216,668 303,933
Net Financial Assets 52,226 47,517
Non-Finaneial Assets
Prepaid cxpenses - 13
Accumulated Surplus _32.228 42,530
Accumulated swplus is comprised of:
Accumulated operating surplus 49,572 45,503
Accumulated remeasurement gains 2,654 2027
52 226 47 534)
SIGNIFICANT EVENTS (Vote 2}
COMMITMENTS (Note 8
Director
- Director
The accsmpa!grmg notes dre an integral part of these consolidated financial statentonts.
4
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BC IMMIGRANT INVESTMENT FUND LTD.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND ACCUMULATED SURPLUS

{in 8600
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31 Budgeted 2017 2416
Figures {Restated
(Note 12) Note 13)
Revenues:
Venture capital investment incame - 1,177 9236
Realized fnvestment gain 3,971 2. 952
Interest income 6074 6.326 1611
10,045 1508 17.769
Expenses (Nate 1 1): 3,160 3,436 14,086
Annual operating surplus 6,885 4,069 3,713
Accumulated annual cperating surplus at beginning of year, e
As previously reported 47,896 52,949 47,896 {
Adjustments io accumulated surplus (7,446) (6,106)
Acceurnulated annual operating swplus at beginning of year,
&5 restated 47,808 45,503 41,790
Accumnulated anmual operating surplus at end of year 54,781 49,572 45,303

The accompanying notes are an imegral part of these consolidmed financial sratements.
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BC IMMIGRANT INVESTMENT FUND LTD,

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF REMEASUREMENT GAINS AND LOSSES
(it 3000}

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31 2017 2016

Accumulated remeasurement gains at the beginning

of the year 2,027 2,445
Unrealized gains atiributable to:
Foreign exchange gain 587 1,765
Investment gain 2 {1,333)
Amaunts reclassified to the statement of operations
Foteign exchange 2 (830)
Investment - i
Change in remeasurement gains for the year 627 (418}
Accumulated remeasurement gatns at the end of the year 2,654 2027

The accompanying notes are an tntegral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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BC IMMIGRANT INVESTMENT FUND LTD.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGE IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS

(in $000)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31 2017 2016
(Restated
Nofe 13
Annual operating surplus 4,069 3,713
Acquisition of prepaid expenses - (21)
Use of prepaid expenses i3 i3
4,082 3,707
Effect of remeasurement gains 627 i
Increase in net financial assets 4,709 3,289
Net financial assets at the beginning of the year,
as previously reported 50,334
Effect of financial asset restatement {6,106}
Net financial assets at the beginning of year, restated 47,517 44,228 (
Net financial assets at the end of the year 52226 47,517
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statemenis.
) 7
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BC IMMIGRANT INVESTMENT FUND LTD.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(in $000)
FORTHE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31 2017 2016
{Restated
Note 13}
Opersting mansactions;
Annual Surplus. 4,069 3,713
Ttems not involving cash:
Gains on Venture Capitel distributions {1,173) (9,236)
Amortization of promissory discount 3,294 4,581
Reslized investment gain @ (952)
Impairment loss on venture capital investments 8,366
Changes in don-cach operating working capital:
Acconnts receivable - 2
Prepaid expenses 13 6)
Accounts payable {193) 154
Acerued loan interest 95 64
Cash pravided by operating activities 6,103 6,686
Financing transactions:
Cash received from promissory notes 838 3,003
Repaymentirefund of promissory notes (91.201) {118,558)
Cash provided by fnancing activities {90.3631 {i15.465)
Investing transactions: :
Purchase of investments, net af redamptions {2,105} (7.454)
Repayment of loan principal 34,209 30,182
Cepital calls to venture capital funds ' (7.619) (7,751)
Returns from venture eapital funds 13.818 15,496
Cash pravided by investing activities 38,303 30433
Increase (decrease) in cash (45,950 (78,346}
Cash at bepinning of year 33311 134257
Cash at end of year 9,954 55911
The accompanying roics are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
8
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BC IMMIGRANT INVESTMENT FUND LTD.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Tabidar cmowsts in 5000)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31,2017

1. NATURE OF BUSINESS

BC Immigrant Investmeni Fund Ltd. {the “Corporation”) was incorporated on September 19, 2000, under the laws
of British Columbia and is wholly owned by the Pravince of British Columbia.

The Corporation is an approved {und urder the Federal Immigrant Investor Program (the “Program™). The
Program provides an opporunity for experienced business persons to immigrate o Canada after making an
investment in a fund approved by a Province acd the Minister of Citizenship and Immigration. The accurnulated
operating-surplus includes one issued common share of the Comporation, of nominal value, which is held by the
Minister of Internaticnal Trade and Minister Responsible for the Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism. The
Minister acts as agent for approved fiunds by receiving investments from immigrant investors and disbuwrsing them
to approved funds according to an allocation formula set out in the Immigration Regulations, 1978. The
regulations require approved funds participating in the Program to invest in economic initiatives, which will create
emplayment in Canada to fostér the devzlopment of a strong and viable economy.

The Minister of Finance acts as a fiscal agent for the Corporation. The Corporation is exempt from federal and
provincial taxes.

T

2. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

On February 11, 2014, the Federal Government announced its intention to terminate the existing Federal
[mmigrant Investor Program. Investor applications that were in progress at that time are currently being processed
with the allacation of the finds continuing to flow through to the Corporatior, It is expected that the allocafions of
the funds to the Corporation will continue through the next fiscal ysar, although the amounts received are expected
ta be lower than has historically beeén the case. The current cash flows from the Corporation contfrue to meet all
repayment obligations to the Federal Government.

On October 13, 2016, the B.C. Renaissance Capital Fund Ltd. (“BCRCF") éntersd into a Limited Parmership
Agrezment with BC Tech Fund GP Inc. to form BC Tech Fund Limited Partnership (“BC Tech Fund™). BC Tech
Fund is a limited parmership under the laws of the Province of British Columbia.

The purpose of the BC Tech Fund is to invest in B.C. based venture capital funds and B.C. based companies in
order to achieve superior long-term financial retums while strengthening and growing the venture capital system in
the Pravince of British Columbia to fue] long term economic growth and diversification.

BCRCF has committed $100M of capital to the BC Tech Fund. {Notz 8)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Aecounting

These consolidated financial statements are prepared by management in accordance with penerally actepted
accounting principles establishéd by the Canadian Public Sector Accounting Baard.
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BC IMMIGRANT INVESTMENT FUND LTD.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Tabular ameurits in $000)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2017

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Basis of Consolidation

The censolidated financial statements include the assets, liabilities, resnits of operations and cash flows of the
Carporatien and its wholly ewned subsidiary, BCRCF. All intercompany transactions and balances have been
eliminated upon conselidation. -

On October 22, 2007, BCRCF was incorporated under the Business Corporations Aet and is a wholty-owned
subsidiary. of the BC Immigrant Investment Fund Lid. Since incorporation, the management team and Board of
Ditectars for BCRCF are the same as those far the Corporation. The primary business of BCRCF, a Fund of
Funds, is to stimulate economic development and generate retams.

Prepaid Expenses

Prepaid expenses includs software licensing and educational course ampunts and are charged to expenss over the
period expected to benefit fram it,

Revenue Recognition

Revenues are recognized in the period in which the transactions or events occuited that gave rise 1o revenues.

Venture Capital Investment Income represents BCRCF's portion of distribution of proceeds resulting from the
divestinure of investments held by the Funds. Income is recognized once all paid in capital to the find has been
returned. Previously BCITF recorded revanue based on venture fund description of source transactions. (Note 13) ' !

Realized i;westrﬁent gains. represents realized investment and foralgn exchange gains and losses eamed in
operating cash accounts and investments, and is recognized on an accrual basis,

Interast income from Joans receivable is recognized on an accrual basis.
Expenses

Expenses are reported on an accrual basis, The cost of all goods censumed and services received during the year is
expensed.

Promissory Note Discount

Promissory notes are received at.a discount. The discount is recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the term of the promissory notes.

As promissory notes were established by the Immigration Regulations, 1978, they are not considered financiat
mstruments and the discount is not recognized as interest expense.

Foreign Currengy Translation

10
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BC IMMIGRANT INVESTMENT FUND LTD.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Tahular amomnts in $000)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2017

3, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency transactions are transtated at the exchange rate prevailing a1 the date of transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities, and non-monatary items included in the fajr value measurement category
denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Canadian dellars at the exchange mie prevailing at the
finaecial statement date. Unrealized foreign cxchange gains and losses are recognized in the statement of
remeasurement pains and losses. In the period of setilement, realized foreign exchange gains and losses are
recognized in the statement of gperations, and the cumulative amount of remeasurement gains and losses is
reversed innthe statementof remeasurement gains and losses.

Measurement Uncerfainty

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in cenformity with Canadian public sector accounting
standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affcct the reporting amaunis of assets
and liabilities, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities; at the date of the consolidated financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. Iteras requiring the use of
significant estimates include the valuation of venture capital investments for any possibie impairment.

Estimates are based on the best information available at the time of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements and are reviewed amnually to reflect new information as it becomes aveifable. Measurement
uncerfainty exists in these cansolidated financial statements. Actual results could differ from thesc estimaies.

Financial Instruments
Equity instruments quoted in an active market are measured at fair value. All other financial assets and financial

linbilities are measured at cost or amortized cost. The following classification system is nsed to describe the basis
of the inputs used to measure the fair valoe of financial instruments in'the fair valze measurement category:

Level | Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
ltabilities
Level 2 Market-based inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the

asset or liability either direcily or indirectly

Level 3 Inputs for the asset or liabilities that are not based on observable market
data; assumptions are based on the best intemal and external infermation
available and are most suitable and appropijate based on the-type of
financial instument being valued in otder to establish what the
transaction price would have been on the measurement date in anarm's
[ength transaction

Unvealized pains and losses from changes in the fair value of financial inttruments are recognized in the
consolidated statement of remeasurement gains and losses. Upon settlement, the cumulative gain or loss is
reclassified from the consolidated statement of remeasurement gains and losses and recognized in the eansolidated
statement of operations. Interest and dividends attributable to financial instruments are reported in the consolidated
statement of cperations.

1
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BC IMMIGRANT INVESTMENT FUND LTD.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Tabular amounts in $000)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2017

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

All fimancial assets recorded at amortized cost are tesied annnally for impainment. When financial assets are
Impaired, impairment losses ars recorded in the staterment of operdtions. A write-down of an investment to reflect a
loss in value i3 not reversed for a subsequent increase in value.

For financial instruments measured using arnortized cost, the effective interest rate method is uscd to determine
nterest revenue or expense.

Transaction costs are a component of cost for financial instruments measured using cost or amortized cost,
Transaction costs are expensed for financial instruments measured at fair valce,

i Cash

Cash includes both cash and highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash and that are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. The
investments have a maturity. of six months or less at acquisition and are held for the purpose
of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for investing. They consist of equities
which are reported at fair value and are measured using a Level 1 valuation.

it Investments

The Corporation invests in pooled fend products managed by the British Columbia
[nvestments Management Cotporation (beIMC), a corporation established under the
Public Sector Pension Plans Act.

Equity investments quoted in 2n active market are reported al fair value using a Level |
valuation.

fii. Accounts and loans receivable

Accounts and loans receivable are recorded at amontized cost using the effective interest
methiod less any amount for valvation allowance. Valuation allowances are made to reflect
loans receivable at the lower of amortized cost and net recoverable value, when
collectability and risk of loss exists. Changes in valuation allowance ave recognized in the
statement of operations. [nterest is accrued on loans receivable to the extent it is deemed
callectible,

iv. Venture investments

The Corporation invests in venture investments a5 a Limited Partmer. These investments are
reported al costas there is no quoted market price in an active market.

V. Debt and other financial liabilities

All debt and other financial liabilities are recorded using cost or amortized cost.
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BC IMMIGRANT INVESTMENT FUND LTD,

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
{Tabular amonnis in 306()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2817

r——

4. LOANS RECEIVABLE

March 31
2017

March 31
2016

Due from British Columbia Instiute of Technology, principal of
560,000,000, the outstanding balance is being amortized in equal
blenrded guarterly payrients of interest and principal at an annual
interast Tate of 2.70% over a & year term. The outstanding balance of
this loan will be due in full o August 1, 2017, 44,376

Due from University of the Fraser Valley, principal of $13,919,748,
the oatstanding balance is being amartized in equal blended quarterly
payments of interest and principal at 2n ammual interest rate of 5.153%
over a 25 year teym. The owtstanding balance of this loan will be dus
in full an August 1,2017. 10,651

Due from University of Victoria, principal of $5000,000, the
cutstanding balance is being amortized in equal blended quarterly
payments of interest and principal at an annual interest rate of 4.75%
over 8 20 year term. ‘The loan was patd in full March §, 2017. -

Due frem University of Victoria, principal of 510,000,000, the
ocutstanding balance is being amortized in equal biended guarterly
payments of interest and principal at an ennual interest rate of 2.48%
over a 10 year term. The outstarding balance of this loan will be due
in full on May 2, 2023, 8,517

Due from Nicola Valley Institute of Technology, principal of
$3,300,000, the cutstanding balance is being amortized in equal
blended quarterly payments of intercst and principal at an anoual
interest rate of 4.9% over a- 30 year term. The oulistanding balance of
this loan will be due in full on Septémber 1, 2017. The loan had an
interest free period which impacted the azccounting balance and
effective rate of Toan, For accounting purposes, the estimated interest
foregone has been reconded 25 an increase in the loan receivable using
the effective interest method to the maturity date of the loan and will
be accredited to interest income over the term of the loan. As a result,
the effective interest rate on the loan is 4.77% per annum. . 2,725

46,401

11,891

3,328

8,038

2,800

Carried Forward 66,269

72,558
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BC IMMIGRANT INVESTMENT FUND LTD.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
{Tabular amaunts in 3000}

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2017

Brought forward 66,269

Duoe from Simon Fraser University, principal of $5,100,000, the
outstanding balance is being amortized in equal blended quarterly

paytnents of interest and principal at an.annual interest rate of 5.20% -
over a 30 year term. The balance was paid in fisll March 1, 2017

Due from the Province of Brifish Columbia, principal of
$100,000,008, the outstanding balance s being amnortized in equal
blended quarterly payments of interest and principal at an annual
interest rate of 3.46% over a 10 year term. The ouistanding balance of
this foan will be due in full an December 18, 2019. 31,060

Due from the Province of British Colurabia, principal of $75,000,000,

the outstanding balance is being amortized in equal blended quarterly

payments of interest and principzal at an annual interest rate of 3.18%

over a 10 vear tern. The outstanding balance of this loan will be due 30,999
on December 9, 2020,

Due from the Province of British Columbia, principal of $50,000,000,

the outstanding balarce is being amortized In equal blended quarterly

payments of interest and principal at an annual interest rate of 2.15%

over a 9 year term. The outstanding balance of this loan will be due 23,886
on Septernber 16, 2019.

Due from the Province of British Coluribia, principal of 45,000,000,
the owtstanding balance is being amortized in cqual blended quarterly
payments of interest and principal at an annual intersst rate of 2,.24%
over a 1) yzar term. The outstanding balance of this loan will be due
on December 8, 2022. 26,075

72,558

410

41,644

38,662

28,863

30,456

Total loans receivable 178,289

212,563
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BC IMMIGRANT INVESTMENT FUND LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
{Tabular amaums in $000)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31,2017
5. YENTURE INVESTMENTS
The B.C. Rengissance Capital Fund Lid. ("BCRCF"} has two venture investment partfolios (2016 — 1 portfolio).
In portfofio one, BCRCF invests in finds as a limited partner and has investments in nine venture funds with,
ownership percentages varying from 0.50% to 16.7%. In portfolio two, BCRCF invests in the BC Tech Fund as a.
limited partner with an awnership percentage of 99%. Cumulative contributions and returms of capital o date are:
March 31 Mareh 31
207 2016
{Restated
Note 13)
Canadian Dollar Funds
Cumulative contributions to date 45,837 39,181
Cumnulative returns of capital 19,528 8,434
US Dollar Funds . r
Cumulative contributions to date i 40,426 39,464
Cumulative retums of capital 9,330 1,718
An impairment totating $0 (2016: $8.37 million) in venture capital investments was identified by management
and reported on the Consalidated Statement of Operations. The sum of Canadian Doltar Funds and US Daollar
Funds less their respective cumulative retumns of capital, and adjusting for the prior year impairment, brings tofal
venture investments ta a closing balance of $49 million as at March 31, 2017 (2016; $54 miltion).
6. PROMISSORY NOTES
The. funds received from the Federal Immigrant Investor Program are repayable, without interest, five years after
they are received. The obligation of the Corporation is represented by non-tansferable zero interest promissory
notes. The Province of British Columbia fully guarantees these funds up to a maximum of $500 miilion.
Promissory note discount represents the amounts withheld on promissory notes received. The amount is emortized
over the life of the note.
March 31 March 31
2017 2016
Total promissoty notes, beginning of year 310,378 414,489
Additions during the year ) 859 14,447
Bepaid or refunded during the year {91,163) (118,558)
15
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BC IMMIGRANT INVESTMENT FUND LT,

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
{Tabular aniounts in 3006)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2017

&. FROMISSORY NOTES (continued)

220,114 310,378
Net pramissory note discount end of year

(3,510 (6,773)
Promissory notes, end of year 216,537 303,605

The estimated pﬁncipal payments over the next five years are as follows:

Year Amount
2018 62,229
2019 118,068
2020 35,61
221 3,297
2022 899

7. RISK MANAGEMENT '

The investment activities of the Cozporation expose. it to z variety of financial risks including credit risk, maricet
risk {which includes currency risk, interest rate and other price risk} and liquidity risk.

Credit Risk *

Credit risk is the risk associated with the insbility of a third party to fulfill payment obligations. The
Corporation is exposed to credit risk in the event of non-performance by a public sector borrawer to a
maximum value of the valoe of loans receivable, The Corporation assesses this risk when considering loans.
For the most part an unsgcured and general obligation from the public sector institution is judged sufficient to
mitigate credit risk; however, the Corporation has taken property as collateral on the loan to Simon Fracer
University to further mitigate potential eredit risks.

The Corpaoration is expased to credit risk associated with its cash depaosits and investments. This risk is
mitigated by placing deposits and investments in recognized British Columbia institutions, with investments
consisting entirely of high-quality shart-terrn funds. Therefore credit risk arising Bowm cash deposits and
investmenits is considered negligible.

The Corporation is also expased to credit risk in the event its retums from the venture capital initiatives are
below cost. The Corporation's investment portfolio diversification is based on an investment strategy
developed to generate retums la cover potentiat losses fidm its higher risk investments,

16
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BC IMMIGRANT INVESTMENT FUND LTD.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Tabular amounis in $000)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 371, 2017

7. RISK MANAGEMENT (cortinued)
Market Risk
Currency Risk

Currency risk is the risk that the valve of a finmcial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign
exchange rates. The Corporation is exposed to foreign currency exchange risk a¢-a rasult of its investments in
US venture capital initiatives, US investments and US dollar haldings.

Through the Corparation’s ventire capitat initiative, the Corporation has 2 fotal of $1.28 million USD (2016 -
$2.02 million USD) in remaining venture capital commitments, and holds approximately $19.3 million USD
(2016 - $17.43 million USD) ir investments and cash. At the statement of financial position date, cumrency
risk 15 negligible because the Corporation has sufficient USD on hand to satisfy commitmenis made.

The Corporation manages its foreign ewrency risk by holding. funds that are required to meet US venture

capital commitments in US dollar cash and US dollar investraents that generate annual retwms. Returns _
generated from investraents in venture capital funds will also be in US dollars. As the timing and value of {
returns from these investments cannof be reasopably estimated, the impact of cumrency rate fluctuations can

also not be estimated. :

US deltar investments held to provide funds for anticipated US dollar venture capital commitments have
resulted in unrealized foreign exchange gains of $2.63 millior (2016 - $1.77 milijon) being recopnizad in the
Statement of Remeasurement Gains,

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk arises fram the possibility that changes in market interast rates will affect future cash flows or
fair valnes of financial instruments. The Corporation is exposed to interest rate risk through jts investments,
The Corporation manages its exposure to interest rate risk by holding a portfolio of fixed snd floating rate
investments. The Corporation has invested its funds in loans receivable with fixed rate returns and
investrnents with British Columbia investinent Management Corporation (beIMC) on a foating rate basis.

If the Corporation were to have experienced a 1% change in the interost rate camed this would have impacted
interest income in the approximate amount of $2.6 million (2016 - $3.4 million) calculated os 1% of the
average book value of investments throughout the year.

Other Price Risk

Other price risk is the risk that the market value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fuctuate
because of changes in market prices. The Corporation is expossd 1o other price risk throngh both its
investments and venture capital investments, Venture capital investments carry a high risk; however, the
Corporation mitigates the risk by utilizing the expertise and skills of instilutional venture capital managers
with a track record of coramercial returns,

17
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BCEIMMIGRANT INVESTMENT FUND LTD.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
{Tabudar anounts. in $000)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31,2017

7. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Liguidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Cofporation will encounter difficulty in meeting cbligations associated with
its financial liabilities. In connection with the Corporation’s ongoing financing of opertions including
refinancing risk, management aims to ensure adequate liquidity of investments. The Corporation manages its
lquidity risk by placing deposits in cash and extremely liquid negotiable tnstruments, and monitoring the
duration of lending/investing activities. of the Corporation ta coincide with five year forecasted repayment
obligations (Note 6).

The Corporation is also exposed to liguidity risk associsted with the venture capital initiatives. The
Coarparation cannot readily sell the investments. As the Corporation invests in early stage venturé capital
initiatives that have a limited history of operations and whose business activities tend to be specutative, there
is ne assurance that such investments will provide positive funire cash flows. The Corporation attempts to
manage Liguidity risk by utilizing the expertise and skills of institutional venture capital manapers with a track
record of commercial renurns.

8. COMMITMENTS

B.C. Repaissance Capital Fund Ltd. has commitments in both CAD and USD te invest a$ a Limited Partner in
certain venture capital funds. The following table summarizes the total investment commitments, transfers made to
date and total commitments remaining:

March 31 March 31
2017 2016
Total USD investment commitments {(UUSD) 39,280 39,280
USD investment commitments transferred to date (USD) (38.003) (37,262)
Remazining USD investment commitments (USD) 1,297 2,018
Remeining USD investment commitments translated to CAD 1,701 2,617
Total CAD investment commitments 151,000 51,000
CAD invesoment commitments transferred ta date (45,83 {38,594)
Remaining CAD investment commitments 105,163 12,006
Apgrepate remaining invesiment commitments 106,864 14,623
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BC IMMIGRANT INVESTMENT FUND LTD.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Tabular amaunis n 5000)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2017

5. INDEMNITIES

As part of the Corporation's initiative 10 develop a portfolio of venhwe investments it has entered into the
following partnerships:

Portfolio 1: Arch Venture Fund VI, LP., Kearny Venture Purtners, L.P., VantagePoint Cican Tech Partners Ii,
L.P., VantagePoint Venture Partners 2006 {Q), L.F,, Axure Capital Partners JIT, L.P., Yaletown Venwres 11, L.P,
Tandem Expansion Fund I, L.P., {the Parmerships}, VanEdge Capital L, L.P., INovia Investment Fuznd I11 L.P; and

Portfolic 2: BC Tech Fund.

Under the terms of the partnership agreements, each Parmership has agreed fo indernify its General Partner
{including their members, employecs and agents) forcertain Mabilities, which the Geperal Partner may incur as &
result of activities undertaken in their capacity as General Partners. Management believes that po such Habilities
exist at March 31, 2017,

10, RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Carporation is related through common ownership to all Province of British Columbia ministries, agencies,
Crown corporations and 2ll other public sector organizations. Transactions with these entities are in the normal
course of operations and are recorded at the exchange amount.

As of Aprl 1, 2017, BCIIF kas a Memerandum of Understanding that the Ministry of International Trade and
Minister Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multicalturalism will incur the cost of operating expenditures
on behalf of BCHF without expectation of reimbursement. BCIIF will continue to record expendites due to the
amortization of promissory notes, Investment management fees, and investment losses (if any) as disclosed in note
il

The Province of British Columbia has provided a guzmentee to the Iederal government for the balance of the
promissory notes payable up to a maximum of $500 million.

-

Assers and liabilities with related parties include:

March 21 March 31

2017 2016
Cash (investnent account) 9,395 54,736
Accounts receivable 1 2
Loans receivable (NVote 4) 178,289 212,553
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities - (36}
19

a—
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BC IMMIGRANT INVESTMENT FUND LTD.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
{Tabular amounts in 5060)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31,2017

10. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued}

The consolidated statement of operations inciedes the fallowing transactions with related parties:

March 31
2016

7611
36

March 31
2016

68
4,581
{1

88 -
7
94
261
557
8,366

March 31
2017
Interest [ncome 6,326
Profassional fees -
11. EXPENSES BY OBJECT
Thie foltowing is a summary of expenses by object;
March 31
2017
Advertising and promotion -
Amartization of promissory note discount 3,254
Investrnént fees 156
Board of Director fees -
Director support services -
Office and business expenses {14)
Professional fees -
Salary, wages and benefits .
Venture capital investuent losses
3,436

14,086

12. BUDGETED FIGURES

Budgeted figures have been provided for comparison purposes and have been derived from the 2016/17 Service

Plan approved by the Beard Chair on February 16, 2016.

13. PRIOR YEAR RESTATEMENT

During the year, BCIIF changed its accounting policy for dismributions received from its venture capital
portfolio. Previously BCIHF recorded distributions as a mixture of return of capital and revenue based on
venture fund description of source transactions. The accounting policy chanpe was adopted to recognize
proceeds from fund distributions in alignment with terms set out in the Limited Partnership Agreements. For
each agreement, distributions are first reported as return of capital umtil all paid in capital has been

retumed. Revenue is only reported ance all paid in eapital has been retmed,

i
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BC IMMIGRANT INVESTMENT FUND LTD.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.
{Tabular amonnts in 8000) :

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2017

13. PRIOR YEAR RESTATEMENT (continued)

The following table summarizes the effect of this change for each financial line item affected.

Statement of Financial Position As Previously Adjustment Restated
reported,

March 31, 2016 March 31, 2016
WVenture investments 61,512 (7.446) 54,066
Net financial assets 54,953 (7,446) 47,517
Accumulated swplos 54,976 {7,446) 47,530
Accunulated operating surplus 52,949 {7,446} 45,503
Statement of Operations and
Accumulated Surplus
Venture capital investent 10,576 (1,340) 9,236 (
income
Annual operating surplus 5,053 (1,340) 3,713
Accumulated annual operating 47,896 {6,1058) 41,790
surplus at beginning of year
Accumulated annual operating 52,949 (7.,446) 45,501
surplus at end of year
Statement af Changes in Net
Financlal Assets
Annual operating surplus 5,053 (1,340) 3,713
Increase in net financial assets 4,629 (I,340) 3,289
Net financial assets atthe 50,334 (6,106) 44,928
beginning of the year
Net financial assets at the end of 54,563 (7.446) 42,517
the year
Statement of Changes in Cash
Flows
Annual Surplus 5,053 (1,3440) 3,713
Gains on venture capital _ {10,578) 1,340 (5,236)
distributions

21
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Appendix A - Subsidiaries and Operating Segments

Venture Capital Investments: The BC Immigrant Investment Fund (BCIIF) includes two venture
capital portfolios through the B.C. Renaissance Capital Fund (BCRCF), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
BCIIF. The members of the board of directors and management are the same as the BCIIF. Venture
capital investments focus on funds and companies in the information and communications technology,
digital media, clean tech, and life science sub-sectors. The Corporation’s venture capital investments
are managed by a private sector [und manager.

o Portfolio 1 — the BCRCF is comprised of investment comimitments to cight fund managers
between 2007 and 2011. The BCRCF is a matured $90-million fund-of-funds intended to
attract venture capital fund managers and their investments to B.C.

o Portfolio 2 — the BC Tech Fund is a $100-million fund-of-funds® launched in 2016 that
makes investments into B.C.-based ventuie capital funds and direct investments into B.C.
technology companies. The BC Tech Fund is {ocused on investments at the Serics A s‘[ag_eS of
financing.

Summary of BCRCF’s Fund-of-Funds Portfolios
P T B A e
1-BCRCF 2007 ARCH Venture Partners N/A
VantagePoint Capital Partners
Kearny Venture Partners
12009 Vanedge Capital Partners LTD N/A
Tandem Expansion
Yalctown Veniure Partners

2011 Azure Capital N/A
Novia Capital
2 ~ BC Tech Fund 2016 Vanedge 11 (Vanedge Capital Mojio (B.C. Company)

Partners LTD)

1 A fund-of-funds is a fund that invests in investment funds. In the case of the BC Tech Fund, investments are also made
directly into lech companies.
% Series A financing is the first round of financing from institulional investors after friends, family and angel investment.
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BCRCF: Summary Financial Outlook Table

Total Revenue' 9,236 1,177 N/A N/A N/A
1 BCRCF financial accounts are consolidated into the parent company statements of BCIIF. To be conservative given the
high-risk nature of venture capital investinents, venture capital income is reported as it is realized.
{
(
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Appendix B — Additional Information

BC Immigrant Investment Fund (BCIIF)
Additional information on BCIIF can be found at: http://beiif.ca/about-beiif/overview/
Standards of Conduct: http://bciif.ca/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/Standards-of-Conduct-2014.pdf

B.C. Renaissance Capital Fund Ltd. (BCRCF)

Additional information on investment strategy, venture capital fund managers, and investee
companies of BCRCF, a wholly-owned subsidiary of BCIIF, can be found at: http://bciif.ca/about-
beref/overview/

Corporate Governance

We are governed by a board of directors that is responsible to the minister responsible for the
implementation of government direction. The board’s direction is implemented by management, who
carry out the day-to-day operations of the corporation under the supervision of the CEO. For more
information on corporate governance, please refer to our web page at: http://bciif.ca/about-
beiif/leadership/

Organizational Overview

For information on our organizational structure, please refer to our web page at: http://beiif.ca/about-
beiif/leadership/

Contact Information
For more information on BC Immigrant Investment Fund Ltd. contact:

3rd floor-1803 Douglas Street
Victoria, B.C. V8T 5C3

Bindi Sawchuk, CEO
Bindi.Sawchuk@bciif.ca
250 952-0614

or visit our website at: www.bciif.ca
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Appendix C — Crown Corporations Mandate and Actions Summary

In the 2016/17 Mandate Letter from the minister responsible, BCIIF received direction on strategic
priorities for the 2016/17 fiscal year. Government mandated direction and the Crown cerporation’s

resulting actions are:

As a result of the federal termination of
the federal Immigrant Investor Program,
the BC Investment Corporation will
work with the Ministry of International
Trade to complete the BCIIF mandate
review and implement new mandate
direction. During this review period, no
new investment opportunities are to be
pursued.

BCIIF worked in partnership with the Ministry of
International Trade on the mandate review which
was completed in December, 2015. During this
period, the BCIHF put all new investments on hold.

BCRCF launched the $100 million BC Tech Fund as
a result of the mandate review and new mandate
direction.

To minimize the exposure of accessing
the guarantee that the Province has given
to the federal government on monics
received under the Imimigrant Investor
Program, by maintaining best-business
and investment practices to realize
positive investment returns.

BCIIF met its monthly federal HP repayment.
obligations in part due to best-business and
investment practices. BCIIF invests funds with the
BC Investment Management Corporation (bcIMC)
and the Province’s Central Deposit Program (CDP)
ensuring adequate liquidity to meet cash payment
requirements.

Also see Goal 1 and related performance
measurcracnt,

To monitor and report on its capital
commitments of up to $90 nillion in
venture capital investments.

BCIIF/BCRCF monitored the performance of its
investments through quarterly reporting to the
nunistry, board of directors and central government.

To use either the Ministry of Finance or
BC Investment Management Corporation
for investment or deposit of funds in
liquid investments, other than amounts
allocated to venture capital and
Government Reporting Entity
irivestments, :

BCIIF held short-term investments in an investment
pool managed by bcIMC comprised of short-term,
low risk, and high quality government and corporate
debt securities. :

Since 2013, BCIIF funds have also been invested
with the Ministry of Finance in the CDP, which
deploys the short-term monies primarily for
financing the Consolidated Revenue FFund.
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~ Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.

Statutory Authority: Corporations Act

Type of Organization: Crown Corporation _
Appointment Process: Shareholder Consent Resolution,

Background:

Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. (FII) is the British Columbia Government’s
market development agency for forest products.

The forest sector represents the largest manufacturing sector in B.C. and
roughly ane-third of B.C.'s regional econamies are moderately- to heavily-
reliant on the sector. Because of this, building and maintaining markets is
important to a strong and growing British Columbia

Developing and diversifying international markets is particularly important
since over 80 per cent of B.C.’s forest products are sold outside of Canada.

The Government of B.C. established Fll in 2003 to build markets
internationally and domestically for B.C. forest products.

Program Description:

Fli works to provide information, analysis, communication tcols and financiat
resources for the benefit of the broader forest sector.

In fulfilling its mandate, the Company funds not-for-profit organizations to
undertake market development and research projects of benefit to the forest
sector. Fil also works on behalf of the Government and the forest industry to
act as a catalyst to foster the development of new, emerging markets for the
B.C. industry.

About half of Fll's budget supparts programs delivered by industry trade
associations and other pariners. The federal government and industry also
financially support these programs.

FlI's mandate is to support the economy of B.C. by;

- working in collaboration with the forest sector to maintain existing markets for B.C.

forest products and thereby support forgstry jobs throughout province;

- opening up new markets for B.C. forest products and creating the potential for new

jobs to service these markets;

- building awareness of B.C. internationally, particularly in China, India and elsewhere
in the Asia-Pacific region, which helps strengthen and grow trade ties; and

— supporting the growth of a sustainable and green economy by promoting the
environmental benefits of using renewable wood from B.G. in structural and non-

structural applications.

Last update; May 9, 2017
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Organizational Chart:

Board of Directors
Tim Sheldon, Chair
Shannon L. Baskerville
Clark Murray Roberts
Dave Peterson
Sandra Carroll
Robin Dhir

Michael Loseth
CEO

Bruce St. John
Vice President
International Marketing

Sonya Zeitler-Fletcher
Vice President
Market Development

Douglas Greig
Vice President
& Chief Financial Officer

Decision required:

e Forinformation only. No decision required.

Website: www.bcfii.ca/

Contacts:

Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.:
Kevin Regan

Director, Corporate Relations
(604) 685-7507
Email: kevin.regan@bcfii.ca

Last update: May 9, 2017

Ministry:

James Hammond

Assistant Deputy Minister,
International Strategy and Competitiveness

Division

(604) 952-0367
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EXECUTIVE MEMBER BIOGRAPHIES

Michael Loseth
CEO

Michael Loseth is responsible for ensuring that Fil's programs reflect the Government'’s priorities in
assisting the British Columbia forest sector to thrive in the global economy, while maintaining
productive and collaborative working relationships with the forest sector, other levels of
government, and key stakeholder groups. Michael oversees the company’s international and
domestic activities, making sure they support and advance B.C.’s reputation for sustainable forest
management, the technical and environmental attributes of B.C. forest products, the merits of
wood building solutions, and innovation within the sector. Under Michael’s leadership, Fll helps
position British Columbia and the B.C. forest sector within the global market, assessing market
needs and opportunities and promoting B.C.’s forest products and forest management practices.

Michael is responsible for all aspects of Fll's operations, bringing a strategic and focused approach
to program design and delivery. Michael is the sole Executive Director of the company’s subsidiary
in China, and is the Chair of the Board of Directors of the company’s subsidiary in India.

Phone: 604-685-7507
Email: loseth@bcfii.ca

Last update: May 3, 2017 Page 1 of 4
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Doug Greig
Vice President & Chief Financial Officer

Doug Greig provides leadership, business discipline and corporate direction to the financial and
administrative operations of the company. Doug assists in the establishment of strategic and
performance targets and helps manage the organization of resources to accomplish annual and
long-range goals. Doug is responsible for developing and improving financial, human resource,
information technology and administrative controls, policies and procedures for the offices in
Vancouver B.C., Shanghai, China and Mumbai, India. Doug endeavours to continually improve the
accountability and transparency to the management of risk, internal financial and operational
controls, as well as the protection of assets. Doug is a member of the Board of Directors of the
company’s subsidiary in India and is the Board Supervisor for the company’s subsidiary in China.

Phone: 604-601-5301
Email: doug.greig@bcfii.ca

Last update: May 3, 2017 Page 2 of 4
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Sonya Zeitler Fletcher
Vice President, Market Development

Sonya Zeitler Fletcher leads FIlI's Wood First and Market Outreach programs. Sonya is responsible
for research, marketing and communications strategies and initiatives that address market
demands such as “Why use wood?” and “Why purchase wood products from British

Columbia?” Under Sonya’s leadership, the Wood First and Market Outreach programs encourage
wood as a first choice for construction and daily living in British Columbia, while expanding North
American and overseas market recognition of B.C.’s world-class forest practices and products.
Working closely with an array of stakeholders, including forest-sector firms, trade associations,
research institutes, and government agencies, Sonya aligns messaging on new product
developments and wood building solutions, as well as drives priorities around issues and brand
challenges in the marketplace.

Phone: 604-601-5305
Email: sonya.zeitlerfletcher@bcfii.ca

Last update: May 3, 2017 : Page 3 of 4
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Bruce St. John
Vice President, International Marketing

Bruce St. John is responsible for informing the strategy to position the B.C. forest sector in the

global marketplace. This includes assessing trends and developing business opportunities that have

the potential to expand export markets for B.C. forest products and building solutions. Bruce

supports FIl’'s mandate by assessing risks, influencing decisions and providing effective counsel in

global marketplace activities. In support of stakeholder relations, Bruce interacts with senior-level
provincial, federal and international government representatives and key forest industry

stakeholders to achieve corporate and sector objectives. When in international markets, Bruce

represents the company and the Province of British Columbia as it relates to Fll programming and

forest sector activities. (

Phone: 604-601-5303
Email: bruce.st.john@bcfii.ca

Last update: May 3, 2017 Page 4 of 4
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS BIOGRAPHIES

Tim Sheldan
Deputy Minister, Chair

Tim Sheldan was appointed Deputy Minister of Forests, Lands and Natural Resource Operations on
October 9, 2013. Prior to this appointment, he spent 5 years as Director General in Edmonton, Alberta for i
Natural Resources Canada. Tim spent the majority of his career working in the BC Public Service, for the
former Ministry of Forests and Range—culminating in his appointment as Assistant Deputy Minister,
Operations, from 2003-08. Previously, Tim spent 23 years in various field, operational and management
positions at the regional and district level in many locations across British Columbia, both coast and
interior.

Prior to his government experience, Tim worked for several years for the forest industry and consulting on
the coast. He also spent time as a city councillor while in Merritt, B.C.

Tim graduated from Vancouver Island University (previously Malaspina College) in Nanaimo, B.C. and is a
graduate of several management and Executive Development programs.

Last Update: June 14, 2017 Page 1 of 6
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Sandra Carroll
Deputy Minister, Audit Committee Chair

Sandra Carroll was appointed Deputy Minister of the Ministry of Advanced Education on September 6,
2013.

Sandra has a 26-year career within the BC Public Service and has held a variety of executive positions. Most
recently, she was Deputy Minister of International Trade and Minister Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy
and Multiculturalism with responsibilities that included international and internal trade policy as well as
export market development and the investment and venture capital program. She was the Chief Operating
Officer (COO) with the Ministry of Health, providing corporate leadership for the health system innovation
and change agenda. She was also the lead on health labour and negotiations and provided leadership and
oversight for the Medical Services and Health Human Resources Division, Health Sector IM/IT and
Pharmaceutical Services divisions. Previous appointments include Assistant Deputy Minister of Economic
Development, Assistant Deputy Minister of Policy and Planning, and Assistant Deputy Minister of
Partnerships, Ministry of Transportation.

Sandra has received the Premier’s Award in Excellence for the delivery and implementation of the Drive BC
program and also received the Premier’s Award for Organizational Excellence for the Olympic and
Paralympic Games. Sandra has an Associated Arts Diploma in Business and is a recent graduate from the
Advanced Leadership Program with the Canadian School of Public Service.

Last Update: June 14, 2017 Page 3 of 6
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Dave Peterson
Assistant Deputy Minister

In March 2011, Dave Peterson was appointed to his present role as the Assistant Deputy Minister of the
Tenures, Competitiveness and Innovation Division of the Ministry of Forests, Lands and Natural Resource
Operations (FLNRO).

In this position, Dave provides leadership to the Division, which includes the following five branches:
Forest Tenures; Competitiveness and Innovation; Compensation and Business Analysis; Land Tenures; and
Crown Land Opportunities and Restoration. In 2016, the Rural Secretariat was added to this division.

Over the years, Dave has held many roles. In May 2012, he was appointed the additional role of the
Chief Forester after the retirement of Jim Snetsinger, until December 2014. He was temporarily appointed
the role of Acting Deputy Minister for FLNRO from April 2013 to October 2013.

Prior to 2011, Dave served as the Assistant Deputy Minister, Regional Operations South for the Ministry of
Natural Resource Operations beginning in November 2010. He served as the Assistant Deputy Minister,
Field Operations for the Ministry of Forests and Range from February 2010 to November 2010, and
Assistant Deputy Minister for BC Timber Sales since December 2005.

Raised on Vancouver Island, Dave started his career with the BC Forest Service in the summer of 1973. He
graduated with honours from the University of Victoria with a Bachelor of Science in Physical Geography —
Natural Resource Management in 1980, and became a Registered Professional Forester in 1985.

Dave worked in a number of forest districts before moving into the Cariboo Forest Region office, advancing
up to the position of Regional Staff Manager. Following the completion of a major land use planning
exercise in the Cariboo, in 1995 he moved into the private sector as President of the Cariboo Lumber
Manufacturers’ Association (CLMA).

Upon the disbanding of the CLMA, he took on the role of Vice-President Woodlands with Lignum Ltd.
Corporate acquisitions led to positions with Riverside Forest Products, then Tolko Industries. During this
period, he became the Interior industry lead on joint industry/ministry Land Use Planning, Timber Pricing,
and Softwood Lumber Technical committees.

Last Update: June 14, 2017 Page 5 of 6
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Robin Dhir
Strategic Advisor, Fasken Martineau
President, Twin Brook Developments Ltd

Robin Dhir is a strategic advisor for Fasken Martineau and President of Twin Brook Developments Ltd., a
residential real estate company with holdings and business ventures in Canada, India and the United
States. Previously, Mr. Dhir was a senior development manager for Kodak Canada Inc. and a top ranking
sales representative for Gillette Co.’s Duracell division. He is recipient of the Darpan Extraordinary
Achievement Award for Advancing Philanthropy (2013). Mr. Dhir was named among the Top 40
Professionals Under 40 by Business in Vancouver (2011) and 100 Most Influential South Asians in B.C. by
the Vancouver Sun. Active in his community, he is a director of Canada Place, a director with the
Vancouver Board of Trade, founder of the annual A Night of Miracles gala dinner fundraiser for the BC
Children’s Hospital and director of Genuine 5, a group of business people who put on events to fund
children’s charities. In addition, he is a Governor for the BC Children’s Hospital Foundation, Co-Chair of the
Fundraising Committee for Junior Achievement of BC and a member of the Simon Fraser University (SFU)
India Advisory Council. He completed his Bachelor of Business Administration at Simon Fraser University.

Last Update: June 14, 2017 Page 6 of 6
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JAN 18 2017 Ref: 16906

Mr. Tim Sheldan

Chair

Board of Directors

Forestry Innovation Investment
1200 - 1130 West Pender Street
Vancouver, BC V6E 4A4

Dear Mr. Sheldan:

This Mandate Letter confirms your organization’s mandate, provides government’s annual
strategic direction and sets out key performance expectations for the 2017/18 fiscal year.

On behalf of the Province of British Columbia, thank you for your leadership and the
contributions made by Forestry Innovation Investment over the past year and congratulations on
the efforts made towards the following achievements:

e Completing an update of the strategic plan for China market development which
includes emphasis on remanufacturing opportunities and new building systems, as well as
an expanded government relations outreach to broader national and regional audiences;

e Implementing an accelerated market development strategy for India that is now
aggressively pursuing new opportunities for BC’s unique wood products in the north and
south of India;

e  Collaborating with the Ministry of Forests, Lands and Natural Resources and industry
to develop a two-year pilot program for the value-added wood products sector that focuses
on export readiness and support for new exporters to the key US market; and,

e Continuing to grow the global acceptance of wood in new, innovative building

solutions, particularly taller and larger structures — a market segment offering huge
potential for BC forest sector.

il

Ministry of International Trade and  Office of the Minister Mailing Address: Location:
Minister Responsible for PO Box 9063 Stn Prov Govt Room 342
Asia Pacific Strategy and Victoria BC V8W 9E2 Parliament Buildings
Multiculturalism Phone: 250 953-0910 Victoria BC
Fax: 250 953-0928 www.gov.bc.ca/mit
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e

BC’s Corporate Governance Framework takes a principles-based approach in providing direction
for effective governance of ministries and Public Sector Organizations (PSOs). Since June 2014,
the Taxpayer Accountability Principles (TAP) have provided gnidance to ensure that the actions
taken and services provided strengthen accountability and promote cost control while meeting
the public policy objectives established by government on behalf of the citizens of BC..

[t is critical that public sector organizations operate as efficiently as possible, in order to ensure
British Columbians are provided with effective services at the lowest cost possible. This requires
constant focus on maintaining a cost-conscious and principled culture through the efficient
delivery of services that stand the test of public scrutiny and help develop a prosperous economy
it an environmentally sustainable manner. This is critical to government’s commitment to
control spending and balance the budget.

Government is making open information a priority across the public sector to enthance
government transparency and accountability in the use of public resources, the delivery of
programs and public services.

Government provided the following mandate direction to Forestry Innovation Investment under

the Business Corporations Act to position BC as a global supplier of world-class

environmentally friendly forest products; actively maintain, create and diversify demand for BC

forest products in Canada and in key world markets; help break down non-tariff trade and market

barriers to ensure opportunities for BC forest products; work with the forest industry to promote

BC's forest products and forest management to the global marketplace; and help ensure that the (
forest sector, through product development and strong international sales, continues to be a

leading contributor to the BC economy.

To achieve this mandate, Forestry Innovation Investment is directed to take the following
strategic actions:

e Retain a strong focus on building markets in Asia by:
o Advancing markets in China; ensuring that programs target areas offering strong
potential return to BC producers;
o Expanding the market development effort in India, in cooperation with industry
and the Ministry of International Trade; and,
o Working with the forest industry in identifying and advancing opportunities in
Southeast Asia.

» Continue the implementation of the five-year strategic plan to expand the consumption of
BC wood products by:
o Promoting wood's environmental merits and working with partners to position
wood as a preferred building material; and
o Expanding opportunities for wood use in advanced building systems, with an
emphasis on mass timber and taller wood construction.

43 {
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e Collaborate with the Ministry of Forests, Lands and Natural Resource Operations on the
delivery of government's commitments to expanding markets for the Value Added
Wood Products under “Strong Past, Bright Future: A Competitiveness Agenda for
British Columbia’s Forest Sector” and the “BC Jobs Plan”, specifically ensuring
alignment between government-funded agencies on initiatives to promote the use of
wood as a building material, wood's positive environmental attributes and BC's
sustainable forestry practices.

The ongoing culture shift to principled public sector governance remains a priority for
government. PSOs are expected to undertake more comprehensive professional development to
enhance orientation of their board members and senior executives. Government will be providing
programming and resources designed to complement components of orientation to ensure i
understanding of the accountabilities and expectations of public sector boards and organizations. 5
For detailed information about TAP directives, please refer to the following link: Taxpayer

Accountability Principles, |

Government is committed to continue to revitalize the reladonship between Government and
PSOs. This strong focus on increased two-way communication supports and ensures & common
understanding of Government’s expectations. Timely communication of emerging issues which
may affect the business of Forestry Innovation Investment and/or the interests of government is
critical to building trust and the effective delivery of public services, including information on
any risks to achieving financial forecasts and performance targets. With the TAP embedded in
the Annual Service Plans and Reports, this will support board chairs in assessing and
communicating the organization’s overall performance.

In addition, it is expected that your organization will continue to be diligent in ensuring
familiarity with and adherence to statutory obligations and policies that have broad application
across the public sector. Please refer to the following link for 2 summary of these

accountabilities: PSO Accountability Summary.

Each board member is required to acknowledge the direction provided in the Mandate Letter by
signing this letter. The Mandate Letter is to be posted publicly on your organization’s website,
and a copy signed by all board members provided to the ministry and made available to the
public upon request.

I look forward to our regular meetings focusing on strategic priorities, performance against TAP,
and working together to protect the public interest at all times.

Sincerely,

Teresa Wat
Minister
.14
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Tim Sheldan Shannon Baskervi

Chair, Forestry Innovation Investment

Vice Chair, EGréstry Inngvation Investment

Sandra Carroll
Director, Forestry Innovation Investment

W otocsr

Clark Roperts
Director, Foresyry

Dave Peterson
Director, Forestry Innovation Investment

pe: Honourable Christy Clark
Premier

Kim Henderson

Deputy Minister to the Premier and Cabinet Secretary

Athana Mentzelopoulos

Deputy Minister and Secretary to Treasury Board

Ministry of Finance

Cheryl Wenezenki-Yolland
Associate Deputy Minister
Ministry of Finance

Tim Sheldan
Deputy Minister

Ministry of Forests, Lands and Natural Resource Operations, and
Chair, Forestry Innovation Investment

Shannon Baskerville
Deputy Minister

Ministry of Jobs, Tourism and Skills Training and Responsible for Labour, and
Vice Chair, Forestry Innovation Investment

Robin Dhir
Director, Forestry Innovation Investment
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Sandra Carroll

Deputy Minister

Ministry of Advanced Education, and
Director, Forestry Innovation Investment

Clark Roberts

Deputy Minister _

Ministry of International Trade and Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and
Multiculturalism, and '

Director, Forestry Innovation Investment

Dave Peterson
Director, Forestry Innovation Investment

Michael Loseth

Chief Executive Officer
Forestry Innovation Irivestment
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Further information available at: hnn.umhn.sa&mwrmmnnhum

1 Cost Consclousneee Strengthen oost management capabrlrhes and foster a
(Efficiency) culture of cost-consciousness at all levels of public sector
organizations. Provide public services and programs as
efﬁciently and effectively as possible to “bend the cost
curve” and support sustainable public policies and
programs as a lasting Iegacy for generations to come.

2 Accountabrlrty Transparently manage responsibilities according to a set of
common public sector principles in the best interest of the
citizens of the province. By enhancing organizational
efficiency and effectiveness in the planning, reporting and
decision making, public sector organizations will ensure
actions are aligned W|th government's strateglc mandate.

3 Appropriate Compensation Comply wrth a rigorous, standardized approach to
performance management and employee compensation,
which reflects appropriate compensation for work across
the public sector that is consistent with government's
taxpayer accountability principles and respectful of the (

taxpayer

4 Service Maintain a clear focus on posmve outcomes for crtlzens of
British Columbia by delivering cost-efficient, effective,
value-for-money public services and programs.

5 Respect Engage in equitable, compassionate, respectful and
effective communications that ensure all parties are
properly informed or consulted on actions, decisions and
public communications in a timely manner. Proactively
collaborate in a spirit of partnership that respects the use of

taxpayers monies.

6 Integrity Make decrsrons and take actions that are transparent
ethical and free from conflict of interest. Require the
establishment of a strong ethical code of conduct for all
employees and executives. Serve the citizens of British
Columbia by respecting the shared public trust and acting
in accordance with the taxpayer accountability principles.
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For more information on Forestry Innovation Investment Lid., contact;

#1200 — 1130 West Pender Street
Yancouver, BC
V6L 4A4
604-685-7507
info@bcfii.ca

Or visit our website at

www.bcfil.ca
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Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.

Accountability Statement

The 2017/18 — 2019/20 Forestry Innovation Investment (FII) Service Plan was prepared under the
Board’s direction in accordance with the Budget Transparency and Accountability Act and the BC
Reporting Principles. The plan is consistent with the Government’s strategic priorities and fiscal
plan. The Board is accountable for the contents of the plan, including what has been included in the
plan and how it has been reported.

All significant assumptions, policy decisions, events and identified risks, as of January 27, 2017
have been considered in preparing the plan. The performance measures presented are consistent
with FII’s mandate and goals, and focus on aspects critical to the organization’s performance. The
targets in this plan have been determined based on an assessment of FII’s operating environment,
forecast conditions, risk assessment and past performance.

o=l

Tim Sheldan
Chair of the Board

2017/18 — 2019/20 Service Plan 3 '
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Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.

Strategic Direction and Context

Strategic Direction

The mandate of Forestry Innovation Investment (FII) is to work with the forest industry to develop
and diversify markets for B.C. forest products, while promoting B.C. as a world-class supplier of
environmentally-friendly products from sustainably-managed forests. As outlined in its 2017/18
Mandate Letter from the Minister of International Trade, FII will focus on three strategic priorities
in the coming year:

e Retain a strong focus on market diversification in Asia by:
+ Advancing markets in China; ensuring that programs target areas offering strong
potential return to B.C. producers;
« Expanding the market development effort in India, in cooperation with industry and the
Ministry of International Trade; and
e Working with the forest industry in identifying and advancing opportunities in
Southeast Asia.

e Continue the implementation of the five-year strategic plan to expand the consumption of
wood products by:
» Promoting wood’s environmental merits and working with partners to position wood as
a preferred building material; and
« Expanding opportunities for wood use in advanced building systems, with an emphasis
on mass timber and taller wood construction.

e Collaborate with the Ministry of Forests, Lands and Natural Resource Operations on the
delivery of government's commitments to expanding markets for the Value Added Wood
Products under Strong Past, Bright Future: A Competitiveness Agenda for British
Columbia’s Forest Sector and the BC Jobs Plan, specifically ensuring alignment between
government-funded agencies on initiatives to promote the use of wood as a building
material, wood's positive environmental attributes, and B.C.'s sustainable forestry practices.

By aligning medium-term activities with the Ministry of International Trade’s (MIT) efforts in
international markets, and with the forest sector competitiveness initiatives outlined in Strong Past,
Bright Future: A Competiveness Agenda for B.C.’s Forest Sector, FIl will ensure efficient use of
resources and deliver the best value for B.C. taxpayers and forest sector stakeholders. Cost-
effectiveness in operations will continue to be enhanced through emphasis on a joint-delivery
approach with industry. Government’s strategic direction to Crowns on accountability is found in
Taxpaver Accountability Principles: Strengthening Public Sector Governance and Accountability.

2017/18 — 2019/20 Service Plan 5
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Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.

Operating Environment

International market development efforts led by F1I continue to be influenced by a wide range of
factors, many outside the control of the organization and is partners. These factors have been
particularly volatile over the past year and include currency exchange rates; fluctuating economic
growth in target markets; increasing competition; and local market factors that reflect demand for
housing and capital construction, including interest rates, employment levels and various types of
incentive programs targeted to home buyers. Factors mlluencing demand in the United States,
China, Japanh and India are the most significant, as these priority markets represent more than 85 per
cent of international sales of B.C. wood products and account for the majority of FII program
nvestments.

For2017/18, economic recovery in the United States is expecied to continue, albeit at a modest
pace. Solid consumption and job growth will be offSet by weak investment, which will have a
dampening influence on new construction. Political changes in the United States. and the election of
a new administration promising greater protectionism are creating uncertainty for B.C. softwood
exports to the market. The lack of resolution to the Canada — U.S. Softwood Lumber Agreement
adds to this dynamic, asthe outcome could have a significant impact on future B.C.’s trade with the
Uniled States.

China, B.C.’s largest market for commodity lumber outside North America, is cxpected to continue

to face challenges as it rebalances its econemy from manufacturing-led demand toward domestic
consumption and services. While high-level drivers—including wbanization, the growing middle

class, and cscalating environmental concerns—will create new demand for wood in China; (
competition is increasing and the pace of economic growth has slowed. At the same time, growth in

Japan, B.C.’s second largest market in Asi, will remain weak and uneven in the year ahead;

however, new opportunities for wood products are emerging i the muki-family and instiutional

segments. India, the location of FII's newest operations, will continue to lead global growth in

2017/18, creating oppertunities for B.C. in many areas, including wood products.

[ower value- of the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar partially offsets impacts to exports from
continued slower growth in East Asia, and an uncertain trade climate in the United States. In B.C.,
and across North América, acceptance of new generation wood technelogies, such as taller wood
huildings, and engineered products such as cross-laminated timber, are gaining momentum. These
innovations in technology and engineering strengthen efforts to expand wood sales in the high-
potential non-residential construction market, which is a Key performance target for FlI. In
emerging markets, particularly in India, demand for softwood continues to grow, which is creating
new oppottunities for B.C. wooed products. Fli and industry -are aggressively pursuing the Indian
market with additional finding provided by the Province of B.C.

Across the time of the Service Plan, global market conditions will be monitored using feedback
from FiI subsidiaries, industry in-market operations, and program delivery agencies, as well as
through ongoing market research. F1I will continue to seek input from provincial and federal
covernment representative offices in key markets. If required, responsive actions will be intreduced
to mitigate identified risks (o forecasts.

For 2017/18, no significant changes are planned. in FII's internal operating environment. (

2017/18 — 2019/20 Service Plan )
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Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.

Performance Plan

Goals, Strategies, Measures and Targets

The goals, strategies, measures and targets in the Plan align with Government’s strategic direction,
as articulated in the 2017/18 Mandate Letter from the Minister of International Trade, as well as the
strategic approaches underlined in the MIT trade strategy, Raising our Game in Asia, and in Strong
Past, Bright Future: A Competiveness Agenda for B.C.'s Forest Sector, developed by the Ministry
of Forests, Lands and Natural Resource Operations. Service Plan goals and performance measures
for 2017/18 —2019/20 align with FII's strategic plan, which places a high priority on increasing the
value of B.C.’s product sales, including shipping a greater proportion of higher-value products.

FII strategies incorporate the principles of taxpayer accountability set out in the Government’s
Taxpayer Accountability Principles (TAP), including an emphasis on efficiency, accountability and
integrity in the delivery of all of FII's programs and in managing relations with and among
government, industry, the general public and employees. FII tracks implementation of the TAP
through quarterly meetings of the Board Chair, senior executives and the Minister focused on FII’s
performance against the TAP.

For 2017/18, FII's investments will continue to focus on innovation and market development to
strengthen the position of the forest sector in its conventional product and market mix, and in new
areas of opportunity, including the manufacturing segments in China and India, multi-family and
institution construction in Japan, and the non-residential and tall wood building markets in North
America. FII also recognizes that the opportunities presented by the development of a new
generation of engineered products and building systems, and the rapid emergence of the “bio-
economy”, have the potential to transform the forest sector, generating new wealth, more skilled
jobs and greater stability for communities and workers. Through its investments, FII continues to
encourage industry to move up the value chain, thereby creating higher margin products and
services.

Over the period of this Service Plan, FII programming will evolve with the market to reflect new
opportunities for traditional solid wood and pulp-and-paper products; advanced engineered
materials and building systems; and where appropriate, non-conventional, next-generation bio-
products.

Goal 1: Forest Products are Viewed as an Environmentally-
Friendly, Preferred Material, and B.C. is Viewed as a
Reliable Global Supplier of Quality Products from
Sustainably-Managed Forests

The primary objective of Goal 1 is to expand opportunities for B.C. forest products by positioning
wood, and wood-based products from B.C., as the first choice for environmentally-friendly building
materials. The strategies under Goal 1 create a solid foundation for answering the questions “Why

2017/18 — 2019/20 Service Plan 7
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Forestry Innovation Investment Lid.

wood?” and “Why wood from B.C.?” upon which many of FII’s other market development (
investments and activities are based.

Goal | focuses on laking advantage of two significant trends in the marketplace: the emerging
recognition of wood products as “green” and mcreasing demands from consumers for forest
products that are produced in an environmentally-responsible manner. As customers are factoring
environmental paraneters into purchasing decisions, there is congiderable value in articulating the
benefits of wood as a sustainable, renewable building material, its advantages in creating a
sipnificantly smaller environmental footprint than other building materials; and the fact that wood
and pulp-and-paper products from B.C. are manufactured by an industry that has made impressive
gains in reducing its environmental footprint. These environmental benefits of wood apply equally
to higher-margin wood products manufactured in B.C.

Strategies in support of this goal are designed to build on the growing awareness of the benefits of
wood products, and to position B.C. as areliable supplier of quality forest products and a global
leader in sustaining forest resources and environmental values. This dual positioning will help
strengthen awareness of, and interest in, B.C. [orest products in major markets; thus, suppori greater
matket share, premium positioning and easier access 10 new markets.

Strategies

* Proactively create and disseminate timely and factual information regarding B.C. forest

products and forest practices. i
e Champion science and fact-based approaches to communicate the merits of wood and wood- (

based construction technologies in a green building and climate change context. i
» Collaborate with forest sector stakcholders to encourage consistent and compelling

communications regarding product and building inmovations and reducing enwironmental '

impacts.
e Monitor and advecate in international markets for codes, standards and policies that recognize

the merits of wood and B.C. forest products.

Performance Measure 1: Customer Perceptions of B.C. Forest Products

Per cent of customers who perceive that forest
products from B.C. are a good choice for the 96% nfa* | 90% n/a* 0%
environment

Data Source: Leger — The Research Inkeligence Group, April, 2016.
“SBurveys are conducied biennially.

Discussion

This measwre provides an indication of the effectiveness of FII's international advecacy and
communications initiatives to influence customer perceptions of B.C. and its forest management

practices. Performance data are gathered through a biennial survey of international customers (e.g., {
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large institutional pulp and paper buyers, and wood importers and distributors) conducted by an
independent research firm. The survey, which is focused on environmental perspectives, identifies
the percentage of customers who agree that B.C.’s environmental reputation is as good as, or bettet
than, the average of competing forest produets jurisdictions. FIl and its partners consider that
maintaining a 90 per cent rating represents optimal performance given there will always be some
who disagree with timber harvesting of any nature.

Performance Measure 2: Potential Prospects Connecting with B.C.
Manufacturers

Number of potenfal prospects connecling with B.C.
menufaciurers fom te haturallywood.com Supplier (baseling)
Directory, an online platorm developed by FI1.

Data Source: Forestry [nnovalion investment Ld / Google Analytcs.
* Performance measure 2 was inToduced in 2016M7.

Discussion

Performance measure 2 links FIU's oufreach and communications activities to the objective of
increasing sales of B.C. forest products. FlI, through the naturally: wood information resowce and
related paid media, works to promote B.C. forest products and suppliers by featuring the Supplier
Directoty. The performance metric tracks the number of visitors to the website and the number of
those visitors that link through to a supplier email address or website, Collecting data on
connections made to suppliers tracks the effectiveness of FII’s online product and supplier sourcing
tool—the Supplier Directory—in increasing awareness of, and inferest in, B.C.’s forest products by
advancing connections: with B.C. companics for potential commercial opportunities. '

Goal 2: Returns from B.C.’s Conventional and Emerging
Forest Products are Optimized in Markets Offering
High Potential

Goal 2 drives FII’s efforts to assist the B.C. forest industry in optimizing returns by achieving a
balance in the products, species and grades marketed. This goal focuses particularly on Asta. The
efforts of FIT and its funding recipients build on the strategies as well as the science and reputational
foundation developed under Goal 1.

Optimization of the global market development strategy includes creating or expanding new market
segments in traditional regions (e.g., non-residential and multi- family/mid-risé construction in the
U.8.), as well as fostering demand in regions that have strong growth potential, but are not currently
using high volumes of B.C. forest products (e.g., the multi-family and non-residential markets in
China and fapan, and the domestically-focused manufacturing sector in India}.
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Activities associated with Goal 2 recognize the progress made in diversifying B.C. exports away
from the historically heavy dependence on the U.S. single-family housing sector. Programs in this
goal area also focus on achieving a long-term balance between existing and emerging markets, and
traditional and innovative new products, including an increase in sales of higher margin products in
traditional markets such as North America.

Strategies under this goal include a mix of activities delivered by third parties and by FII.!

Strategies

e Expand opportunities for B.C. forest products in key Asian markets, with an emphasis on
China, Japan and South Korea.

e Open markets for B.C. products in emerging regions offering strong growth potential,
particularly India and Southeast Asia.

e Expand the use of wood in North America’s emerging market segments, with an emphasis on
the non-residential and multi- family/multi-storey markets, and value-added products from
.

e Engage with industry and foreign government agencies to eliminate barriers to access in
foreign markets.

e Share the cost of market development activities crafted and delivered by trade associations,
based on priorities outlined in FII’s Strategic Plan and annual investment strategies.

Performance Measure 3: Average Value Generated by Lumber Sales to
China™
2015/16 2016/17 2017118 2018119 2019/20
Performance Measure Actual* Forecast Target Target Target
Average value (CAD) per cubic metre generated by - 172 196 200 204
softwood lumber sales fo China. (baseline)

Data Source: BC Stats.
* Performance measure 3 was infroduced in 2016/17.

Discussion

The measure tracks the extent to which the B.C. forest industry is successful in diversifying
markets, with a particular focus on Asia. The target emphasizes sales to China, where FII

: FII collaborates with industry trade associations, the federal government and other funding bodies to leverage its investments for
the greatest potential return for B.C. FII's objective is to strengthen demand for B.C. forest products and expand potential end-use

applications.

Performance metrics are tracked for China and India (see performance measure 4) to reflect FII's direct operations and program
delivery in those two markets. In Asia, in addition to China and India, FIl also tracks and reports out on data and trends in all other

key markets, including Japan and South Korea.

> Theability to achieve performance measures 3 is contingent uponthe efficacy of market development programs delivered in whole,
or in part, by trade associations partially funded by FII. As part of the funding approval process, specific performance meas ures
linked to FII's broader goals and targets are set for each project. For more details, please refer to FII's Performance M anagement

Framework.
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investments are leveraging a significant joint industry and government (provincial and federal)
market development effort to position B.C. as the leading exporter of high-quality softwood lumber
to China. ‘Ihe average per cubic metre value of exports® is based on Statistics Canada export data
compiled by BC Stats.

In 2016/17, Fll shiffied from tracking overall volume figures to focusing on value per cubic metre,
which reflects demand for higher-grade lumber used in construction—a key objective of the
government- industry program in China. While FII and industry anticipated that shipment volumes
would plateau, it was expected that values would see modest growth as demand for wood in China
continued to rise. However, four key factors have changed the reality in China, resulting in a drop in
B.C. lumber exports to the market and putting downward pressure on prices for lumber in China:

e Demand in China has weakened, slowing the real estate sector and negatively impacting
growth for construction materials;

o Depreciation in the value of the ruble has allowed Russia (o greatly cxpand shipments to
China by undercutting prices;

+ Furopean producers have been shipping increasing volumes of lumber to China, as traditional
markets in Europe have been weak, exacerbated by the Brexit vote in June 2016, and the i
region’s other major markets in the Middle East and North Africa have been impacted by
poltical instability; and

s increasing prices for construction grades in the U.S. has shifted higher-value products into that
market thereby reducing the average value of B.C.’s exports to China (ie., more lower grade,
lower value lumber going to China than was forecast).

Adding to market uncertainty is the Canada-U.S. softwood lumber dispute, which has the potential
to impact the natire of B.C.’s lumber exports to China. Reflecting these factors, the forecast for
2016/17 at $172 per m® is below the orginal target of $196 per e i the 2016/17 Service Plan. For
the forecast period of this Scrvice Plan, the B.C. lumber industry faces a very competitive landscape
in China and established performance targets will remain challenging to achieve. During 2017/18,
FII will work closely with industry in B.C. and China to evaluate performance metrics and assess
options that are more insulated from factos outside the influence of the market development
program.

Performance Measure 4: Product Trials in India

Total number of product kials of B.C. species 8 12 18 24 26
undertaken in India. {baseline)
Data Source: FlI.

4 Total value of [umber exported divided by the fotal velume of cxportts measured in cubic metres.
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Discussion (

India is a new market for B.C. wood product companies, and market development efforts remain in
the pre-commeicial phase. Product trials contimie to emerge as an effective means for FII to
encourage Indian manufacturcrs to convert existing or new production to using B.C. wood, and
efforts in this area will continue to accelerate in 2017/18. FII's Try Canadian Wood program
provides qualified Indian manufacturers with small test volumes of B.C. wood, as well as technical
support for trying B.C. wood in new or existing product lines. Trials have resulted in a range of
flrniture and interior finishing products being produced on a test basis using B.C. wood species.
Several of these trials have led to commercial orders for products made with B.C. species.
Performance measure 4 directly reflects the interest of the Indian industry to try B.C. species, which
is a key objective in early market development eflorts.

The expansion of the FII India teams in the north and south of India during 2016/17 will result in
the continued expansion in the number of annual product trials through 2019/20, by which time
almost 90 trials will have taken place in manufacturing centres across India.

The outputs of initial trials are now promoted at tradeshows and are featured at the FII India
showroom in Mumbal. FII's success in expanding the number of product trials across India is key to
opening the narket for B.C. wood species and helping B.C. firms advance commercial sales to
India.

Performance Measure 5: Sales in the U.S. Non-Residential and Multi-
Storey/Multi-Family Segment’ ¢

Total sales (USD, milions) of wood altrlbutable &

program inferventions — U.S. non-residential and -~ 103. 126 144 138
muli-storey/multi-Bamily residental consfruction (baseline)
markets.

Data Source: US Wood Works™
* Performance measure 5 was infroduced in 2016/17.

Discussion :

Most single-family housing in North America uses wood frame construction as the primary building
method. However, wood has a smaller share of non-residential structures and of multi-storey, multi-
family residences. The forest industry in B.C., the rest of Canada and in the U.S. has a strong
mterest in seeing wood products secure a much higher market penetration in this segment. To this
end, FII supports the U.S.-based WoodWorks program to deliver aclivities that assist archilects,

3 The ability to achieve perfonmanice measures 5 is confingent upon the efficacy of market development programs delivered .in
whole, or in part, by trade associalions partially funded by FIE. As part ol'tlie Tunding approval process. specific performance
measures—-linked to FII's broader goals and targets—are sct for cach project. For more details, please refer o FII's Terfonmance
Management Framework. '
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builders and developers to icorporate more wood into- their projects, as well as convert their
projects to wood from other materials.

In 2016/17, performance measwe 5 shified from tracking the volume of incremental wood sales in
non-residential and/or multi-storey, multi-family projects where FII-funded programs are involved,
to focusing on the crease in the value of wood products used i these projects. This provides
greater consistency with FII's other program metrics and with the overall stategic shift to
emphasizing incrcasing values.

Goal 3: B.C.is a Leader in Using Innovative Forest Products
and Building Systems

This goal suppotts the Government of B.C.’s objective to genetate greater added value in the forest
economy. Long-tenn sustainability of the forest economy requires the active maintenance, creation
and diversification of demand for B.C. forest products. By introducing new and advanced forest
products, wood technologies and building systems, wood is positioned as a preferred building
malterial and B.C. as a leader in wood innovation. As a resuft, B.C.’s forest products can be more
effectively marketed for construction, interior design, and daily living, at home and abroad.

Strategies to achieve goal 3 are delivered primarily through FII’s Wood First program, which works
to position B.C. as a leader in using innovative forest products and building systems. An
independent Wood First Advisory Committee, made up of senior industry executives, provides
strategic guidance on program implementation priorities. To effectively deliver its Wood First
mandate, FII relies on existing research and partners with service delivery organizations, promoting
integrated planning and coordinated delivery of program activities and inttiatives.

Strategies
o Advance innovation through research and product development.
e Reduce barriers to wood use,
o Educate professionals on opportunities to utilize and innovate. with wood.
¢ Promote B.C.’s wood species, wood products and the benefits of building with wood.
o Advance the competitiveness of B.C.’s valie-added wood sector.
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Performance Measure 6:

Incremental Value of Wood Consumed in B.C.’s

Non-Residential and Multi-Storey/Multi-Family

Construction Sector®
2015/16 2016/17 2017118 2018119 2019/20
Performance Measure Actual* Forecast* Target Target Target
Total sales (CAD, millions) of wood atributable to
program intervenfons - B.C.'s non-residental and . bmsj 62 68 68
muli-sborey/multi-family residential construction (baseline) or greater
markets.

Data Source: Canadian Wood Council.
* Performance measure 6 was inroduced in 2016/17

Discussion

This measure tracks success in increasing wood usage in B.C. in the commercial, institutional and
multi-family residential/mid-rise segment. The target is based on the incremental increase in the
value of wood sales that are generated in the year and influenced by program activities funded by
FIT and its funding partners. These Wood First program activities focus on delivering promotional,
research, educational and capacity-building initiatives throughout the province.

Goal 4: FIl is a Highly Effective, Innovative and Responsive
Organization (

FII's business practices incorporate robust financial controls and a performance management
framework, including monitoring, audit and evaluation built on a comprehensive risk-assessment
strategy. FIl is also committed to a path of environmental sustainability and minimizing its
environmental footprint, in order to protect the natural environment and the B.C. economy for future
generations.

Consistent with the strategic direction of Government under the Taxpaver Accountability Principles,
FII will continue to deliver its primary programs and services in collaboration with the forest
industry, the federal government, the research community and other provincial agencies, including
the Ministry of International Trade and the Ministry of Forests, Lands and Natural Resource
Operations. By partnering with forest sector organizations from Canada and abroad, FII is able to
leverage their expertise and financial resources to create and deliver strategic and focused market
development programming that provides the highest value for the B.C. forest sector.

¢ The ability to achieve performance measure 6 is contingent upon the performance of FII’s funding recipients in their delivery of

Wood First programming and on other external factors impacting construction activity in B.C., such as the level of real estate

investment and the process for approvingand implementing building code changes. Timely funding decisions by FII ensure that

funding is available to successful proponents by the start of each fiscal year. As part of the funding approval process, performance

measures are established for each project. These measures are directly linked to FII's broader goals and targets. For more details, (
please see F1I's Performance M anagement Framework.
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Strategies
e Ensure FII is efficient, transparent and results-focused by:
o Keeping corporate suppott costs at or below seven per cent of the total budget;

o Implementing a rigorous performance management system; and
o Monitoring and auditing funded projects according to explicit risk assessments.

» Integrate the TAP across the organization and work with the Ministry of International Trade to
maintain strategic engagement and TAP evaluation plan.

» Continuously review priorities and strategies to ensure that programs and services stimulate
innovation in products and markets and are delivered in an effective and cost-efficient
manner.

o Minimize FII's carbon footprint and promote cavironmentally-responsible business activities.

Performance Measure 7: Leveraged Funding

Cther arganizafions’ aggregale contribution ‘o

recipient funding program.? 68% 68% 65% 85% 65%

Data Source: Fii.

Discussion

This measure tracks the effectiveness of FH in securing external resources to deliver market
development programs at the lowest possible costta B.C. taxpayers, a key efficiency objective of
TAP. The willingness of industry; the federal government and other provincial govemments to
contribute to market development activities is a direct indicator of the value they place on these
activities, particularly atatime of severe resource constraints,

The 65 per cent target figure teflects the share of funding provided by others (industry and the
federal government) to FIl's cost-shared recipient funding program acress the suite of investments in
all programs and markets. While the proportion of funds received from industry and the federal
government varies by market and type of activity, FII's goal is to maintain an average of 65 per cent
“other” funding in the program®. Given this is an average across a suite of investments, where some
fluctuation is expected year to year, 65 per cent is viewed as an optimal target. Data to support this
measure are sourced from the online recipient funding system, which is co-funded and managed by
FII and Natural Resources Canada, and through F1I’s year-end financial reporting,

" its recipient funding program, FII targets annual contributions of approximately 65 pereent from other organizations; however,

contributions from others vary from 0 to 85%, depending on the specific activity . Contributions from individual organizations «can
also Mueiuate considerably across fiscal yecars, depending on their programining prioritics and budgets.

§ The federal gavernment does not fund activities in all markets where FII and industry are active. As a result, FIL provides a higher
share 6f overal! funding in cerlain markets, increasing its average aunual share of total program costs to just over one-third.
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Financial Plan

Summary Financial Qutlook

Revenie {$000s)
Confributon from the Pravince of B.C. 17,562 18,356 19,110 19,610 18,610
Confribulion fom the Federa! Government 8231 826 (1[4 600 600
Other Revenug ¥ 2,697 2,71h 2,600 2,800 2,600

22,310 22810
Funding Recipient niialives 8,944 9,291 8,900 8,900 8,900
Market Inifatives and Outreach

Government inifaives and Quireach 5,354 6,068 5,900 5,800 5,800
China Market Development 3,166 2214 2,300 2,300 2,300
India Market Development 1,992 3,035 3,810 4,310 4,310
Corporate Services 1,178 1,348 1,400 1,400 1,400
20,634 21,957 22,310 22,810 22810

Excess of Revenue over Expenses 448 - -
Relgined Earnings, End of Year 2,81 2,811 2511 2,811 2,811
Capitl Expendilires 347 200 50 50 50
Totl Liabilifes 2,483 & 2,100 1,900 1,800 1,900

Note . Approximately $600,000 is a contibufion Fom Nalural Résources Canada towards the India Inifative.

Note 2 Includes conlribuions from organizations such as industry, olher govemments and deferred tevenue anising out

of restricled capital contributions.

Note 3: Includes $1.08 million in accounts pavable and accrued lighilites, as well as $4.03 million ceferred confribuiions.

Key Forecast Assumptions

The continuity of FII's investments, programming and activities depend upon receipt of funds from
the Ministry of International Trade. FIi assumes that industry trade associations, research institutes
and universities will continue to propose eligibk and acceptable activities for FII finding and that
partial funding for these activities will account for approximately half of FH’s expenditures.

Forecast Risks and Sensitivities

FII finds extensive market development programming in off-shore markets, particularly in Asia. As
aresult, FII is subject to foreign exchange risk through its program payables and advances, and a
portion of FIl’s program costs, which are denominated in Chinese Renminbi, Indian Rupee, U.S.
doliars and other foreign cuwrrencies. While FII manages exposure to cutrency risk by monitoring %
assets and fabilities denominated in foreign currencies and by pwrchasing foreign denominated
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currency when market conditions are favourable, the downward trend in the value of the Canadian
dollar against the U.S. dollar has increased exchange rate risk”.

Additional Financial Notes

Subsidiaries

See the FI Consulting (Shanghai} Co.1td. and Forestry Innovation Consulting India Private Lid,
financial outbok in Appendix B: Active Subsidiaries, Funding for these subsidiary companies is by
way of consuking fee invoices to the parent company in Canada (FII Ltd.).

Capital Initiatives
The capital expenditures projected for the next threc years relate to normal replacement of computer
equipment.

Non-Disclosure of Information
Consideration of the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act has not caused FII to
withhokl any mformation in this Service Plan.

Management Perspective on Financial Outlook

Revenue and Budget Allocations

For 2017/18, FII anticipates receiving $19.1 million in cash funding from the Province, $0.6 million
from Natural Resources Canada to offset costs of FII India and approximately $2.6 million fiom
other sources. Onthat basis, the total will be higher ($0.350 million) than in 2016/17.

As usual about half of the available funding from the Province will be used to share the cost of
activitics proposed and delivered by not=for-profit organizations that responded to FII's most recent
market development and Wood First calls for proposals. The budget allocation for such fiunding
recipients will be $8.9 million, about the same as in 2016/17. Other budget allocations will be:

s FII China: $2.3 million: about the same as in 2016/17.

o FIl India: $3.8 million: $0.8 million higher than in 2016/17, due mainly to an uplit i funding
from the Province of B.C.

« FII Vancouver's (Government Initiatives and Outreach: $5.9 million, about the same as in
2016/17.

* Corporate support: $1.4 million,

9 . s s - - . . i
For example, 1he value of the Chinese Renminbi is roughly pepped against the U5, dollar. Consequently | increases or decreases in
the value of Lhe ULS. doliur rekative to other currencies can aftect the vilue o the Renminbi against the Canadian dollar,
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Operations

F1I wifl continue to rely heavily on trade associations to develop and deliver market development
programs based on country-specific strategies and quantified sales objectives for each product line
and identified end-use.

In2017/18, the focus for FI[ China staff will be to continue to build deeper and broader
relationships with Chinese government officials atall levels, aswell as with state-owned real estate
development companies. Partnering with the B.C. trade associations; Canada Wood. Group will
continue to provide “downstream” support with technical training, assistance in changing building
codes and fire codes, and on-site construction design, engmeering and quality assurance support.

m2017/18, FIl will accelerate efforts to advance a strong Canadian Wood brand in [ndia through
targeted funds provided in the Provincial budget. Program activities will focus on investing to build
market knowledge; expanding FII's geographical focus into new, high-potential regions; expanding
promotional and educational efforts; increasing the number of product trials; and advancing product
demonstration activities. These efforts will be supported by the B.C. forest industry which doubled
its representation in India in 2016/17. FIl will actively encourage the B.C. industry to expand its
commitment 1o, and engagement in, the maket as the program accelerates. At the same time,
industry will be expected to increase its financial conwibutions to the program as the market in India
becomes more commercially established.

In carrying out its international market development planning and delivery, FII will continue to
work in collaboration with the ministrics and agencics of the B.C. Government to ensure that (
activities support broader Government plans for market expansion in Asia and elewhere.

All budget information in this Service Plan is consistent with funding approved by Government, and
with information provided in the Government's fiscal plan.
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Appendix A: Additional Information

Corporate Governance

FII is responsible to the Minister of International Trade through a six-member Board of Directors.
The Government appoints the Board to set operational policy, and in cooperation with senior
management, to set strategic direction. The Board monitors FII’s performance based on the
Province’s planning and reporting principles. The Board appoints the Chief Executive Officer
(CEO) and delegates responsibility to the CEO for the day-to-day leadership and management of the
organization.

The Board incorporates best practices into its governance procedures as guided by the Best Practices
Guidelines on Governance and Disclosure for Public Sector Organizations. As recommended in the
guidelines, FII's disclosure, including its Status of Concurrence with Best Practices Guidelines is
available on the Company’s website at www.bcfii.ca

Full details on the role and membership of the Board of Directors, as well as corporate reports, and
details on compliance to the requirements of the Board Resourcing and Development Office are
available at www.bcfii.ca.

Organizational Overview

FII works with the forest industry, B.C. Government ministries, the Government of Canada,
research institutions, and other stakeholders to deliver forward looking, innovative market
development programs. To provide the best value for taxpayers and stakeholders, and reflecting the
Province’s Taxpayer Accountability Principles, FII uses a joint delivery model for program
delivery. This approach takes advantage of industry expertise and marketing networks, and ensures
that program costs are shared with other organizations.

Details on FII's mandate, its vision, mission and values, and its organizational structure are
available at www.bcfii.ca, as are previous Service Plans and Annual Service Plan Reports. Also
available on the site is additional information on FII, its programs and its partners, including an
annual Report to Stakeholders that highlights accomplishments of the program in major markets
around the world.

Comprehensive information about B.C.’s sustainable forest management practices and products is
available at www.naturallywood.com, including links to many forest-product companies and trade
associations.
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Appendix B: Active Subsidiaries

FII operates the following two subsidiary companies:

FII Consulting (Shanghai) Co. Ltd. (wholly owned by Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.)

Primary business: Supporting the B.C. forest industry by directing market research and leading
government relations and business development, particularly with statc owned enterprises.

Objective: To grow the market for B.C. wood products in China, primarily by creating new demand
for structural lumber and related building products.

Governance: Sole Executive Director: Michael Loseth, FII CEO
Senior Management: Lisa Dou, General Manager

Strategic Direction and Operating Environment. The business activities and priorities of FII
Consulting (Shanghai) Co. Ltd. are fully consistent with the mandate, strategic priorities and fiscal
plan of Fil Ltd. The subsidiary company is also in full compliance with the Government’s Taxpayer
Accountability Principles (for more nformation on FlI's compliance with TAP, refer to pages 3-5).

Risk Management; Fll funds its market developiment programming in China from Canada and, as a

result, FII is subject to foreign exchange risk through its program advances to its subsidiary

companies. Program costs for its subsidiaries. are denommnated in Chinese Renminbi. F1I[ manages

its exposure 1o cumrency risk by monitoring assets and liabilities denominated in these foreign {r
currencies and by purchasing foreign denominated currency when market conditions are favourable.

The downward trend in the value of the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dellar has increased FII's

exchange rate risk as the value of the Chinese Renminbi is roughly pegged against the U.S. dollar.
Consequently, increases or decreases in the value of the U.S. dollar relative to other currencies can

affect the value of the Renminbi against the Canadian dollar.

Cdntnbuﬁ.cn from Foréstry Inho;réﬁbh Inve'sh'.hén.t'

Ll 2,388 2,300 2,300 2,300

' China Market De\reidpmént

2,388 2,300 2,300 2,300

Excess of Revenue over Expenses - - - - -

Retained Earnings, End of Year - - - - .
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FII Consulting India Private Limited (jontly owned by Foresiry Innovation lnvestrment Ltd. and
0935031 B.C. Lid.'%)

Primary business: Supporting the development of the Indian market for B.C. forest products
through market rescarch, promoting B.C. wood products and related technologies, undertaking
product trials and demonstration work, and leading communication and education oulreach efforis
o enhance awareness of B.C. and Canadian softwood species in India.

Objective: To establish a new market for B.C. wood products in [ndia by creating demand for
lumber suttable for the manufacture of furniture, doors and windows, nterior millwork and other
non-steuctural products.

Governance: Three-member Board of Directors:
o  Michael Loseth (Chair), FIf CEO
o  Douglas Greig, FII Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
+ Pranesh Chhibber, FII India’ Country Director

Senior Management: Prancsh Chhibber, Country Director, FII India

Strategic Direction and Operating Environment: 'The business activities and priorities of FII

Consulting India Private Limiled are fully consistent with the mandate, strategic priorities and fiscal
plan of FII Ltd. The subsidiary company is also in full compliance with the Government’s Taxpayer
Accountability Principles (for more information on FII’s compliance with TAP, refer to pages 3-5).

Risk Management: FIl funds #ts miarket developmeént programming in India from Canada and, as a
result, FIl is subject to foreign exchange risk through its program advances to its subsidiary
companies. Program costs for its subsidiaries are denominated in Indian Rupees. FII manages its
exposure to currency risk by monitoring assets and labilitics denominated in these forcign
currencies and by pwchasing foreign denominated cuwrrency when market conditions are favourable.
Qver the past year, the value of the Canadian dollar against the Rupee declined marginally, slightly
increasing FII's exchange rate costs for India operations.

Confribution from Forestry innovation nvestment

i 1,892 3,029 3810 4,310 4,310
1,892 3,029 3,810 4,310 4,310
India Market Development . 1,882 3,029 3.810 4,310 4,310
1,802 3.029 3,810 4,310, 4310

Excess of Revenue over Expenses -

Retained Earnings, End of Year -

¥ Foint pwaership exists 1o meel India’s requirerment that there be o1 least twe sharcholders of a forcign-owned company-.
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—

Non-Active Subsidiary

" FIi maintains a non-operating subsidiary company, 0939031 B.C. Lid. (wholly owned by Forestry
Innovation Investment Ltd.) whose sole purpose is to function as the sccond sharcholder of F1l
Consufting India Private Limited (refiecting India legislation that requires foreign-owned companies
to have at least two shareholders).
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For more information on Forestry Inncvation Investment Ltd. contact:

Suite 1200 — 1130 West Pender Street
Vancouver, B.C.
V6E 4A4
Telephone: 604-685-7507

Email: info@befii.ca

or visit our website at

.,
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( Board Chair’s Accountability Statement

I am pleased to submit Forestry Innovation Investment’s 2016/17 Annual
Service Plan Report. The 2016/17 Annual Service Plan Report was
prepared under the Board’s direction and in accordance with the Budget
Transparency and Accountability Act and the B.C. Reporting Principles.

The Forestry Innovation Investment 2016/2017 Annual Service Plan
Report compares the corporation’s actual results to the expected results !
identified in the 2016/17 - 2018/19 Service Plan. 1 am accountable for '
those results as reported.

Tim Sheldan
Board Chair

2016/17 FII Annual Service Plan Report 1
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Chair/CEO Report Letter

The 2016/17 fiscal year marked the second year for Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. (FII) under
the Government’s Taxpaver Accountability Principles that act to strengthen accountability, ensure the
appropriate management of public funds and revitalize the relationship between government and
public sector organizations. During the year, FII's operations, including its goals, strategies, measures
and targets, fully aligned with the 7axpayer Accountability Principles by emphasizing efficiency,
accountability and integrity in the delivery of the organization’s programs, and in managing
relationships with stakeholders inside and outside the provincial government. FII’s actions during the
year also aligned with the Government’s strategic direction as outlined in the 20/6/17 Mandate Letter
from the Ministry of International Trade and Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and
Multiculturalism (refer to Appendix C for a summary of FII's response to the strategic priorities set
out in the Mandate Letter).

During the year, FII worked with the Ministry of International Trade and Responsible for Asia Pacific
Strategy and Multiculturalism (MIT) under a Strategic Engagement Plan that establishes a framework
for structured executive-level communication between the Ministry and FII. The plan, which sets out
communications protocols and reporting mechanisms, ensured that a rigorous and ongoing reporting
cycle was maintained between FII and MIT. A key element of the 2016/17 plan included holding
quarterly meetings between the Minister and Deputy Minister of International Trade, and the FII
Board Chair and CEO. These dialogues help ensure that FII and MIT remain aligned with respect to
the Company’s progress in meeting obligations as set out by Government.

Several organizational changes took place during the year. In April 2016, FII’s interim CEO was
confirmed in the position and, in July, a new vice president for International Marketing was recruited
from the B.C. forest industry. FII also added two new members to the Board of Directors: the Deputy
Minister of International Trade, and an executive from private industry who brings additional
expertise and fresh perspectives to the Board. In anticipation of Board expansion, FII completed an
update to its Board orientation package early in the year. The updated material, and a related series of
briefings by staff, were designed to ensure that the new Board appointees are fully aware of their
responsibilities as directors of the Company, and that each is familiar with best practices in Crown
governance.

We are pleased to report that FII concluded the year having met all of its obligations under the
Taxpayer Accountability Principles. FII's performance under the Taxpayer Accountability Principles
is reviewed in the Report on Performance section of this Annual Report. Additional information on
FII's corporate governance, including links to Board composition and status of concurrence with best
practices guidelines, is included in Appendix B.

Tim Sheldan Michael Loseth
Chair Chief Executive Officer
2016/17 FIll Annual Service Plan Report 3
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Purpose of the Organization

F1I is the Governiment of British Colunibia’s market development ageney for forest products. FIlis ( '
mandated to:
s Poasition B.C. as a global supplier of world-class environmentally friendly forest products.
e Actively maintain, create and diversify demand for B.C. forest products in Canada and in key
world markets. :
» Help break down non-tariff trade and market barriers to ensure opportunities for B.C. forest
products.
»  Work with the forest industry to promote B.C.'s forest products and forest management to the
global marketplace.
o Help ensure that the forest sector, through product development and strong international sales,
continues to be a leading contributor to the B.C. economy.

F1I works with the forest industry, the Government of Canada, provincial ministries, research
institutions, and other stakeholders to deliver forward looking, innovative market development
programs. To provide the best value to taxpayers and stakcholders, and reflecting the Provinee’s
Taxpayer Accountability Principles, FII uses a collaborative model for program delivery. Under this
model, FII works with the B.C. forest industry and the federal government to grow exports to existing
markets, such as China and Japan, while promoting the use of B.C. products in high potential,
emerging markets, including India. This approach takes advantage of industry expertise and
marketing networks, and ensures that program costs are shared with other organizations, including the
federal government. Through this cooperative model, FII programming is working to strengthen the
forest economy and create jobs in B.C.

FII maintains two operating and one non-operating subsidiaries: (

Forestry Innovation Investment Consulting (Shanghai) Ce. Ltd. (FIT China) (wholly owned by
Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.). FII China focuses on growing the market for B.C. wood
products in China.

Forestry Innovation Consulting India Private Limited (FII India) (wholly owned by Forestry
Innovation Investrent Ltd. and 0939031 B.C. Ltd.). F1i India works to develop the Indian market for.
B.C. forest products.

0939031B.C. Ltd. (wholly owned by Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.). A non-operating
company that serves as a second shareholder of FII India.

More information on FII's subsidiary companies is provided in Appendix A.

Strategic Direction and Context

FII works with the forest industry to develop and diversify markets for B.C. forest products while
promoting B.C. as a world-class supplier of environmentally friendly forest products. In pursuing its
market development mandate, FII focused on three specific operational priorities during the year:

e Retaining a strong focus on building markets in Asia through:
o cnsuring programs rcflect China’s changing cconomic realitics and continuing to advancce the
use of B.C. wood in construction and other applications;

2016/17 FII Annual Service Plan Report 4
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o aligning Forestry Innovation Investment’s market development activities with Government’s
three-year market strategy for India; and
o working with the forest industry in identifying and advancing opportunities in Southeast Asia.
s Implementing the five-year strategic plan FII developed in 2015/16, and the organization’s
updated Service Plan performance measures.
e Collaborating with the Ministry of Forests, Lands and Natural Resource Operations (MFLNRQ)
and the Ministry of International Trade to jointly develop and implement an action plan for the
value added wood products sector and to align FII’s activities with those of Government.

(Refer to Appendix C for a more detailed review of the 2016/2017 Mandate Letter priority actions and
FII activities).

During the year, FII focused on delivering against the new strategic plan for the.organization. FIT also
collaborated with MFLNRO to deliver on its goal of creating a diverse, globally competitive forest
industry. As part of this effort, FII worked with MFLNRO and MIT to compleie a needs assessment
for the value-added sector as a precursor lo launching a new exporters pilot program. Also on the
policy and planning front, FII completed updates of three key market development strategies: China,
India and the 1].S.

FI1 continues to align its activities with those of MIT in global markets, and with MFLNRO. By doing
so, FII ensures efficient use of resources and maximum vahue for B.C. taxpayers. Cost-effectiveness
in operations is further enhanced by a continued emphasis on a joint delivery model and extensive
cost sharing of activities with industry and the federal government. By leveraging these partnerships,
FII is able to lead a comprehensive cffort to expand B.C."s exports in major markets in Asia and
North America. '

Global markets for forest products were influenced by a wide variety of factors in 2016/17. Among
the more significant influences were the low value of the Canadian dollar, increased competition in
our key Asian markets, a rebounding U.S. housing market, and the expiry of the Canada-U.S.
Softwood Lumbcer Agreement (SLA) which created a-peried of duty-free access for softwood lumber
into the U.S. market.

In the 1J.8., the economy demonstrated increasing strength in 2016/17, with housing starts picking up
momentum as the year closed. This increased activity in the housing sector combined with the duty-
free period that followed expiry of the SLA to generate higher wood product sales to the U.S. on both
a volume and value basis. While the economy in China has recovered [rom the steep downturn that
began in carly 2015, B.C.’s exports of lumber continue to be impacted by strong competition from
Russia, backed by a weakened currency. On the positive side for B.C. expotters, prices were holding
in the market, with the value per cubic metre of shipments rising steadily in the second half of the
year. Among smaller markets, South Korea continues to show promise with the demand for wood
housing growing and where B.C. held its position during the year in the face of rising prices.

In the midst of considerable market volatility during the year, B.C. lumber producers saw the benefits
from market diversification efforts as lower shipments to China were offset by recoveries in the U.S.,
Japan and South Korea, and growth in secondary markets such as the Philippines. The year ended
with the total volume of B.C. exports of lJumber up a healthy 11.6 per cent year-over-year and the total
value up almost 20 per cent. Here in North America, a new generation of wood technologies focused
on taller and larger wood buildings, continues to gain ground. Of particular note was the completion

2016/17 FII Annual Service Plan Report 5
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of the wood structure for the 18-storey Brock Commons Tall Wood House student residence at the
University of British Columbia. This building, constructed with support from both the Province of
B.C. and the federal government, is now one of the tallest mass timber structures in the world. The
Brock Commons project has become a showcase for B.C.’s leadership in the area of tall wood
buildings and is helping to pave the way for the increased use of wood in high potential residential
and non-residential construction markets throughout North America. Advancing wood use in these
segments is a key goal of FII's domestic programming, and under the reThink Wood communications
program delivered by FII on behalf of the Softwood Lumber Board.

Report on Performance

Consistent with the Taxpayer Accountability Principles, F1I's staff and Board worked with MIT early
in the year to update the Taxpayer Accountability Principles Strategic Engagement Plan for FII. The
2016/17 Plan provided a framework for FII and the Ministry to work together effectively, share
information and demonstrate accountability. FII tracks the organization’s performance against the
Taxpayer Accountability Principles through a Taxpayer Accountabilities Evaluation framework.
During the year, FII's progress under the evaluation plan was reported to the Ministry of International
Trade and Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism by the FII Chair and CEO at
quarterly meetings. A report on Evaluation Plan performance is included as a standing item at each
meeting of the FII Board. In 2016/17, FII met all accountabilities set out under the plan. A copy of the
FIl Taxpayer Accountabilities Evaluation Plan final report for 2016/17 is available on the FII website.

During the year, FII met all of its objectives as set out in the 2016/17 Mandate Letter from the

Ministry of International Trade and Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism. This
included building markets for B.C. forest products in Asia; updating performance metrics for the (
2017/18 Service Plan; implementing a new five-year strategic plan; and collaborating with MFLNRO

to align activities. A description of FII’s specific responses to Mandate Letter direction is included as
Appendix C.

Goals, Strategies, Measures and Targets

FII's investments in 2016/17 focused on advancing forest sector innovation and market
diversification. FII worked with the forest industry, its trade associations, research institutions and
other levels of government to pursue opportunities related to advancements in products, designs and
engineering technologies. These activities, combined with accelerated efforts to penetrate new
markets such as India, have the potential to change the paradigm for the forest sector, generating new
wealth, more skilled jobs and greater stability for communities and workers.

The following describes the specific goals, strategies and performance targets pursued by FII during
2016/17. More detailed descriptions of programs, activities and the FII business model can be found
at www.bcfii.ca and in the Company’s annual Report to Stakeholders'.

Reflecting FII's commitment to continual improvement in performance measurement, FII introduced two new

performance metrics in its 2016/17 Service Plan, while adjusting others. A comprehensive summary of changes to goals

and performance measures between the 2015/16 and 2016/17 plans are available in the Appendix C of the 20/6/17 (
Service Plan.

2016/17 FII Annual Service Plan Report 6
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Goal 1: Forest products are viewed as an environmentally friendly, preferred
material, and B.C. is viewed as a reliable global supplier of quality products from
sustainably-managed forests.

"The primary objective of Goal 1 is to expand opportunities for B.C. forest products by positioning
waood, and wood-based products from B.C., as the first choice for environmentally friendly building
materials. The strategics under Goal 1 create a solid foundation for answering the questions “Why
wood?”, and “Why wood from B.C.?7” — upon which many of FII’s market development investments
and activities are based.

Goal 1 focuscs on taking advantage of two significant trends in the marketplace -~ the emerging
recognition that woad provides an opportunity to lower the carbon footprint of the built environment,
and increasing demands from consumers for forest products that are produced in an environmentally
responsible, fully sustainable manner. As customers are factoring environimental parameters into
purchasing decisions, there is considerable value in articulating the benefits of wood as a sustainable,
renewable building material that stores carbon; its advantages in ¢reating a significantly smaller E
environmental footprint than other building materials; and the fact that wood and pulp-and-paper
products from B.C. are manufactured by an industry that has made impressive gains in reducing its
cnvironmental footprint.

Strategies in support of this goal are designed io build on the growing awareness of the environmental
benefits of wood products, and to position B.C. as a reliable supplier of quality forest products and a
global leader in sustainable forest management. This dual positioning helps strengthen awareness of
B.C. forest products in major markets supporting premiurn product positioning, enhanced access to
new segmentis and greater market share.

Strategies
FI1I and its funding recipients pursued Goal 1 by:

¢ Proactively creating and disseminating timely and factual information regarding B.C. forest
products and forest practices;

¢ Championing science- and fact-based approaches to communicate the merits of wood and wood-
based construction technologies in a green building and climate change context;

o Collaborating with forest sector stakeholders to encourage consistent and compelling messages
regarding product and building innovations, and reducing environmental impacts; and

» Monitoring and advocating in international markets-for codes, standards and policies that
recognize the merits of wood and B.C. forest products.

2016/17 FII Annual Service Plan Report 7
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Performance Measure 1.1': Customer Perceptions of B.C. Forest Products.

Percent of customers who
perceive that forest products
from B.C. are a good choice
for the enviromment.

Data Source: Leger -The Research Intelligence Group, dnalysis of Market Acceptance Issues, March 2016.

') Surveys are conducted biennially.

") Reported as 90% in the 2015/16 Service Plan, but subsequently corrected to 98%.

98%" N/A 06% N/A N/A 0% N/A

Discussion

This measure provides an indication of the effectiveness of FII’s international advocacy and
communications initiatives i1 influencing customer perceptions of B.C. and its forest management
practices. Performance data was gathered through a biennial survey of international customers (e.g.,
large institutional pulp and paper buyers, weod importers and distributors, and carbon market

stakeholders) conducted by an independent research firm. The next survey will be conducted in
2017/18.

Performance Measure 1.2 ': Potential Prospeets Connecting with B.C. Manufacturers

Number of potential prospects
connecting with B.C. manufacturers from
the naturallywood.com Supplier
Directory, an online platform developed
by FIIL.

Data Source: FII.

0 Performance measure |,2 was a new metric in 2016/17.

10,000

(baseline) 13,027 11,000 12,000

Discussion

Performance Measure 1.2 is a new measure that links F1I’s outreach and communications activities to
the objective of increasing sales of B.C. forest products. FII's paturally:wood information resource,
works to promote B.C. forest products and suppliers through the Supplier Directory. The performance
metric tracks the numiber of visitor searches on the naturallywood.com Supplier Directory and the
number of those visitors that link through to a supplier cmail address or website. Collecting data on
connections made to suppliers tracks the effectiveness of FII's enline produet and supplier sourcing
tool—the Supplier Directory—in increasing awareness of, and interest in, B.C.’s forest products by
advancing connections with B.C. companies for potential commercial opportunities.

From April 1, 2016 to March 31, 2017, a total of 13,027 supplicr interactions were made, which
exceeded the target by over 3,000 connections.

PN
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Goal 2: Returns from B.C.’s conventional and emerging forest products are
optimized in markets offering high potential.

Goal 2 drives FII’s efforts to assist the B.C. forest industry in developing and diversifying markets
and to optimize returns by achieving a balance in the products, species, and grades sold te given
markets. Within this goal there is a particular focus on Asia, where markets have distinctly different
profiles ranging from a high volume/low grade mix in China, to a medium volume/higher grade mix
in Japan. The efforts of FII and its funding recipients build on the strategies, and the science and
reputational foundation, developed under Goal 1.

QOptimization of the global market development strategy includes creating or expanding new market
scgments in traditional regions (e.g., non-residential and multi-family/mid-rise construetion in the
US), as well as fostering demand in segments not currently using high volumes of B.C. forest
products (e.g., the multi-family and non-residential construction sector in China, and the domestically
focused manufacturing sector in India).

Activities associated with Goal 2 recognize the progress made in diversifying B.C. exports away from
historically heavy dependence on the US single-family housing sector. Programs in this area also
focus on achieving a long-term balance between existing and emerging markets and between
traditional and innovative new products. During 2016/17, the strategies under this goal included a mix
of activities delivered by third parties and by FII%.

Strategies
FII and its funding recipients pursued Goal 2 by:

o Expanding opportunities for B.C. forest products in key Asian markets, with an emphasis on
China, Japan and South Korca.

e Opening markets for B.C. products in emerging regions offcring strong growth potential,
particularly India and Southeast Asia.

¢ Growing the use of wood in North America’s emerging market segments, with an emphasis on the
non-residential and multi-family/multi-storey markets, and value-added products from British
Columbia.

e Engaging with industry and foreign government agencies to eliminate barriers to access in foreign
markets.

» Sharing the cost of market development activities created and delivered by trade associations,
based on priorities outlined in FIF's Strategic Plan and annual investment strategies.

FII coltaborates with industry trade associations, the federal government and other funding bodies to leverage ils investmenis for the
greatest potential return tor B.C. FII's objective is to strengthen demand for B.C. forest products and expand potential end-use
applications.

2016/17 FII Annual Service Plan Report g
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Performance Measure 2.1': Average Value Generated by Lumber Sales to China**

L TR L TN 2016/17 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Target Actual Target Target
Average value (CAD, millions) per cubic metre 192 174 196 200
generated by softwood lumber sales to China". | (baseline)

Data Source: FII.
') Performance measure 2.1 was a new metric in 2016/17.
") Average per cubic metre value of exports is based on Statistics Canada export data compiled by BC Stats.

Discussion

FII is interested in tracking the extent to which the B.C. forest industry is successful in diversifying
markets, with a particular focus on Asia. Currently, FII investments are leveraging a significant joint
industry and government (provincial and federal) market development effort to position B.C. as the
leading exporter of high-quality softwood lumber to China.

Average value per cubic meter in 2016 was $174. Though average values rose in the second half of
the year, the value for the year is below target. This reflects a lower price in China for B.C. lumber in
the face of increased competition from Russian and European suppliers, and a continued downturn in
China that extended into early 2016. In addition, B.C. shipments to China were impacted by higher
prices and stronger demand in the U.S., which led to some B.C. lumber supply bemg redirected from
China into the U.S. market during the year.

Performance Measure 2.2': Product Trials in India

Bartoreianss Mearnis 2015/16 | 2015/16 | 2016/17 | 2016/17 | 2017/18 | 2018/19
Baseline | Actual | Target | Actual | Target | Target

Total number of product trials of

B.C. species undertaken in India. ’ ¢ 2 13 13 *

Data Source: FII.
" performance measure 2.2 was a new metric in 2015/16.

Discussion

India is a new market for B.C. wood product companies, and market development efforts remain in
the pre-commercial phase. However, product trials are emerging as an effective means for FII to
encourage Indian manufacturers to convert existing or new production to using B.C. wood and efforts
in this area accelerated in 2016/17. FII's “Try Canadian Wood” program provides qualified Indian
manufacturers with small test volumes of B.C. wood as well as technical support for trying B.C. wood
in new or existing product lines. Such trials have resulted in a range of furniture and interior finishing
products being produced on a test basis using B.C. wood species. The outputs of these trials were

3 Performance metrics are tracked for China and India (see performance measure 2.2) reflecting FII's direct operations and program
delivery in those two markets. In Asia, in addition to China and India, FII also tracks and reports out on data and trends in all other
key markets, including Japan and South Korea.

The ability to achieve performance measures 2.1 is contingent upon the efficacy of market development programs delivered in whole,

or in part, by trade associations partially funded by FII. As part of the funding approval process, specific performance measures (
linked to FII's broader goals and targets are set for each project. For more details, please refer to FIl's Performance Management
Framework.
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promoted at tradeshows and featured at the FII India showreom in Mumbai. FII’s success in
expanding the number of product trials across India 1s key to opening the market for B.C. wood
species and helping B.C. firms advance commercial sales to India.

With additional resources available in 2016/17, the market development effort was able to expand its
operations into the north and south of India during the year. As a result, product trials activity
exceeded expectations with a total of 15 trials completed in 2016/17. A number of other trials began
later in the year and will be completed in early 2017/18.

Performance Measure 2.3": Sales in the U.S. Non-Residential and Multi-Storey/Multi-Family
S_ef._guna-nts

arge

Total sales (USD, millions) of wood
-attributable to program interventions — U.S. 103
non-residential and multi-storey/multi-family (baseline)
residential construction markets. '

Data Source: F11.
) Performance measure 2.3 was a new metric in 2016/17.

Discussion

Most single-family housing in North America uses wood frame construction as the primary building
method. However, wood has a smaller share of non-residential structures and of multi-storcy, multi-
family residences. The forest industry in B.C., the rest of Canada and in the U.S. have a strong interest
in seeing wood products secure a much higher market penetration in this segment. To this end, FII
supports the U.S.-based WoodWorks program to deliver activities that assist architects, builders and
developers to incorporate more wood into their projects, as well as convert their projects to wood
from other materials.

The target for performance measure 2.3 was exceeded in 2016/17 due to a concerted effort by
WoodWorks to deliver their assistance and technical support to the building and design community
across a range of building types (i.e., multi-story/multi-family; non-residential, taller buildings), and
supported by stronger than forecast construction activity in the U.S. This diversification strategy is
helping to expand the influence of the program across the construction sector while protecting
suppliers against market fluctuations in any one particular segment of the building sector. In addition
to increased results in midrise residential projects, value gains were sccured in business, restaurant,
senior centre, and mercantile projects.

Goal 3: B.C. is a leader in using innovative forest products and building systems.
This goal focuses on generating greater added value in the forest economy. Long-term sustainability
of the forest economy requires the active maintenance, creation and diversification of demand for
B.C. forest products. By introducing new and advanced forest products, wood technologies and

> The ahility to achicve performance measures 2.3 is contingent upon the efficacy of market development pragrams delivered in whole,
or in part, by trade associations partially funded by 1[I, As part of the lunding appraval process, specific perfarmance meas ures—
linked to FII's braader goals and targets—are sct for each project. For more details, please refer to FIU's Performance Managemeni
Framework..

“
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building systcms, wood is positioned as a preferred building material, and B.C. as a leader in wood
innovation. As a result, B.C.’s forest products can be more effectively marketed for construction, {
interior design, and daily living, at home and abroad.

During 2016/17, strategies to achieve Goal 3 were delivered primarily through FlI's Wood First
program, which works to position B.C, as a leader in using innovative forest products and building -
systems. An independent Wood First Advisory Committee, made up of senior industry executives,
provides strategic guidance 6n program implementation priorities. To effectively deliver its Wood
First mandate, Il relies on existing research, as well as partnerships with service delivery
organizations to promote intcgrated planning and coordinated delivery of program activities and
initiatives.

Strategies
FII and its funding recipients pursued Goal 3 by:

» Advancing innovation through research and product development.

e Reducing barriers to wood use.

» Educating profcssionals on opportunities to utilize and innovate with wood.

» Promoting B.C.’s wood species, wood products and the benefits of building with wood.
*  Advancing the competitiveness of B.C.’s value-added wood sector.

Performance Measure 3.1': Incremental Value of Wood Consumed in B.C.’s Non-Residential
and Multi-Storey/Multi-Family Construction Secto r’

.Total sales (CAD, millions} of wood attributable to

program interventions — B.C.’s non-residential and 56 60 62 63
multi-storey/multi~-family residential construction (baseline)
markets.

Data Source: FIIT,
9 performance measure 3.1 was a new metric in 2016/17.

Discussion

This measure tracks success in increasing wood usage in B.C. in the commercial, institutional and
multi-family residential/mid-rise scgment. The target is bascd on the incremental increase in the value
of wood sales that are generated in the vear and influenced by program activities finded by FII and its
funding partners. These Wood First program activities focus on delivering promotional, research,
educational and capacity-building initiatives throughout the province.

The target for performance measure 3.1 was exceeded in 2016/17 as 42 projects werc converted to
wood during the year. These 42 projects resulted in an incremental $60 million of weod use. The

6 The ability té achieve performance measure 3.1 is contingent upan the petformance of F1I's fimding recipients in their delivery of
Wood Firsl programming and on other external factors impacting construction activity in B.C., such as the level of real estate
investment and the process for approving and implementing building code changes. Timely funding decisions by Fl1 ensure that
funding is available to successful proponents by the start of each fiscal year. As part of the funding approval process, performance -
measures are established (or cach project. These measures arc directly linked to FII's broader goals and targais. For more details, (
please sce FII's Performance Management Framnework,
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largest share of these buildings are in building classification type “C” (apartments/hotel buildings) at
54 per cent, followed by type A2 (commiunity/lecture halls, gymnasia, schools, restaurants, libraries)
at 26 per cent.

Goal 4: FII serves its stakeholders in a highly effective, innovative and responsive
manner.

FII’s business practices incorporate robust financial controls and a performance management
framework that includes monitoring, audit and evaluation built on a comprehensive risk-assessment
strategy. FIl is committed to a path of environmental sustainability, including minimizing its
environmental footprint, in order Lo protect the natural enviromnent and the B.C. economy for future
generations.

Consistent with the strategic direction of Government under the Taxpayer Accountability Principles,
FII continues to place significant emphasis on delivering its primary programs and services in
collaboration with the forest industry, the federal government, the research community and other
provincial agencies, including MFELNRO and MIT. By partnering with forest sector organizations in
Canada and abroad, F11 is able to leverage their experttise and financial resources.to create and deliver
strategic and focused market development programming that provides the highest value for the B.C.
forest sector.

Strategies
FII and its funding recipients pursued Goal 3 by:

« Ensuring FII is efficient, transparent and results focused by:
o keeping corporate support costs at or below seven percent of total budget;
o implementing a rigorous performance management system;
o monitoring and auditing funded projects according to explicit risk assessments.

» Integrating Taxpayer Accountability Principles across the organization and working with MIT to
develop strategic engagement and TAP evaluation plans.

= Continuously reviewing prioritics and strategies to ensure that programs and services stimulate
innovation in products and markets and are delivered in an effective and cost-efficient manner.

e  Minimizing FII’s carbon footprint and promoting environmentally responsible business activities.

Performance Measure 4.1: Leveraged Funding

arget | Act

Other organizations
aggregate contribution to 65% 65% 68% 65% 69% 65% 65%
recipient [unding program'.

Data Source: Data to support performance measure 4.1 are sourced from FII’s on-line recipient funding system, which is
Y co-funded and managed by FII and Natural Resources Canada, and through F1I's year-end financial reporting.
In its recipient-funding program, FII targets annual coniributions of approxitmately 63% from other organizations;
however, contributions from others vary from 0 to 85%, depending on the specific activity. Contributions from
individual organizations can also fluctuate considerably across fiscal years, depending on their programming priorities
and budgets.
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Discussion

This measure tracks the effectiveness of FIl in securing external resources to deliver market {
development programs at the lowest possible cost to B.C. taxpayers, a key efficiency objective of the )
Government’s Taxpayer Accountability Principles. The willingness of indusiry, the federal

government and other provincial governments to contribute to market development activities is a

direct indicator of the value they place on these activities, particularly at a time of severe resource
coustraints.

During the year, FII allocated a total of $8.3 million to third party organizations to deliver market
development activities in China, Japan, Korea and India in Asia; and the 1.S. and Canada in North
America. This funding from FII leveraged an additional $19 million in federal and industry
contributions, or 69 per cent of the total delivered recipient program. This exceeded the target set for
the year. While the proportion of funds received from industry and the federal government varies by
market and type of activity, FII's goal is to maintain an average of 65 per cent “other” funding in the
program’. ‘

In addition to the coniributions of others to the ongoing recipient program, FII also draws other

leveraged funding for its market development programming. For 2016/17, other funding included:

e $600,000 from Natural Resources Canada for the India market development initiative; and

o $2.5 million from the US-based Softwood Lumber Board to support FIT’s delivery of the reThink
Woed initiative aimed at convincing American stakeholders to adopt new wood-based building
technologies®.

7 .. S . . . . . .
The federal government does not fund activities in all markets where FI1 and industey are active, As a result, FII provides a higher L
share of overall funding in certain markets, increasing ils average snnual share of total program costs Lo jusl over.anc-third.
FI contribuied S348,148 o the reThink program in 2016717, for a total of $2.9 miltion.
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Financial Report

Discussion of Results

The following table summarizes the revenue that FII anticipated at the start of 2016/17 and the actual
revenue for the year:

DU Budge
giscleut’]ll‘.g;/;nce of British 183 (8.5
Natural Resources Canada 0.7 0.8
Other 2.2 2.9
TOTAL 21.2 22.2

In 2016/17 FII continued to leverage substantial funds from the Government of Canada. Natural
Resources Canada (NRCan) provided $600,000 to support FII India, and a further $200,000 to support
other market development initiatives.

The year-over-year increase in revenue from other sources is largely attributable to the Softwood
Lumber Board (SLB) contractually engaging FII to deliver the SLB's reThink Wood program in the
United States,

In 2016/17, the funds that FII provided to other organizations through competitive Calls for Proposals
amounted to approximately 40 per cent of FII's total expenditures, with tlie balance used for direct
service delivery by FII in Vancouver and its two subsidiaries.

During the year, FII managed the risks associated with funding and monitoring activities developed
and delivered by third parties, and with initiatives delivered by FII in foreign and domestic markets.
FII ended the year with a surplus of $264,000; $62,000 of which was funding that recipients returned
to FII becanse they cancelled or postponed projects that FII had agreed to cost-share. The balance of
the surplus was from FII direct delivered projects that did not materialize and from a year-end foreign
exchange gain on transactions with the Company’s two foreign subsidiaries.

9 Contributiens received from the Province for tangible capital assets are recorded as deferred contributions. Deferred capital
contributions are reduced ‘and the associaled revenue recognized at the same rate and in the same fiscal period that amortization is
recognized in respect of acquired depreciabie tangible capital assets. This accounts for the differcnce in the cash contributions
received from the Provinee of B.C. and the provincial coniributions recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and
Accumulated Surplus.
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Financial Resource Summary Table' ' (
(in thousands of dollars)

Variance Variance
from from
201112 201213 201314 2014115 201516 201617 2016M7 2016M7 201516
(under) over (under) over

Operating Revenue
Receipts - Province of BC $§ 20745 § 17208 5 17306 § 16813 § 17562 § 18370 5 18459 § 89 5 837
Receipts - Government - Other 284 624 EEL 1,028 823 700 832 § 132 8 9
Other Revenue * 1,153 1,042 678 762 2,697 2200 2916 $§ 716 § 219
Total Revenue $ 22182 5 18874 S5 18715 S 18603 5 21082 § 21270 5 22207 § 937 § 1125
Operating Expenses
Market Outreach & Initiatives 15,935 13,463 12,901 12274 14,298 14,440 15,713 1273 § 1415
China - Market Development 4339 2,566 2,708 3,009 3,166 2,700 2219 481) § (547)
India - Market Development - B74 1,532 1,948 1,992 2,800 2714 86) § T2
Corporate Support 1,388 1,317 1,181 1,226 1,178 1,330 1,297 B33) s 19
Total Expenses $ 22162 § 18220 § 18322 S5 18457 $ 20634 $ 21270 § 21943 § ° 673 5 1309
Net Income from Operations H 20 3 654 § 393 S 146 S 443 5 - 8 264 § 264 S (184)
Capital Expenditures 3 204 S 526 S 238 § 469 S 47 5 225 § 172 (53) $ (175)
Total Liabilities 5 1,969 § 1897 § _5100 ] 2905 § 2493 § 2100 § 319 10% § 703
Accumulated Surplus/Retained Earnings S 1170 § 1824 § 2217 3 2363 5 2811 5 2811 § 307S 264 § 264

' The budgets in these columns have been taken from the FII Service Plan published on February 2017; over time, changes
to these numbers can be anticipated.
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Statement of Management Responsibility

Scope of Responsibility

Management has supervised preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements and
related note disclosures and is responsible for their integrity and objectivity. The consolidated
financial statements of Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. (FII) have been prepared by management
in accordance with the financial reporting provisions prescribed by the Province of British Columbia
pursuant to Section 23.1 of the Budget Transparency and Accountability Act (see Note 2(a)).

We believe that these consolidated financial statements present fairly FII's financial position as at
March 31, 2017 and the consolidated statement of operations, change in net assets, and cash flow for
the year ending March 31, 2017 and that the other information contained in the Company’s annual
report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements as presented.

Internal Controls

Management is responsible for the integrity of the financial statements and has established systems of
internal controls to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are properly authorized, assets are
safeguarded, and financial records are properly maintained to facilitate the preparation of the financial
statements in a timely manner. We continually monitor these internal accounting controls, modifying
and improving them as business conditions and operations change. We believe our system of internal
accounting controls provide reasonable assurance that errors or irregularities that would be material to
the consolidated financial statements are prevented or detected in the normal course of business.

Board of Directors and Audit Committee

The Board of Directors is responsible for reviewing and approving the consolidated financial
statements and overseeing management’s discharge of its financial reporting responsibilities. An
Audit Committee is appointed by the Board. The Audit Committee reviews the consolidated financial
statements, adequacy of internal controls, audit process and financial reporting with management and
with the external auditors. The Audit Committee has reviewed these consolidated statements prior to
recommending approval by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors has reviewed and
approved the financial statements.

Independent Auditors

Grant Thornton has performed an independent audit of the consolidated financial statements of
Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. The Auditor’s Report, as attached, outlines the scope of this
independent audit and expresses an opinion on the financial statements of Forestry Innovation
Investment Ltd.

[ AP
\\&DW Ay

Michael Loseth Douglas Greig
Chief Executive Officer Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Vancouver, British Columbia @
May 19, 2017 '
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o GrantThornton

Independent Auditor’s Report

Grant Thornton LLP

Sule 1600, Grant Thorlon Place
333 Seymour Streel
‘Vancouves, BC

VBB 0Ad

T +1 804 857 2711
F +1 604 605 6560
www Grani Thomion ca

To the Board of Directors of
Forestry Innovation [nvestment Ltd

To the Minister of International Trade,
Province of Batish Columbia

We have audited the accompanying censclidated finanaal statements of Forestry Innovation
Investment Ltd, which compnse the consohdated statement of financial position as at
March 31, 2017 and the consolidated statements of operations and accumulated surplus,
changes 1n net financial assets, and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of these ceonsolidated finandial statements in
accordance with the accounting requirements of Sectien 23.1 of the Budget Tmnsparency and
Accountability Act of the Province of Botish Columbia, and for such intemal contral as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consclidated finandal
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's responsibility

Cur responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on
our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing
standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to cbtain reascnable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financal statements. The procedurss selected depend on the
auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the dsks of matenal misstatement of the
consclidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those nsk
assessments, the auditor considers intemal control relevant to the company’s prepanation of the
consclidated financal statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
dreumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
company’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
polhicies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

At o T » Ackigary
Gt Thomton LLP A Caradber i Grant Th
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° GrantThornton

We believe thar the audic evidence we have obrained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of l'orestry Innovation Investment Led.
for the year ended March 31, 2017 are prepared, in all material respeets, in accordance with
Section 23.1 of the Budget Transparency and Accountability Act of the Province of British
Columbia.

Emphasis of matter

Withour modifying our opinion we draw attention to Note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, which describes the basis of accountng and the significant ditferences berween
such basis of accounting and Canadian public sector accounting standards.

9?...#—7% L4

Vancouver, Canada
May 19, 2017 Chartered Professional Accountants
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Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.

Consolidated Sta_tement of Financial Position

{tn thousands of dollars)

Maich 3 2017 2018
NoE

Financial assets

Cash $ 4,018 3,115
Accounts receivable 605 471
Recipient advances 4 7 70
Due from Province-of Briish Colurmbla 1€ 2
Due from other governments 283 201
Taotal financial assets 4,929 3,880
Liabilities

Arcourts payable and accrued lahilities 3 1,428 1078
Bueto Province of Bilish Columnbiz ] 4
Bueto other governments 123 72
Recipient payables 4 358 ao?
Deferred ecntributions 6 1,280 1,032
Total iiabllities 3,196 2493
Net financiat assets 1,733 1,387
Non-fingncial agsets

Tangible capltal assets 7 671 844
Prepaid expenses 671 560
Tatal non-financial assets 1.342 1424
Actumulsted surplus $ 3,075 2,811
Commitments (Note B)
Anpraved by the Board

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 3
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Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.

Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated

Surplus
{inthousands of dollars)
Year ended March 31 Budget 2017 2016
' Note
Revenue 10
Govemment contributions
Pravincial L 18,370 18459 § 17,562
Federat 700 832 823
Other revenue 2,200 2,360 2,653
investmenrt incorne - 66 44
21,270 22207 21,082
Expenses 10
Funding recipient intiatives 8,902 9,886 8949
Market initiatives and outreach
F!! Vancauver 5,637 5827 5,354
£l China 2,700 2,218 3,166
Fil India 2,800 2,714 1,992
Carporate services 1,330 1,207 1,178
21,270 21,943 20,634
Annual surplus - 264 448
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 2811 2811 2,363
Accumulated surplus, end of year 3 26811 3075 & 2,811
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statemenis. 4
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Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Financial Assets
{in thousands of dallars)

Year ended March 31 Budgst 2017 2016
Annual surplus 3 - $ 264 5 448
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (225) {172 (347}
Amorization of tangible capital assels 265 343 384
UOisposal of tangible capital assels - 2 27
{Acquisifion) use of prepaid expenses - {91) 65
Increase in net financiai assets 30 346 577
iNet financial assets, beginning of year 1,387 1,387 810
Net financial assets, end of ygar % 1417 § 1,733 & 1,387

See accompanying notés to the consolidated financial statements. 5
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Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

{in thousands of dollars)
Year ended March 31 2017 2018

Cash provided by {used in):

Operating
Annuai surplus $ 24 3 448
ftems not involving cash _
Amoertization of tarigible capita! assets 343 384
Amortizaticn of deferred contributions (630) (434)
L.oss on disposal of tangible capital assets 2 27
Change in accounts receivable {134) 19
Change in recipient advances 63 {70}
Change in due from Province of British Columbia 7 - 3
Change in due from other governments 82) 391
Change in accounts payvable and accrued liabilities 351 {174)
Change in due to Province of British Columbia 2 2
Change in due ta other governments. 51 Sy
Change in recipient payables 51 {59}
Change in prepaid expenses (&1) 65
197 657
Capital _
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (172} {347)
Financing
Receipt of deferred contributions 878 433
Increase in cash 803 743
Cash, beginning of year 3,116 2372
Cash, end of year $ 4,018 $ 3,115
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statemerts. 5
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Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

{in thousands of dollars)
March31, 2017

1. General

Forestry Innovation lrvestrment Lid. (the *Company® or *Fll. Vancouver”) was incorporated an
March 31, 2003 under the laws of the Province of British Columbia {the "Province"). The Campany
has authorized capita of 100 comman shares without par value of which 10 shares are issued and
outstanding. Her Majesty the GQiueen jn Right of the Province of British Columbia, as represented by
the Minister of Internationa!l Trade, holds the shares issued. A board of directors govemns the
Carnpany, and all directors are appointed by the Province. The Company's principal activities are fo
fund forest industry associations and research institutions and to. deliver market development and
market initiatives and outreach programs.

2. Summary of significant accountiity policies
{a) Basis of presentation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Section 23.1
af the Budget Transparency and Accountability Act of the Province of British Columbia which
requirés accourting policies which are consistent with Canadian public sector accounting
standards except in regard to the accounting for restricted capital caniributions.

Under Section 23.1 of the Budget Transparency and Accountability Act and its related
regulations, the Company is required to recognize restricted capitai contributions as a liability
and regognize themn into revenue on the sarme basis as the related amortization expense. (

Under Canadian public seclor accotmnting standards, those transfers with stipulafions that have
been met or that do not contain stipulations that create a liability, are fully recognized into
revenus.

The impact of this difference on the consolidated ﬁna_'ncial statements of the Company would be
a decrease in deferred capitat contributions as at March 34, 2017, and increases in revenues
and annual surpius for the year then ended.

{b} Reporting entity and basis of consolidation

These cansdlidated financial statements reflect the assets, liabllities, revenues and expenses of
the reporting ertity, The reporting entity is comprised of the Company caonsolidated with -FIl
Consulting {Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (°FIl China"}, a wholly-owned subsidiary registered under the
laws of the People’s Republic of China; 0338031 B.C. Ud, a whally-owned subsidiary
regisiered under the laws of British Columbia; and Forestry Innovation Consulling India Pvt.
Utd. {*Fll India"}, 2 wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and 0938031 B.C. Ltd,, registered
under the laws of the Republic of lhdia.

FIl China is based in Shanghai, China, and Fll India is based in Mumbai, India, with both
subsidiaries delivering market development progams on behalf of the Company. The
subsidianies are consolidated on a line-by-line basis after inter-organizational fransactions and
halances between these erttities have been eliminated.
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Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(in thousands of dollars)
March 31, 2017

2, Summary of sighificant accounting policies {continued)
{c) Reventue recognition

Unrestricted coniributions, donations and gfants afe recorded as revenue when receivable if
the amounts can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured.

Restricted contributions include amounts received from the Province and the Canadian Federal
Government for specific purposes. Restricted contributions are recorded as defered
cantributions whan received or receivable. The deferred contribution and associated revenue
are recognized based upon the nature of the restriction, as follows:

(1 Restricted capitsl coniribuitions

Capital conkributions for the purpose of acquiring or ‘developing 2 depreciable tangible
capital asset are recorded and referred to as deferred capital contributions. Deferred capital
contiibutions are reduced and the associated revenue recagnized at the same rate and in
the same fiscal pericd that amortization is recognized in respect of acquired depreciable
tangible capital asset used to provide setvices.

(i} Other restricled contribiutions

Deferrad contributions are reduced and the associated revenue récognized in the petiod
during which the stipulation or restriction on the centribution have been met.

Investment income includes interest recorded on an accrual basis,
(d) Program expenses

Program expenses include amounts transferred to recipient organizations based on recipient
funding contracts to carry out specific program activities. Amounts transferred are recognized
as expenses in the period in which évents. giving rise to the transfer occur, providing the
transfers are authorized, any eligibility criteria have been met by the recipient, and reasonable
estimates of the amounts can be made,

{e) Pension plans

The Company and its employees centribute lo the Public Service Pension Plan, which is a
muiti-employer jointly trusteed plan. The plan is a defined benefit plan, providing pension on
retiremient based on the member's age at retirerment, length of service and highest eamings:
averaged over five years. As the assets and liabilities -of the plan are no! segregaled by
employer, the plan [s accounted for as a defined contribution plan and any Company
contributions to the plan are expensed as ingumed.

() Financial instruments
Financial instruments consist of cash, accounts receivable, amounts due from the Province,
amourts due from other governmants, recipient advances, accounts payable and accrued
liabilities, amourts due to the Provinge, amounts die to other governrents, and recipient
payables.

The Company measures its financial instrumenrts at cost or amartized cost.
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Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

{in thousands of dallars)
March 31, 2017

2. Summary of significant accounting policles {continued)
{f} Financial instruments {continued)

For financial instruments measured at cost or amortized cost, transaction costs are added to
the cost of the financial instruments.

Interest and dividends attributable to financial instruments are reported in the consolidated
statement of aperations.

All fimancial assets are tested apnuaily for impairment. When financial assets are impaired,
impairment losses are recorded in the consolidated statement of operations.

There are no financial instruments measured at fair value; therefore, the consolidated financial
statements do not include.a consclidated statement of remeasurement gains and losses.

{g} Non-financial assets
{i) Tangible capital assets
Tangible capital assels are recorded at cost, which includes all amounts that are diréctly

aftributable to the acquisition, construstion, develapment or betterment of the asset. Cost,
less residual vaiue, of the tangible capital assets is amortized on a straight-line basis over

their estimated useful lives as follows: ( '
Asset Usefut fife
Computer equipment 3 years
Computer software 2 years
Furniture and equipment 5years
Leasehold improvements lesser of the |ease term
and its useful life
Tradeshaow booths: Ayears

Assets under consfruction are not amortized untii the asset is available for produgtive use,
(i} Contribitions of tangible capital assels

Tangible capilal assets received as contributions are recarded at their fair value at the-date
of receipt.

(i) Interest capitalization o

The Cormpany does not capitalize interest costs associated with the acquisition or
construction of tangible capiial assets.

() intangible assels

Intangible assets are not recognized in these consalidated finangial statemerits, t

e
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Forestry Innovation investment Ltd.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
{in thousands of dollars)
Mareh 31,-2017

2. ‘Summary of significant accounting policies {continued)
{h) Foreign currency translation

These consolidated financial staterments are stated In Canadian-dollars. The Campany's foreign
operations, condicted through FII China and Fll India, are considered financially
interdependent” with the Company, and- are franslated from Chinese renminbi ("RMB"} and
indian rupee [*INR™) using the temporal method of translation. Accordingly, monetary asseis
and liabilities are translated at the spot exchange rates in efféct at the date of the statement of
financial position; non-monetary items are translated af historical exchange rates in effect on
the dates of the transactions, Revenue and expense ilems are translated at monthly average
exchange rales in effect during the month in which the transaction accurred, except for
amaortization which is transiated at the historical exchange rate of the corresponding non-
manetary item. Realized exchange gains and losses are included in the consolidated statement
of operations.

(i) Budget

Budget data presented in these consolidated financial statements are based on the Company's
Service Plans. The budget was approved by the Board of Directors on June 21, 2016.

()} Use of estimates

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires managemant to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and llabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilties at the date of the consclidated financial
statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the year. Significant
itemns subject to such estimates and assumptions ifclude the useful fives of property and
equipment. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

{k} Segment disclosures
A segment is defined as a distinguishable activity or group of activities of an entity for which is it

is appropriate to separately repert financial information. The Company has provided definifions
of segments used by the Company as well as presented financial information of the segments

in Note 10.
3. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 2017 2018
Trade payables : $ 794 5 516
Accrued fiabilities 835 062
$ 1428 § 1,078
10
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Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

{in thousands of dollars)
March 31, 2017

4. Recipient advances and payables

The Compeny’s pelicy on recigient funding contracts stipulates that unspent advances are repaid to
the Company. Historicaily, unspent advances have been repaid to the Compaty prior to the end of
the first quarter of-the new fiscal year afier final reconeiliation reports have been submitted,

in addition, the Company withholds a percentage of earnable administration costs fram their interim
advances. Recipients would qualify for this final funding armount withheld based on meeting eligible
repofiing criterfa in the recipient reparting process.

As at March 31, 2017, the Company has identified $358 {2016 - $307) as payable to the recipient
organizations and $7 (2016 — $70} as receivable from the recipient organizations.

S. Pension plans

The Company and its employees contribute to the Public Service Pension Plan, which is a multi-
employer jointly trusteed plan. The plan is a defined benefit ptan, providing pensicn on retirement
based on the member's age of retirement, length of service and highest earnings averaged over
five years. The beard of trustees of the plan represents plan members and employers and s
respansible for the management of the plan including invesiment of the assets and-administration
of the plan.

The most recent actuarial valuation for the Public Service Pension Fian as at March 31, 2014 ( B
indicated 2 $194 million funding surplus for basic pension benefits, .

The plan is accounted for as a defined contribution plan. During the year ended March 31, 2017,
the Company paid $179 (2015 - $159) far emplayer cantributions ta the plan.

8. Deferred contributions

Deferrad contributions consist of contributions received from the Pravinzé for tangible capital assets
and ather capital and aperating conkiibutions for which goods and services remain outstanding.
Deferred conlributicng are comprised of the following:

Provingial Other 2017 2016
Balance, beginning  § 778§ 254 § 1,082 % 1,033
of year
Contribttions received
during the year 175 703 878 433
Amounts amartized _
to revenue {341) (289) {630} {434)
Balance, end of year  § B12 & GEB § 1,280 % 1,032

included in Provingial deferred contributions is SNl (2016 - $ Nil) that is unspent.

1
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Forestry Innovation Investment Lid.

Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.

Motes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

{in thousands of doliars}
March 31, 2017

7. Tangible capital assets
{a} Assets inuse

Cost

Computer equipmeant
Computer software
Furniture and equipment
Leasehold improvements
Tradeshow booths

Additions .

Accumulated amortization

- Computer equipment
Computer scftware
Furniture and equipment
t.easehold improvements
Tradeshow booths

Net book value

Computer equipment
Camputer software
Furniture and equipment
Leasehold improvements
Tradeshow booths

2016 Disposals 2017

$ 717 % 123 (157) 583
76 - (21} 55

387 12 (15} a4

1,105 - - 1,105

585 37 ~ E22

$ 2,870 % 172 {193) 2,849
2016 Amortization Disposals 207
3 623 % 58 (157) 524
63 7 (21) 48

279 34 (13) 300

819 162 - ™

442 82 - 524

3 2026 & 343 {191} 2,178
2016 2017

3 94 159
13 6

108 84

486 324

143 28

$ 844 671

(b} Assets disclosed at nominal values

The cost of tangible capital assets inciudes the fair market value of certain assels transferred to
the Company from the Province effective April 1, 2003 for one dollar. These assets are now

fully amortized.

12
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Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

{in thousands of dollars)
March 31, 2017

8. Commitments

(a) The Company has lease commitments for its premises it oecupies.

2018 $ 961
2019 319
2020 239

$ 1,519

{b) The Company alsc has an obligation te pay $396 (2016 - 51,734) fur cortracts entered into and
nat yet completed at March 31, 2017,

{c) Cash copsists of an operating line of credit with HSBC Bank of Canada with maximum
avallable credit of 32,000,000 which incurs interest at prime plus 0.5% per annum. As of
March 31, 2017, no amounts have been withdrawn through the wilization of the credit fine.

9. Financial instruments risk management

The Company has exposure ta the following risks from its use of financial instruments:;

Credit risk (
Credit risk is the. risk that the Company's counterparties default or become insolvent

“The Company is potentially exposed to credit risk through cash, accounts receivable, recipient
advances, amaunts due from the Province, and amounts due from other governments. Gash is
maintained with financial institutions of reputable credit and may be redeemed upon demand.
Accounts receivable conslst mainly of cost share agreements which are monitored on a regular
basis. Amounts due from the Province and 2mounts due from other govemments consist of
reimbursement claims. It is the Company's opinion that its exposure to credit risk s subject to
normal industry risks and is considered minimal.

As at March 31, 2017, accounts receivable, recipient advarices, amounts due from the Pravince, .
and amounts due from other govermments are comprised of

Under 90 days' Over 90 days Total
Accounis receivable $ 605 3 - $ 605
Recipient advances 7 - 7
Due from Pravince of British Columbia 16 - 16
Due frem other govermments 283 - 283
Allowance for doubtful aceounts - - -

$ a11 % - & 811

13
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Forestry innovation Investment Lid.

Notes to the Consoclidated Financial Statements
{in thousands of dellars)
March 31, 2047

9. Financial instruments risk- management {continued)
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial abligations as they
become due.

The Company manages its exposure to liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash balances
throughout the year to meet its short-term obligations. (t is the Company's opinion that its exposure
to liquidity risk is subject to narmal industry nisks and:is considered minimal.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that fluctuations in market prices will affect the Company's net financial
assets. Market risk comprises two types of risk:

Currency risk and foreign denominated cash
Currency risk is the risk that fluctuations in foreigh currencies will affect the Company's net financial
assets denominated in foreign currencies,

The Company is subject to foreign exchange risk through its program payables and program
advances and a pertion of the Company's program and tradeshow costs, which are dernominated in
Chinasa renminti, Indian rupee and United States dollars. The Compary manages. its exposure to
currency risk by monitaring its assets and liabilties denominated in foreign currencies and
purchasing foreign denominated currengy to pay upcoming commitrnents when the market
conditions are favourable, The Company does not use derivatives instuments to reduce its
exposure ta foreign cumency risk. Included in office costs is $109 (2016 — $155) foreign exchange
gains.

Thé amounts shown are transiated to Canadian dellars at the cloging rate;

2017
USD denominated ~ RMB denominated  INR-denominated CAD
amounts in CAD amounts.in CAD amounts in CAD Total
Cash g 332 8 430 % 85 g27
Accounts receivable - - 283 263
Accounts payable ) - 164 248 410
2016
USD denominated RME denominated INR dencminated CAD
amounts in CAD amounts in CAD amounts in CAD Teotal
Cash $ 1657 5 258 0§ 40 % 455
Accaunts receivable - 1 161 162
Accounts payable’ - 243 180 393
14
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Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.

Forestry innovation Investment Ltd.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(in thousands of dollars)
March 31, 2017

8. Financial instruments risk management (continued)

Market risk {continued)

interest rate risk.

Interest rate risk is the risk that fluctuations in interest rates will affect the Company's net financial
assefs that bear interest at variable rates. The Company manages its exposure to interest rate risk
by investing in interest bearing cash accounts.

10. Segmented information

Segmented information has been identified based upon programs provided by the Company.
Company programs and their activities are reported by functiomal area in thé body of the
consolidated finangial statements. Programs that have been separately disclosed in the segmented
information, along with the services they provide, are as follows:

{2} Funding Recipient [nitiatives

Uses project funding delivered through an annual "Call for Proposals” in partnership with the
Government of Canada to fund forest industry associations and research institutions to;

+ Maintain and create opportunities for BC wood products in existing and emerging markets:

s Ensure that customers, consumers, designers, builders, developérs and architects know
about BC wood products and the many positive features they bring to wood:frame
constructian and interior finisting; )

» Support the development of innovative new forest prodticts; and

« Provide interested parties around the world with information on the properties and gualities
of BC's forest praducts and the BC companies that supply them.

{b] Market [nitiatives and Outreach Program

() Fil Vancouver initiatives.

Internally directs delivered programs that:

lcantify potertial opportunities for BC forest products through market research and
develop market access sirategies;
Ensure BC forest products have access to markets free from regulatory and ather

. barriers through initiatives and research;

Provide customers and foreign regulators with fagts about the environmental merits of
BC forest products, including the sustainable forest management regime that underlles
their production;

Research opportunities in new and emerging markets, and initiate early market
exploration activities;

Champion the Province's Wood First priorities and encourage expanded wood Use in
BC,

15
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Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd,

Forestry Innovation Investment Litd.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
{in thousands ¢t dollars)
March 31, 2017

10. Segmented information {continued)

{t¥) Market Initiatives and Outreach Program {continued)

(i) Fif Vancowver [nitfatives (continued)

Raise awareness of the Province as a world leader in advanced wood construction and
design; and

Encourage a robust valued-added seclor in BC through enhanced capacity and
competitiveness.

{fi} Fil China Initiatives

Fil China has a mandate o increase the volume and value of BC [umber exports to China
oy expanding the share of wood frame construction in China's building sector. Fil China
focuses on the following activities:

Expanding and strengthening relationships with central and regionai govemnment
agencies respansible for bullding and construction in China and with large state-owned
developers, emphasizing the pursuit of strategic and joint initiatives;

Buiding partnerships with established market leaders in China's development sector
and suppording these companies in areas of concept development, planning and
tesign, code application, and resource integration; and

Working closely with Canadian forest industry trade association staff to expand China's
technical capacity to deploy waood frame construction.

{iii} Fil frdia Initiatives

FI India has a mandate to establish & local presence in India for BC and Canadian forest
products companies, develop warking relationships with government officials, regulatory
agencies, and the wood user cormmunity; and position BC and Canadian forest products for
future growth. The operation focuses on early-market (pre-commercial) development
activitias, inchuding: .

Supporting development of the market for BC and Canadian farest products through
market research;

Promoting BC and Canadian wood species in various end-uses;

Educating the market place on BC and Canadian wood species and their proper use;
Praviding intermediation with indian regutatory authorities; and

Providing direct support for BC companies entering the India market.

(c} Corporale services

Corporate services performs the following activities:

& & % &

Ensures financial reparting to government standards:

Provides Human Resource, IT and office services {o meet organizationzl needs;

Oversees budget and planning controls in alignment with strategic objectives; and

Provides corporate communication and analyical services fo meet internal and external

needs.

16
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Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

{in thousands of detiars).
March 31, 2017

10, Segimented Information (continued)

Market initiatives and Outreach

Funding
Recipient Corporale 2017 2016
Inifiatives  FIl Vancouver £1i Chira Fil india Services Total Tota!
Revanues
Gavernment contributions
Pravincial g 8903 S 3202 5 2788 S 2236 S 1312 % 18450 & 17.562
Federal 181 51 - Ba0 - 832 823
Other revenue 43 2,618 15 175 9 2,860 2653
Ivestment incorne - - - - 56 66 44
Tolal revenues 9137 5,871 2,801 3034 1,377 ¢ 22,207 21.082
Expohses
Amcrization - 8 102 144 g4 343 384
Auditing 298 - 38 7 44 407 elu:
Grants 693 - - - - 693 278
Office costs 33 231 31 395 158 1,189 1,403
Professional services 175 3,635 468 B34 85 5189 4 589
Pragram costs 8414 91 108 104 {50 8,860 8,305
Salaries, wages and benefits 272 1,941 1,018 860 801 4,482 4492
Trade missians - 23 - - - 2 197
Travel and business casls - 98 184 345 130 757 566
Total éxpenses 9 886 5,827 2,219 2714 1,297 21,843 20,8534 (
Anndal surplus (deficit) 3 {f98) & 4 3 5682 3 378 BO S 264 § 448
17
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Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.

Appendix A: Subsidiaries and Operating Segments

Active Subsidiaries
Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. operates the following subsidiary companies:

FII Consulting (Shanghai) Co. Ltd. (wholly owned by Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.)

Primary business: Supporting the B.C. forest industry by directing market research and leading
government relations and business development, particularly with state owned enterprises.

Objective: To grow the market for B.C. wood products in China, primarily by creating new demand
for structural lumber and related building products.

Governance. Sole Executive Director: Michael Loseth, FII CEO
Senior Management: Lisa Dou, General Manager

Strategic Direction and Operating Environment: The business activities and priorities of FII
Consulting (Shanghai) Co. Ltd. are fully consistent with the mandate, strategic priorities and fiscal
plan of FII Ltd. The subsidiary company is also in full compliance with the Government’s Taxpayer
Accountability Principles.

Risk Management: F1I funds its market development programming in China from Canada and, as a
result, FII is subject to foreign exchange risk through its program advances to its subsidiary
companies. Program costs for its subsidiaries are denominated in Chinese Renminbi. FII manages its
exposure to currency risk by monitoring assets and liabilities denominated in these foreign currencies
and by purchasing foreign denominated currency when market conditions are favourable. The
downward trend in the value of the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar has increased FII’s
exchange rate risk as the value of the Chinese Renminbi is roughly pegged against the U.S. dollar.
Consequently, increases or decreases in the value of the U.S. dollar relative to other currencies can
affect the value of the Renminbi against the Canadian dollar.

Financial Resource Summary Table

FII Consulting (Shanghai) Co. Ltd.
(in thousands of dollars)

2015/16 201617 2016117

Actual Budget Actual

Operating Revenue

Receipts - Forestry Innovation Investment _$ 3166 $ 2700 $ 2219

Total Revenue $ 3,166 $ 2,700 $ 2,219
Operating Expenses

China - Market Development 3,166 2,700 2,219

Total Expenses $ 3,166 % 2700 § 2,219
Net Income from Operations $ - § - $
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F_II'Consglting India Private Limited (jointly owned by Forestry [nnovation Investment Ltd. and
0939031 B.C. Ltd.'%)

Primary business: Supporting the development of the Indian market for B.C. forest products through
market research, promoting B.C. wood products and related technologies, undertaking product trials
and demonstration work, and icading communication and education outreach efforts to enhance
awareness of B.C. and Canadian softwood species in India.

Objective. To establish a new market for B.C. wood products in India by creating demand for lumber
suitable for the manufacture of furniture, doors and windows, interior millwork and other non-
structural products.

Governance: Three-member Board of Directors:

¢ Michael Loseth (Chair), FII CEO
¢ Douglas Greig, FII Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
o Pranesh Chhibber; FII India Country Director

Senior Management: Pranesh Chhibber, Country Director, FII India

Strategic Direction and Operating Environment. The business activities and priorities of FII

Consulting India Private Limited are fully consistent with the mandate, strategic priorities and fiscal
plan of FII Ltd. The subsidiary company is also in full compliance with the Governinent’s Taxpayer
Accountability Principles (for more information on F1I's compliance with TAP, refer to pages 3-5).

Risk Management: FII funds its market development programming in India from Canada and, as a
result, FII is subject to foreign exchange risk through its program advances to its subsidiary
companies. Program costs for its subsidiaries are denominated in Indian Rupees. F1I managcs its
exposure to cutrency risk by monitoring assets and liabilities denominated in these foreign currencies
and by purchasing foreign denominated currency when market conditions are favourable. Over the
past year, the value of the Canadian dollar against the Rupee declined marginally, slightly increasing
FII’s exchange rate costs for India operations,

' This joint ownership exists to meet India’s requirement that there be at least twe shareholders of a foreign-owned
company,
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Financial Resource Summary Table

FII Consulting India Private Limited
(in thousands of dollars)

201516 2016117 2016117
Actual Budget Actual
Operating Revenue
Receipts - Forestry Innovation Investment $ 1,392 § 2200 $§ 2114
Receipts - Natural Resources Canada $ 600 $ 600 $ 600
Total Revenue $ 1992 § 2800 $ 2,714
Operating Expenses
India - Market Development 1,992 2,800 2,714
Total Expenses $ 1992 § 2800 $ 2714
Net Income from Operations $ - $ - $ -
Inactive Subsidiary

FII maintains a non-operating subsidiary company, 0939031B.C. Ltd. (wholly owned by Forestry
Innovation Investment Ltd.) whose sole purpose is to function as the second shareholder of FII
Consulting India Private Limited (reflecting India legislation that requires foreign-owned companies
to have at least two shareholders).
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Appendix B: Additional Information

Corporate Governance

FII is responsible to the Minister of International Trade through a six-member Board of Directors.
The Government appoints the Board to set operational policy, and, in cooperation with senior
management, to set strategic direction. The Board monitors FII’s performance based on the
Province’s planning and reporting principles. The Board appoints the CEO and delegates
responsibility to the CEO for the day-to-day leadership and management of the organization.

The Board incorporates best practices into its governance procedures as guided by the Best
Practices Guidelines on Governance and Disclosure for Public Sector Organizations. FII's Status of
Concurrence with Best Practices Guidelines is available on the Company’s website.

Full details on the role and membership of the Board of Directors, as well as corporate reports, and
details on adherence to the requirements of the Board Resourcing and Development Office are also
available on the www.bcfii.ca web site.

Organizational Overview

FII works with the forest industry, the Government of Canada, research institutions, and other

stakeholders to deliver forward looking, innovative market development programs. To provide the

best value to taxpayers and stakeholders, and reflecting the Province’s Taxpayer Accountability
Principles, FII uses a joint delivery model for program delivery. This approach takes advantage of
industry expertise and marketing networks, and ensures that program costs are shared with other
organizations. (

Details on the mandate of FII, its vision, mission and values, and its organizatiornal structure are
available at www.bcfii.ca as are previous Service Plans and Annual Reports. Also available on the
site is additional information on FII, its programs and its partners, including an annual Report to
Stakeholders that highlights accomplishments of the program in major markets around the world.

Comprehensive information about B.C.’s sustainable forest management practices and products is
available at www.naturallywood.com, with links to many forest product companies and trade
associations.
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Appendix C: Crown Corporation’s Mandate and Actions Summary

Tnthe 2016/17 Maindate Letter from the Mind

ster responsible, Forestry Innovation Investment

received direction on strategic priorities for the 2016/17 fiscal year. These priorities and the Crown
Corporation’s resulting actions are summarized below:

in Asia through:

a. Ensuring programs reflect China’s
changing economic realities and
continue to advance the use of B.C.
wood in construction and other
applications;

b. Aligning Forestry Innovation
Investment’s market development
activitics with Government’s three-
year market strategy for India; and

¢. Working with the forest industry in
identifying and advancing
opportunities in Southeast Asia.

1. Retain a strong focus on building markets | e« Completed updates on market development

strategies for China, India and Japan. The
strategies establish the priarities for FII's

investments and operations in the markets
over the next three years,

e Maintained co-location with the Ministry of
International Trade’s (MIT) operation in

 Mumbai and continued expansion of the
India program by opening satellite offices in
the Delhi region and Bangalore.

o Completed market opportunity research in
Vietnam focused on opportunities for B.C.
products in the manufacturing sector. This
was followed by an Fll-led mission to

updated Service Plan performance
measurgs.

Vietnam in May, 2017.
2. Implement the five-year strategic plan FIt | ¢  Funded and delivered a comprehensive
developed last year, and the organization’s Market Initiatives and Market Outreach

program-to expand B.C. s exports in major
markets in Asia, North America and Europe.

e (Guided by market-specific development
strategies, F11 allocated a total of $6.4
million to third party organizations to deliver
market development activities in China,
Japan, Korea, India, the US and Europe.
This funding {everaged an additional $19
million in federal government and industry
contributions.

e Partmered with the US-based Softwood
Lumber Board (SLB) to deliver the $2.9
million reThink Wood program for which
the SLB contributed over 85% of total
funding for this Fll-managed initiative.

¢ Led the Wood First program to further
establish B.C. as a leader in developing and
using innovative wood products and building
systems. During the year, F1I allocaled a
tatal of $2.7 million to seven organizations
to deliver Wood First initiatives on behalf of
FII and the B.C. Government.
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s Began tracking performance per the updated

metrics contained in the 2016/17 Scrvice (
' Plan . -
3. Collaborate with the Ministry of I'orests, s Collaborated with the Ministry of Forests,
Lands and Natural Resource Opcrations to Lands and Natural Resource Operations
jointly develop and implement an action (MFLNRO} to support the goal of creating a
plan for the value added wood products - diverse, globally competitive forest industry.
sector and align FII’s activities with those | «  Worked with MFLNRO and MIT to
of Government. complete a review of existing export

programming, and best practices from other
sectors and jurisdictions as a precursor to
launching a pilot program to support new
value added exporters.
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Statutory Authority: N/A
Type of Organization: Advisory Council
Appointment Process: Ministerial Order

Background:

e The Legacy Initiatives Advisory Council (LIAC) warks with Chinese Canadian
communities and other community associations, professional associations and
government to ensure successful implementation of the legacy projects resulting from
the Chinese Historical Wrongs Consuitation Final Report, and facilitate meaningful
community engagement.

» The Ministry of international Trade supperts the LIAC,

Program Description:

+ The LIAC's strategic objectives are to advance the legacy projects by:

o Providing government with the expert content advice required to successfully
implement legacy projects.

o Providing expert advice on Chinese Canadian social history.

o Developing relationships between communities, other associations and government
to implement practical measures for legacy initiatives.

e The LIAC consists of twenty-two members, including two co-chairs, selected for their
understanding of Chinese culture and social history in British Columbia, and experience
buitding positive relationships..

e LIAC members are serving for a term ending on December 31, 2017.

Current Appointees:

Members are appointed by Ministerial Order. There are currently 22 Members with terms set to
expire on December 31, 2017:

o David W. Choi, Co-Chair
e Henry S.N. Yu, Co-Chair
« Donald J. Bain, Member

e Chi Tung Chan, Member
= Thomas Chan, Member

e Queenie Choo, Member

o Lily 8. Chow, Member

* Howard E. Grant, Member
* George Ing, Member

» JunY. Ing, Member

Last updated: May 9, 2017 Page 1 of 2
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e Fred Y. Kwok, Member

e David Chuenyan Lai, Member
e Diana M. Lam, Member
e Carol A. Lee, Member

e Shui Tung Lee, Member
e Imogene L. Lim, Member
e  William Ma, Member

e Zaixin Ma, Member

e Henry Tom, Member

e Kenneth Tung, Member
e Jan Walls, Member

e King R. Wan, Member

Appointments required:
e No board appointments are set to expire within the next 90 days.

Website: http://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/governments/multiculturalism-anti-racism/chinese-
legacy-be/legacy-initiatives-advisory-council

Contacts: (

Legacy Initatives Advisory Council: Ministry:
Co-Chairs:Henry S.N. Yu and David W. Choi Tom Graham
Director
Ministry provides secretariat function Corporate Initiatives Branch
(250) 356-1705
(
Last updated: May 9, 2017 Page 2 of 2

page 216 of 295 MIT-2017-72289






COUNCIL MEMBER BIOGRAPHIES

Pl D S Pl N et Mo LA T e
(Back row, from left to right: Carol Anne Lee, Don Bain, Kenneth Tung, Henry Tom, William Ma, Jan
Walls, Shui Lee, George Ing, Zaixin Ma, Jun Ing. Front row, from left to right: Imogene Lim, Queenie Choo,
David Chuen Yan Lai, Henry Yu, David Choi, Lily Chow, Thomas Chan, Tung Chan. Not pictured: Howard
Grant, Fred Y. Kwok, Diana Lam, King Wan.)

T

David W. Choi
Co-Chair

David Choi is the elected national executive chair of the National Congress of Chinese Canadians
since 2010. He is the founder, chair and president of Royal Pacific Real Estate Group Ltd., which
include subsidiaries Royal Pacific Realty Holdings Ltd. and Royal Pacific Realty Group of companies.
David is a recipient of numerous awards. His broad volunteer community experience includes
academia, government, health and social service, governance, and media in international, national
and civic organizations in the chair, governor, adjudicator and director positions.

He is a SFU adjunct professor and co-chairs the SFU David Lam Centre’s Chinese Canadian History
Project Council, which produced the first Chinese Canadian Chronological Chart in English, French
and Chinese in both 2000 (A Canada Millennium Celebration Project) and in 2010. He was also co-
executive producer of the film “Canadian Steel, Chinese Grit”, a documentary on Chinese Canadian
railway workers.)
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Henry S.N. Yu
Co-Chair

Henry Yu was born and raised in B.C. He received his BA in Honours History from UBC and an MA
and PhD in History from Princeton University. After teaching at UCLA for a decade, Yu returned to
UBC to help build new programs focused on the irans-Pacific connections between North America,
Asia, and the Pacific.

Between 2010 and 2012, he was the Project Lead for the “Chinese Canadian Stories” project
involving UBC, SFU, and over 29 community organizations across Canada. He was the co-chair of the
City of Vancouver's project, “Dialogues between First Nations, Urban Aborlgmal and lmmigrant
Communities” in 2010-2013. :

He received the Queen Elizabeth Il Diamond fubilee Medal for his community service. Currently, he
is the principal of St. John's College, UBC, and for the past eight years has been the director of the
Initiative for Student Teaching and Research in Chinese Canadian Studies, which is part of the new
Asian Canadian and Asian Migration Studies program in the Faculty of Arts at UBC.

Donald 1. Bain

Member

Don Bain is the executive director of the Union of British Columbia Indian Chiefs, an organization
dedicated to recognition of Aboriginal rights and respect for Aboriginal cultures and societies, as
well as fostering fundamental and necessary research skills for Aboriginal people in the province.
From the Lheidfi T'enneh community outside of Prince George, Mr. Bain graduated from UBC with a
degree in Anthropology, and worked on his community's Traditional Use Study. For over ten years
he has been instrumental in supperting the work of UBCIC to build trust, honour and respect, ta
continue the healing and reconciliation of First Nations, to support Aboriginal peoples at regional,
national and international forums and to build intertribal refationships.

Chi Tung Chan
Member

Tung Chan is dedicated to building sacial pathways to connect people in our society. He is currently
an honorary captain of the Royal Canadian Navy and the chair of the Canadian Museum of
Immigration at Pier 21. He is also a board member of the Vancouver Foundation, Rick Hansen
Institute, and the Canadian Foundation for Economic Education.

In his professionhal and political career, Mr. Chan has served as the chief executive officer of
S.U.C.C.E.S.S., VP of the TD Bank Group and counciilor of the City of Vancouver. Mr. Chan holds a
Bachelor of Arts degree from the University of British Columbia and a General Management
Diploma from the Institute of Canadian Bankers where he is also a Fellow. In recognition of his
contribution to the community, Mr. Chan was awarded the Queen’s Galden and Diamond Juhilee
Medal and the Order of B.C.
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Thomas Chan
Member

Thomas Chan has been a Chartered Accountant since 1986 and has practised exclusively in Victoria
from the start of his career in 1981 with Touche Rass & Co.

After leaving Touche Ross in 1989, Mr. Chan continued his professional development with
Crawford, Pattersan and Campbell before starting the firm Chan & Wong in 1991. In 2008, Mr. Chan
formed his present firm, Chan & Associates. He has extensive knowledge in all facets of accounting
and tax for profit-oriented businesses and audits of not-for-profit organizations.

Mr. Chan has been very active in the Chinese Community in Victoria and throughout Canada. Mr.
Chan presently is the national president of the Dart Coon Club and president of the Chinese
Consolidated Benevolent Association. He has experience in bridging communities of different.
cultures proven by his various invitations by the Government of China and Guangdong Province to
attend special functions and make presentations and introductions regarding business
opportunities.

Queenie Choo
Member

With her strong background in community services and effective leadership ability, in 2012,
Queenie Choo was appoinied as the CEO of 5.U.C.C.E.S.S., the largest non-prafit social service
organization in B.C..

Ms. Chao’s role as CEQ -has been based on her ability to blend a rigorous and result oriented
approach with a genuine sensitivity to people. Her unique contributions include, but have not been
limited to, presentation to the CIC standing committee on women’s issues, and the Senate
Committee on termination of entrepreneur investment programs, to name a few. She has led the
teams to develop many innovative programs in the area of skills and training, employment, business
development, settlement, language, family and youth, seniors care and housing. '

With a true devotion to community, Ms. Choo was recognized as the QF Il Diamond Jubilee award
recipient for her significant cantributions to the community. She received her master degree from
the University of Alberta. Ms. Choo has also presented widely, both nationally and internationally.
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Lity 5. Chow
Member (

Lily Chow, a researcher, writer and educator, immigrated to British Columbia in 1967. She received
her Master of Education from the University of Victoria, and taught in high schoeol and at UNBC
before retirement.

Her writing focuses on Canadian Chinese histary, She is a community activist making efforts to
promote and preserve Canadian Chinese cuiture and heritage, and has engaged in many projects
and activities related to building bridges between Canadian Chinese heritage organizations and
institutions of other ethnic groups as well as the culturzl exchange establishments in Guangdong,
China.

One of her publications, Sojourners in the North, has won the Jeanne Clarke Memorial Local History
Award, Prince George. She has also been awarded the Queen’s Jubilee Medal twice {2002 & 2012)
for her outstanding community spirit and academic research.

Howard E. Grant
Member

Howard E. Grant is currently the executive director of the First Nations Summit {FNS) which is
comprised of a majority of First Nations and Tribal Councils in B.C. The FNS provides a forum for
First Nations in British Columbia to address issues related to Aboriginal title and rights and treaty
negotiations as well as other issues of common concern,

Mr. Grant is also a long serving member of council from his home community of Musqueam, whose
traditional territory once occupied much of what is now Vancouver and surrounding areas and is
now located at the mouth of the Fraser River in Vancouver. In his role as executive director of First (
Nations Summit he is responsible for the overall human resgurces and financial management of the
FNS operations.

Mr. Grant was previously employed as the executive director of the Musqueam Iadian Band from
1992-1997. He also held senior management positions with the federal government (Department of
Indian and Northern Affairs Canada DIAND now AANDC) from 1984-1992.

Within his roles as executive director of the Musqueam Indian Band and senior manager with
DIAND, he was responsible for operational issues, policy development and implementation and
budget/audit requirements. Mr. Grant has served and continues to serve on numerous First Nations
committees, federal committees, boards, post-secondary advisory committees, and public sector
committees in the capacity of advisor and/or board member. He also sits as a board member on
numerous capital and economic boards.
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George Ing
Member

George Ing was born in Victoria and joined the RCAF in 1955. Recruited as an air crafisman (Private)
he was trained as a radar technician. He graduated with a BSc from St Mary's University, and a MBA
from George Washington University in Washington DC. In 1974 he was promoted to the rank of
Lieutenant Colonel and assigned to be the commanding officer of Comm Group Europe. He also
served as the military sports commissioner. In 1987 LCol Ing, CD2, Queens Silver Jubilee Medal,
NATO Decoration, retired from the CF early and became the DND civilian project manager of a
$300M project. Concurrently, he served as vice-president of St James Social Services.

George Ing is the past president of Pacific Unit 280, the only unit of WWII Chinese Canadian
Veterans, and is a past vice-president of the Chinese Canadian Military Museum. He has also been a
board member of the Asian Heritage Society.

JunY. Ing
Member

Jun Ing has been an active volunteer in the community since the early 1990s. He is a key player in
organizing many high profile community events including the annuzl Canada Day celebration,
Remembrance Day tribute, and the popuiar sighature multicultural event in Vancouver - the
Chinese New Year Parade.

Mr. Ing is currently the vice-president of the Chinese Benevolent Associations of Vancouver, an
umbrella organization for over 100 Chinese associations. In recognition of his autstanding
community service, he was awarded the Queen Efizabeth || Diamond Jubilee Medal.

Mr. Ing is an engineer with a full-time professional career. in his leisure, he teaches Chinese martial
arts and traditional lion dance.

Fred Y. Kwok
Member

Fred Y. Kwok has been president of Mainly Awning and Signs Co. since 1988. He is very active in his
community, serving as co-chair of the Vancouver Chinatown Spring Festival Committee, vice-
president of Wushu Canada and member of the Vancouver Chinatown Designated Historic Site
Committee and has served as a director of 5.U.C.C.E.S.S. Mr. Kwok was also a recipient of the Queen
Elizabeth Diamond Jubilee Medal in 2012.
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David Chuenyan Lai
Member { '

Dr. David Lai has taught in the Department of Geography at the University of Victoria for 35 years
and retired in 2003 as professor emeritus.

Currently, he is a research affiliate of Centre on Aging, University of Victoria, and adjunct professor
of David Lam Centre for International Communication, Simon Fraser University. His researches are
concentrated on the history of Chinese Canadians, development of Canadian Chinatowns and ethnic
groups in British Columbia. He was appointed as a B.C. member on the Historic Sites and
Monuments Board of Canada (2001-4).

He is a cultural advisor of Chinese Consolidated Benevolent Association in Victoria. He is a Member
of the Order of Canada and an Honorary Citizen of Victoria. He received a Citation Award by the
Assaciation of American Geographers in 1982 and the International Award of Merit from the
American Association for State and Local History in 1983 for his outstanding contributions to the
conservation and restoration of Victoria’s Chinatown.

Diana M. Lam
Member

Diana Lam was born and educated in Vancouver finishing at BA (Econ) at UBC. She brings to the

advisory board experience through her long time public relations career as well as many years as a

senior aide to two federal cabinet ministers.

Her community centribution has been diverse, serving on the boards among them Vancouver

YWCA, Canadian Breast Cancer Foundation { B.C. and Yukan Chapter), Nationa! Arts Centre

(Ottawa), Pacific Sports Centre B.C., Vancouver Civic Theatres. She has also been involved in (
developing programs and projects to further the interests of women, having been on the founding

committee forthe YWCA Women of Distinction awards and for the National Retreat for Women,

She is the founding chair of the Vancouver chapter of the worldwide International Women's

Forum.

Carof Anne Lee
Member

Carol Anne Lee, a native of Vancouver, is CEQ and co-founder of Linacare Cosmetherapy Inc.
Linacare, a B.C.-based company focused an developing therapeutic skincare products. The
company is headquartered in Vancouver’s historic Chinatown district. With long standing family ties
to the histary of Chinatown, she is strongly committed to the revitalization of the area and is the
chair of the Vancouver Chinatawn Foundation for Community Revitalization and chair of the
Vancouver Chinatown Revitalization Committee.

Ms. Lee has a Bachelor of Commerce from the Sauder School of Business at the University of British
Columbia and a MBA fram Harvard Business School. She serves on several boards and organizations
including the Faculty Advisory Board of the Sauder School of Business, the Robert H. Lee Graduaté
School Advisory, the Harvard Business School Canadian Advisory Board and the Leadership Council
of the Perimeter Institute of Theoretical Physics in Waterloo.
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Shui Tung Lee
Member

Lee Shui Tung was born in China Tai Shan village and moved to Canada at twelve years of age. Mr.
Lee is a 5th generation Canadian, and lives with his family in Kelowna. Mr. Lee’s family has lived in
Canada for over 100 years. Mr. Lee is the current chair of the Kelowna Freemasons Club..

At the age of fifteen, Mr. Lee started his own restaurant business in Enderby, called the Enderby
Sportsman Cafe. He has also served as a court interpreter for 32 years, as well as an immigration
interpreter. For the last ten years, Mr. Lee has been a tour guide in Kelowna, and is now semi-
retired and currently working at the Kelowna General Hospital.

imogene [, Lim
Member

Imogene Lim is an ethno-archaeologist by training (BA Hon., Simon Fraser University; AM & PhD,
Brown University) at Vancouver Island University's Department of Anthropology; she is currently
the chair. :

She was a founding member and current board director of the Chinese Canadian Historical Society
of B.C.. In Cumberland, B.C., she sits onthe Coal Creek Historic Park Advisory Committee,
appointed by the village council.

Since returning to the west coast, she has actively pursued heritage issues on early Chinese in B.C.
Her interests include food, culture {identity), and heritage; she co-edited Re/collecting Eariy Asian
America: Essays in Cultural History (2002).

Williom Ma
Member

William Ma was born in China and grew up in Hong Kong. He graduated from the University of Hong
Kong with a Bachelor of Business Administration degree. In the early 1970s, he founded factory
specializing in outer-wear garments exporting to North America and Europe. In 1981, he became
one of the first groups of Hong Kong investors to establish factories in Guangdong while
establishing close relationship with the Guangdong Board of Trade.

Mr. Ma immigrated to Vancouver in 1993 and founded two trading companies. He has been
investing in commercial properties and importing garment from China. Presently, Mr. Ma is serving
as City of Vancouver’s appeinted consultant for the Chinése cammunity as well as actively serving
on boards of numerous community and martial arts organizations in Vancouver. Mr. Ma was
successful in an effort to designate Vancouver Chinatown as a National Heritage Site as a proponent
of the National/World Heritage Site Designation Committee.

Zaixin Ma
Member

Dr. Zaixin Ma is the President of Dawa Business Press, a Chinese news publication serving the Lower
Mainland, Vancouver Island and Calgary. Dr. Ma is known far his invalvement in the Chinese
community and charitable work within, He leads and participates in several not-for-profit
organizations benefiting the Chinese-Canadian community, organizing key events such as a Chinese
New Year festival, a Chinese New Year banquet with the prime minister, and the Banquet of a
Thousand Aged People.
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Henry Tom .
Member (*W

Henry Tom earned a Masters of Environmental Studies (urban planning) froem York University in
Toronto. Mr. Tom has been working for more than twenty years as a principal in a small privately
" held real estate development and construction firm specializing in multi-family residential projects..
Mr. Tom has either lived or worked in Vancouver’s Chinatown for most of his life, His family has
lived and worked in a small retail meat store for four generations.
Mr. Tom has been an active board member in a number of community and national cultural
organizations including the City of Vancouver Heritage Commission, the Dr, Sun Yat-Sen Classical
Chinese Gardens, the Canadian Museum of Nature in Ottawa and the VanDusen Botanical Garden,
Mr. Tom currently serves on the Vancouver Chinatown Revitalization Committee, the City of
Vancouver's Chinatown Historic Area Planning Committee and the Vancouver Chinatown
Merchants Association.

Kenneth Tung
Member

He is a member of the Governance Board of Kwantlen Polytechnic University, Within the

community, Kenneth Tung is the president of Civic Education Society a non-partisan organization to
encourage and to engage new Canadians for community involvement. He is the vice-president of

the Duke of Edinburgh’s Award { B.C./Yukon) and he is the former chair of 5.U.C.C.E.5.5. He was a

member of the Richmond General Hospital Ethics Committee and an assessor for the Canada

Millennium Scholarship Foundation.

Mr. Tung served on the Institute of Chartered Accountants of British Columbia as a public {
representative. Mr, Tung is the president of BTl Technologies Inc. and Compumax Systems '
Corporation in Richmond, and has over 20 years of experience in the business management and

information technologies fields,

Jan Walls
Member

lan Walls is a professor emeritus in the Humanities department at Simon Fraser University, where
he was founding directar of the David Lam Centre for Internatianal Communication and founding
director of the Asia-Canada Program.

In addition to teaching at Aichi University in Japan (1967-68), the University of British Columbia
{1970-78) and the University of Victoria (1978-85), he also served as first secretary for cultural and
scientific affairs at the Canadian Embassy in Beijing (1981-83), and senior vice-president of the Asia
Pacific Foundation of Canada {1985-87). His recent publications include: Using Chinese (Cambridge:
Cambridge University Press, 2009, co-authored with Yvonne Li Walls) and Crosscultural
Perspectives: Narth America and China (Beijing: Higher Education Press, 2014, co-authored with
Yvonne Li Walis).
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King R. Wan
Member

King Wan is the president of the Chinese Canadian Military Museum Society in Vancouver, He
served over 35 years in the naval reserve before retiring from the Royal Canadian Navy. During his
time in the military he graduated from the ROUTP {Reserve Officer University Training Plan)
program and served mainly in leadership roles afloat and ashore both domestically and overseas.
In his civilian career, he is a manager and works for the City of Vancouver in the city manager’s
office. His work experience includes controllership, auditing, financial advisory and risk
management.

He also volunteers in many community organizations including serving on the board of the Naval
Officers' Association of B.C.; B.C. St. John Ambulance; Pacific Marine Training Institute (PMTI} - now
a faculty of BCIT; Corps of Commissionaires B.C., Canadian Forces Sailing Association and the
Vancouver Canadian Clubh. King was a member of the Vancouver cadre of Honorary Aides-de-Camp
to four Lieutenant-Governors of British Columbia for over 23 years.
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Multicultural Advisory Council
Profile

Statutory Authority: Multiculturalism Act
Type of Organization: Advisory Council
Appointment Process: Order in Council

Background:

e The Multicultural Advisory Council (MAC) is a legislated body created to provide advice
to the Minister Responsible for Multiculturalism on issues related to multiculturalism and
anti-racism. The Council also performs other duties and functions as specified by the
Minister, and set out in Section 5(1) of the Multiculturalism Act.

e The MAC is comprised of community leaders dedicated to promoting multiculturalism.
Council members are appointed by the Lieutenant Governor in Council.

e Council members are un-paid volunteers, and only receive reimbursement for travel
expenditures and incidental expenses related to MAC meetings.

Description:

e The Council’'s current focus is on the BC Multicultural Awards, community consultations,
anti-racism, and leveraging B.C.’s multicultural advantage.

e MAC submits its annual report to the Minister Responsible for Multiculturalism as part of
the annual provincial Report on Multiculturalism.

e The MAC receives secretariat support from the Multiculturalism Branch with a budget of
$20,000 per year (Inc. travel, meetings space, events, etc.).

Current Appointees:
Members are appointed by Order in Council. There are currently six members:
e Tenzin Khangsar, Chair, term expires December 31, 2018.
e Dennis Chan, Member, term expires December 31, 2018.
e Angela Y. Hollinger, Member, term expires December 31, 2017.
e David Chuenyan Lai, Member, term expires December 31, 2018.
e Anar Popatia, Member, term expires December 31, 2017.
e Tanveer M. Siddiqui, Member, term expires December 31, 2017.

Appointments required:

¢ No Board appointments are set to expire within the next 90 days.

Website: hitp://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/governments/multiculturalism-anti-
racism/multiculturalism/mac
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Contacts: (

Multicultural Advisory Council: Ministry:

Suite 730 - 999 Canada Place Mark Seeley

V6C 3E1 Director

Phone: (604) 868-7768 Multiculturalism Branch

Email: multiculturalism@gov.bc.ca (604) 868-7768
(
(
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COUNCIL MEMBER BIOGRAPHIES

Tenzin Khangsar
Chair

Tenzin has a unique tri-sector profile of leadership in the corporate, government and non-profit
sectors.

Tenzin is currently an Executive Advisor with leading global companies in the energy and resource,
finance, real estate and travel industries. He was also Managing Director and Executive Vice
President of a boutique investment bank dedicated to bridging Canada and Asia in the energy and
resources sectors. He was responsibie for business development, marketing, operations and public
affairs and worked closely with the global leaders of corporations, government and politics.

Priar to investment banking, he was the senior-most political advisor ta the Minister of Industry in
reviewing foreign investments into Canada and to the President of the Treasury Board in reviewing
spending, reguiations, IT and human resources across the Government of Canada, Working in the
Office of the Prime Minister and then for the Minister of Immigration, he was also responsible far
developing and implementing strategic policy and communications plans for the governments
engagement of multicultural communities and ethnic media. As a resuit of this work, Tenzin was
recognized as one of the top 60 influencing Canadian foreign policy,

Prior to government, Tenzin spent a decade in the television and telecommunications sector. He co-
founded a technology company that raised more than $10 M of venture capital, had more than 60
employees and secured the leading broadcasters and telecommunications firms as clients. He also
spearheaded sales and strategic partnership initiatives throughout Asia especially in the greater
China region, South Korea and India as well as taking part in many Canadian trade missions. Tenzin
also worked as a sports broadcaster at CBC-TV.

A graduate of McGill School of Management, Tenzin ran as a candidate for federal Member of
Parliament in Montreal in the 2006 elections and is a recipient of the Queen's Diamond Jubilee.

Dennis Chan
Memeber

Dennis Chan is the Principal at Pathway Advisory Services. Previously, he worked as the Acting
Executive Director and Director of the British Columbia Ministry of Health and as the Director within
the Vancouver Coastal Health Authority. In his community, Mr. Chan has served in various
capacities with S.U.C.C.E.S.S,, including as Chair. He holds his Master of Laws from Georgetown
University, his Bachelor of Laws from the University of Hong Kong, and Bachelor of Arts from the
University of Western Ontario.
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Angela Y. Hollinger
Member

Angela Hollinger is principal of CeCan Business Development, a Vancouver-based management-
consulting firm. Ms Hollinger focuses on facifitating partnerships between Canadian and Japanese
companies for the Canadian and Japanese market, Her primary areas of expertise are environment
related technologies, ather high-tech fields and tourism. She regularly briefs British Columbia,
Federal and Japanese Government officials regarding BC's emerging environment Industry.

Ms Hollinger was the first Japan-born female to serve as a president of CyPost Corporation, a public
company, in Vancouver's high-tech industry, a field in which she has worked in several management
roles. She has also utilized her bilingual skills and understanding of business culture to manage the
Japanese subsidiaries of international firms.

She first came to Canada in 1987 and made Vancouver her home in 1998. Currently a director and
Executive Director of the Canada-Japan Society of BC, a director of Yayoi Theatre Movement
Society, a former chair of the Japanese Community Yolunteers' Association, a director of Asia Pacific
Marketing Group, also she served as a Asia Pacific Trade Council's Japan Market Advisory Group
member under the vision of former Premier Gordon Campbell, she is active in the Japanese-
Canadian society in Vancouver. Ms Hallinger majored in Philosophy and Theology at Seisen
Women's University in Tokyo.

David Chuenyan Lai
Member

Dr. David Lai has taught in the Department of Geography at the University of Victoria for 35 years
and retired in 2003 as Professor Emeritus .

Currently, he is a Research Affiliate of Centre on Aging, University of Victoria, and Adjunct Professor
of David Lam Centre for International Communication, Siman Fraser University. His researches are
concentrated on the history of Chinese Canadians , development of Canadian Chinatowns and
ethnic groups in British Columbia.

He was appointed as a B.C. member gn Historic Sites and Monuments Board of Canada (2001-4). He
is a Cultural Advisor of Chinese Consolidated Benevolent Association in Victaria. He is a Member of
Order of Canada and a Honorary Citizen of Victoria. He received Citation Award by Association of
American Geographers in 1982 and the international Award of Merit from the American Association
far State and Local History in 1983 for his outstanding contributions to the conservation and
restoration of Victoria Chinatown.
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Anar Popatia
Member

Anar is serving her third térm as a member on the Multicultural Advisory Council of BC and holds a
Minister of Justice appointment to the board of directors of Consumer Protection BC.

She is also a director of Canuck Piace Children's Hospice and Co-Chair of its Governance Committee.
Anar was recently appointed to the CNIB's National Committee for Philanthropy and Fundraising
and invited to be a member of the Honorary Governor's Council of the Vancouver Foundation.

She has served as President of the Canadian Club of Vancouver, Chair of the Gastrointestinal Society
and President of the Canadian Society of Intestinal Research, Anar also held a seat en the Board of
Governors at Meadowridge School and as a member of the Aga Khan Economic Planning Board for
Canatla.

She is a partner in a family wealth management practice with Assante Wealth Management. In her
previous roles with Dun & Bradstreet, she was awarded several Presidential Citations for her
contributions to a diverse range of businesses. Anar is a recipient of the 2013 RBC Top 25 Canadian
Immigrant Award in recognition of her leadership in community engagement.

She was nominated for the 2014 YWCA Women of Distinction Award and the 2015 Diversity
Champion Award sponsored by the Women’s Leadership Circle of The Vancouver Board of Trade.

She hoalds a Bachelor of Business & Econamics from Brock University, She is a graduate of the
Wharton School's Executive Development Program and the Institute of Corporate Directors. She
holds the Corporate Directors designation of ICD.D

Tanveer M. Siddiqui
Member

Mr. Siddiqui is a Litigation Associate with Alexander Holburn Beaudin and Lang LLP. Previously, he
worked and articled with Blake, Cassels & Grayson LLP. Prior to his career in the law, he worked as a
Financial Services Representative far Toronto Dominion Canada Trust.

Active in his community, Mr. Siddiqui is an executive for the South Asian Bar Association, and a past
member of his firm's National Equity and Diversity Committee. Mr. Siddiqui is also an avid supporter
of the Juvenile Diabetes Research Foundation (JDRF} and has regularly participated in JDRF's Ride
for the Cure as a team captain. He holds his Juris Doctor and Bachelor of Laws degrees from the
University of British Columbia and a Bachelor of Arts in Mathematical Economics from Wesleyan
University
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LEGISLATION

INTERNATIONAL TRADE

Link

Discriminatory
‘Provisions (Historical
Wrongs) Repeal

https://www.leg.bc.cal/parliamentary-business/legislation-debates-
proceedings/40th-parliament/6th-session/bills/third-reading/gov03-3

|Employee Investment

http: h‘www bclaws ca/cw;x!documenthd!complete!statreg!%1 12 .01

‘Ministry of
'International
|Business and
Immlgration

Multlculturallsm

The Act except as it relates to immigration
http://www.bclaws.ca/civix/document/id/complete/statreg/96304_01

http z‘fwww bclaws caz‘cw|x!document,’ldfcomplete!statregf96321 01

‘New West
Partnership Trade
‘Agreement
|Implementatlon

‘Small Business
'Venture Capital

http://www.bclaws.ca/civix/document/id/complete/statreg/11003_01

http://www.bclaws. caz'C|wxldocumenmda’complete!statregf96429 01

|
{
|
|
|
|

Trade, Investment
‘and Labour Mobility
\Agreement

http waw bclaws cafcrvlxidocumentfld!cempletelstatreg!08039 01

'Implementation

Note: There are no legisl

Last update: May 3, 2017

ative priorities for the Ministry of International Trade.
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Ministry of International Trade Key Stakeholders

Title Organization Email Address

Telephone

Nicole Davison
| Jean:ChriStophe Fleury

Josef Beck
Rajlv I(umar Chander
" Asako Okai

Gunn Kim

H E. Llu Fei

Neil Frank R. Ferrer

l.ynne G. Platt .
Pham Manh Hal

' Sutthiluck

Sa-Ngarmangkang
' Alex Martyniak

| TS S —

Colln Hansen
Jlm Quu:k

Stewart Beck

| Gava Dirom

Darlene Hyde
Shane Gottfriedson

Patnck G:esbrecht

Randallin_a_r;hn pT
Carl Anderson

" Bill Tam

Greg D'Avignon

Consul General
Consul General

_ President and CEO

Consulate General of Britain nicole.davison@fco.gov.uk

Consul General

Consul General Consulate General of France jean-

Consul General Consulate General of Germany

Consul General

l-'vzl@vanc.diplo.de

Consulate General of India indlahoc@telus net"

Consulate General ofJapa asako.okai@mofa. go ip

Consul General Consutate General of Korea vansec@mofa go. kr

Consulate General of the People' s Republic
of China

Consulate General of Philippines neil. ferrer@dfa gov ph
‘Consulate General of the United States plattrg@state .gov
Consulate General of Vietnam 5.22

~ Consulate General Royal Thai o

Consul éénera{
Consul General

Consul General
Consul General

E_lj_rbne_an Union Chamber of Commerce in
Western Canada

chansen@advantagebc ca

éiecuti\}g E}ire_cier

CEO Advantage BC

President and CEO Aerospace Industries Association of Canada
(AIAC)
Asia Pacific Foundation of Canada

President and CEO Association for Mineral Exploration BC'

Executlve Director Assouatlon of BC Marine Industries §.22
Regional Chlef reglonalchlef@bcafn ca

Chair s ~ BC Chamber of Commerce bccc@bechamber.org

BC Council of International Educatlon (BCCIE) martin@bccie.bc. ca

jim. qurck@alac ca

president@asiapacific.ca
gdirom@amebc.ca

BC Assembly of First Nations

Executwe Director

President and CEO BC Innovation Council {BCIC) canderson@bcic.ca
President and CEO BC Tech Assocmtlon btam@bctechassociation.o org
President and CEO Business Council of British Columbia greg. dawgnon@bcbc com

Last update: May 11, 2017

christophe.fleury@diplomatie.vouv.fr

604-683-4421
Ext.2205
604-637-5284

604-684-8377

604-662-8811

604-684-5868
604-681-9581

chinaconsul _van ca@mfa gov cn

alex.martyniak@eu-canada.com

604-734-7492

604-685-3939

604-642-6669 |
604-629-0189

 604-687-1143

604-338-3533

604-683-6627
613-760-4553

604-684-5986
604-630-3920

604-341-0775 |

250-828-9757
604-683-0700

604-637-6752
604-683-2724 |

604-683-6159
604-684-3384
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Laura Jones
' Dan Reader
Gordon McCauley
Paul Kariya
' Prem Gill
Chief Bill Williams
Neil Huff

' Pascal Spothelfer
Chris Gardner

Micahel Bidu
David Choi
Henry Yu

' Karina Brino

Lesley Esford
Alec Morrison

| Tenzin Khangsar
Greg Caws

' Queenie Choo
Paul Austin

lain Black

Kaity Arsoniadis-Stein

Dan Gunn
James Maynard

Executive VP and Chief
Strategic Officer
Chair, BC Division

President and CEO
Executive Director

CEO
President
Managing Director

President and CEO
President

Co-Founder and CEO
Co-Chair

Co-Chair

President and CEO

President
President

Chair

President
CEO
Regional Director

President and CEO
Executive Director
Executive Director
President and CEO
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Canadian Federation of Independent
Business

Canadian Manufacturers and Exporters - BC

Division

Centre for Drug Research and Development

(CDRD)
Clean Energy BC

Creative BC
First Nations Forestry Council
Foresight Cleantech Accelerator Centre

Genome BC

Independent Contractors & Business
Association of British Columbia
Interface Health Society

Legacy Initiatives Advisory Council
Legacy Initiatives Advisory Council
Mining Association of British Columbia

LifeSciences BC
Mining Suppliers Association of BC

Multicultural Advisory Council
Premier’s Technology Council
SU.CCESS.

Sustainable Development Technology
Canada (SDTC)

Vancouver Board of Tréde ]

Vancouver International Maritime Center

VIAtec
Wavefront

laura.jones@cfib.ca
bc.reception@cme-mec.ca
gmccauley@cdrd.ca
paul.kariya@cleanenergybc.org

pgill@creativebc.com

nhuff@foresightcac.com

pspothelfer@genomebc.ca
chris@icba.ca

5.22

henry.yu@ubc.ca

lesford@lifesciencesbc.ca

s.22
greg.caws@gov.bc.ca
queén-ié.chdo@success.bc.ca
p.austin@sdtc.ca

ceo@boardoftrade.com
kaity@vahcouverimc.org
dgunn@viatec.ca
james.ma'ynard@wavefrontac.com
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604-684-5325

604-713-7800

604-827-1147

604-568-4778
Ext. 105

604-730-2233
604-971-3448

604-245-0042
Ext. 101
604-738-8072

604-298-7795

604-805-8088
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1. What are the Ministry’s goals?

» Goal 1: B.C. is recognized globally as a preferred place to invest and do business
» Goal 2: British Columbians value diversity and inclusiveness in our communities

2. What are the Ministry's performance measures?

PM 1: Total number of international export agreements facilitated by Ministry programs (p. 9}
PM 2: Foreign direct investment facilitated by Ministry programs {p. 10}

PM 3: National and international offices locating in British Columbia (p. 11)

PM 4: Organizing Against Racism and Hate Network {(OARH) membership {p. 13)

3. What has changed since the 2016/17 —~ 2018/19 Service Plan (tabled Feb 2016)?

e The goals, objectives, and performance measures have primarily been carried forward from the
2016/17 — 2018/19 Service Plan. Strategies have been updated to reflect key direction.

4. Were any performance measures/targets adjusted since the previous Service Plan?

» Qur forecasts indicate that the ministry will meet all of its published targets for 2016/17 (these
targets will be formally reported out on in the 2016/17 Annual Service Plan Report, in fuly 2017).

» No targets are being lowered from those currently published in the ministry’s 2016/17 - 2018/19
service plan.

» Targets will be reviewed and may be adjusted during the 2018/19 Service Planning process.
Economic uncertainty in some of B.C.’s priority markets, including Europe and the U.S., provides
estimating targets three years out unpredictable.

(_
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For more information on the British Columbia
Ministry of International Trade and Responsible for
Asia Pacific Strategy and Multicultyralism.,
see¢ Ministry Contact Information on page 15 or contact:

Ministry of International Trade and
Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism
PO BOX 9855
STN PROV GOVT
VICTORIA, BC
V8W 9T5

or visit our website at
httn: A www. gov.be. ca/mit/

Published by the Ministry of Intcrnational Trade and Responsible for
Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism
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Ministry of International Trade and Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism

Minister
Accountability Statement

The Ministry of International Trade and Responsible for Asia Pacific
Strategy and Multiculturalism 2017/18 - 2019/20 Service Plan was
prepared under my direction in accordance with the Budger Transparency
and Accountability Act. 1 am accountable for the basis on which the plan
has been prepared.

\jm/f

Honourable Teresa Wat

Minister of International Trade and

Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism
February 21, 2017
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Ministry of International Trade and Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism

Purpose of the Ministry

The Ministry of International Trade and Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism
pursues strategic opportunities to promote British Columbia internationally as a preferred place to
invest and do business. This is achieved by delivering services that accelerate British Columbia’s
exports, attract strategic investments including international offices, develop international
partnerships, and increase awareness of B.C.’s competitive advantages, as well as negotiating and
managing trade agreements and delivery of venture capital programs. The Ministry also promotes the
benefits of B.C.’s diverse cultures and connects communities with services to eliminate racism and
foster the full and free participation of all British Columbians in the economic, social, cultural and
political life of British Columbia. These efforts promote economic prosperity in communities across
the province while simultaneously positioning the province for long-term growth and creating jobs for
British Columbians.

Specifically, the Ministry works to:

e Open and expand priority markets for B.C. goods and services, particularly in Asia, Europe
and the United States, and to engage B.C. exporters in new opportunities;

e Attract strategic investments to B.C.’s priority sectors that create jobs and grow
competitiveness;

e Leverage investment capital programs (venture capital and infrastructure) to support a
competitive business environment; and

¢ Promote the value of diversity and inclusiveness in B.C. communities.

The Ministry has an oversight role for the following Crown agencies: the BC Immigrant Investment
Fund and its subsidiary the BC Renaissance Capital Fund, and Forestry Innovation Investment. Please
see Appendix B for information on these agencies.

2017/18 — 2019/20 Service Plan 5
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Ministry of International Trade and Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism

Strategic Direction and Context

Strategic Direction

The Ministry plays a key role in delivering on Canada Starts Here: The BC Jobs Plan, a government
strategic priority to increase employment, economic growth and exports. The Ministry pursues a
number of initiatives which support this priority, captured in the BC Jobs Plan Trade Strategy, with a
focus on attracting foreign investment and promoting the export of B.C. products and services to
various markets, particularly in Asia.

Premier Christy Clark’s Mandate Letter to the Honourable Teresa Wat, Minister of International
Trade, included direction to, among others: balance the ministerial budget; work with the Ministries
of Advanced Education, and Technology, Innovation and Citizens’ Services to develop and present
options to Cabinet on ways to improve the availability of venture capital funding in British Columbia;
and develop options and present to Cabinet a strategy for increasing B.C.’s trade with India and
presence in the Association of Southeast Asia Nations (ASEAN).

In addition, the Ministry will cooperate with the Ministry of Small Business and Red Tape Reduction

to increase exports and expand the LNG BuyBC tool as part of the collective efforts to help

businesses grow and reduce unnecessary red tape and regulation, making it easier for citizens and

businesses to access British Columbia government services. (

Finally, the introduction of the Taxpayer Accountability Principles (TAP) in June 2014 provided a
framework to enhance greater strategic engagement between the Ministry of International Trade and
its Crown corporations. The Ministry will continue to work with its Crown corporations to implement
TAP and strengthen accountability, promote cost control and support strategic alignment so that these
public sector agencies can continue to be effective and efficient in their service delivery, while doing
so with integrity and respect and in the best interests of taxpayers.

Strategic Context

The Economic Forecast Council (EFC) expects British Columbia’s real GDP to grow by 2.3 per cent
in 2017 and 2.2 per cent in 2018. Meanwhile for Canada, the EFC projects national real GDP growth
of 1.9 per cent in 2017 and 2.0 per cent in 2018. As such, B.C.’s economic growth is expected to
outperform Canada in the coming years. Downside risks to B.C.’s economic outlook include the
potential for a slowdown in North American economic activity, ongoing fragility in Europe, slower
than anticipated Asian demand (particularly in China), and uncertainty in the outlook for the Canadian
dollar.

Most indicators of B.C.’s economic performance through the first half of 2016 show strong domestic
activity relative to the same period in 2015. Employment, retail sales, and housing stats data are
strong, while exports are underperforming expectations.

2017/18 — 2019/20 Service Plan 6
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Ministry of International Trade and Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism

Internally, the Ministry continues to implement a focused approach to investment attraction and
export support that aligns with key BC Jobs Plan sectors. This approach was augmented in December
2015, with the release of Raising Qur Game in Asia — The BC Jobs Plan Trade Strategy. This strategy
focuses on growing the number of companies that export, increasing the value of investments that
grow the province’s sectors, and enhancing the flow of goods, services, people and ideas between
B.C. and its priority markets. This strategy further focuses the province’s in-market activities, such as
business-to-business meetings and events, and leverages the strengths of our Trade and Investment
Representatives and B.C.’s Special Representative in Asia to support the entry of B.C. companies into
new markets.

Advancing B.C.’s interests in reducing or eliminating trade and investment barriers in other markets is
an ongoing priority that provides greater economic opportunities and maintains competitive
advantages for the province’s businesses, workers and investors. The Ministry works to eliminate
barriers that restrict opportunities for B.C. goods, services and investments across Canada and in
foreign markets. One instrumental way the Ministry achieves these goals is by representing the
province in both national and international trade negotiations, such as the Canadian Free Trade
Agreement and the recently signed Comprehensive Economic and Trade Agreement with the
European Union. Open markets create economic opportunities for B.C. businesses, workers and
investors, and greater choice and value for all British Columbians. The Ministry also advances B.C.’s
interests in trade disputes. This is done to protect our access to external markets and ensure businesses
from other jurisdictions operate fairly in B.C. The Ministry also works to strengthen regional trade
and commercial relationships with other provinces through our work on the New West Partnership
Trade Agreement.

Access to venture capital is essential for technology companies to succeed in a competitive global
marketplace. The BC Tech Strategy 2016 is built on improving access to capital for B.C. technology
companies as one of three foundational pillars, and the BC Tech Fund is an important part of this
work. Venture capital investment activity in Canada increased in 2015 by 18 per cent compared to
2014. In total, $2.26 billion of venture capital was invested across Canada. B.C. captured $450 million
— this put B.C. in third place behind Ontario and Quebec. It remains critical for B.C. to increase the
amount of available early stage capital needed to grow emerging technologies and keep industry
leaders in B.C. That is why the $100 million BC Tech Fund is so important.

B.C. is Canada’s most culturally diverse province and each year we welcome close to 40,000 new
immigrants to our communities. It is also home to over 200 First Nation bands. Promoting diversity
and multicultural programs across the province is a priority for the Ministry, as this leads to greater
understanding, acceptance and personal connections amongst British Columbians. Our deep historical,
cultural and business ties with other countries are to be celebrated and provide an opportunity for B.C.
to diversify markets and expand international trading relationships in an increasingly globalized
economy.

2017/18 — 2019/20 Service Plan 7
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Ministry of International Trade and Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism

Goals, Objectives, Strategies and
Performance Measures

The goals of the Ministry are aligned with government’s priorities and the Minister’s mandate letter,
as provided by Premier Christy Clark. They also reflect the government’s Taxpayer Accountability
Principles by focusing government’s international efforts to advance B.C.’s economic interests in key
sectors and leverage the advantages of our cultural ties throughout priority markets.

Goal 1: B.C. is recognized globally as a preferred place to
invest and do business

This goal supports B.C. business and industry in the creation of long-term jobs and investments in the
province and converting B.C.’s strengths into strategic, competitive advantages in the global
economy.

Objective 1.1: Open and expand priority markets for B.C. goods and services,
particularly in Asia

Strategies

e Promote B.C. internationally, and grow markets in key BC Jobs Plan sectors through
international marketing and by capitalizing on our expanded international trade and investment
representative presence, which includes dedicated sector and market staff both domestically and
in overseas offices.

e Connect international investors with B.C. businesses and communities—including
municipalities, regional districts and First Nations—through the Trade and Invest British
Columbia website.

e Provide B.C. businesses and exporters with streamlined services through B.C.’s Export
Navigator pilot, business-to-business opportunities through trade shows and missions, and
targeted in-market assistance to help them expand their business through exports and enter new
markets to achieve their business growth goals.

e Reduce barriers to trade and investment by advancing B.C.’s priorities in international and
domestic trade negotiations, and reduce or eliminate protectionist measures in other jurisdictions
through engagement and, where necessary, more formal means.

¢ Continuously improve the supports that help B.C. businesses grow through trade with
international partners.

2017/18 — 2019/20 Service Plan 8
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Ministry of International Trade and Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism

Performance Measure 1: Total number of international export agreements

facilitated by Ministry programs

160

Total number of international export 125 agreements 135 agreements 150 agreéments aareements
agreements facilitated by Ministry with a value-in with a valug in with a value in witi avalue In
programs excess of $350M | excessof $375M | excess of $375M

excass of $400M

Data Sourge: Ministry of Inlernational Trade and Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and Mulliculturalism intemat data.

Discussion

Expanding the sale of goods and services to new markets is critical to growing B.C. businesses and
keeping them here. Export agreements take the form of international purchases ot B.C. goods and
services, and represent an agreement between two distinct business entities. The Ministry supports
and facilitates international export agreements by connecting B.C. businesses and institutions to
qualified international prospects; supporting key international trade events; organizing and supporting
inbound and outbound missions 1o target markets; providing information necessary to cenclude
agreements; assisting parties to work with all levels of government in B.C., Canada, and
internationally; and providing other scrvices tailored to the needs of the parties. Examples of
agreements facilitated by the Ministry may be found on our website, B.C.’s Special Representative in
Asia also works with B.C.’s Trade and Investment Representative offices to support export
agreements in East Asia markets.

The Ministry has focused this measure on export agreements that involve the sale of goods and
services to clients outside of B.C. These agreements show the economic value that government
assistance provides exporters.

Objective 1.2: Attract increased investment to B.C.’s priority sectors

Strategies

» [dentily strategic investments and work closely with the Ministry of fobs, Tourism and Skills
Training and other ministries to support successful outcomes from investment opportunities.

e Support B.C.’s targeted investment attraction efforts by raising awareness of a consistent B.C.
business brand internationally, and by collaborating with partners to amplify B.C. success stories
and competitive advantages among key influencers.

* Encourage reinvestment from companies that have previously invested in B.C.

2017/18 — 2019720 Service Plan g
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Ministry of International Trade and Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism

{\..
» Work with HQ Vancouver to attract {ive Asian head offices to B.C. and continue to attract other
national and international offices that create jobs for British Columbians.
e Facilitate positive investment decisions by identifying potential obstacles to investment,
developing strategies and delivering timely solutions for clients considering B.C. as an
investment location.
Performance Measure 2: Foreign direct investment facilitated by Ministry
programs
Total valug of foreign investment $1.1 Bilion $1.2 Billon $1.25 Billon $1.25 Billon"
facilitated by Ministry programs
- Data Source: Ministry of International Trade and Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculiuralism intema! performance tracking system.
! Target wifl be reviewed and adjusted during the 2018/1% Service Planning process. Economic uncerainly in some of B.C.'s priorily markets,
including Europe and the U.S., provides estimaling targets thres years out unpredictable,
Discussion (

Foreign investment helps B.C. grow its industries, create and safeguard jobs, and secure a position of
strength in the global econamy. B.C. has fostered a highty competitive and open investment climate
and has included strong investment provisions in trade agreements to show investors that B.C. is a
desirable and secure place to do business. The Ministry attracts foreign investment to B.C. by
marketing the province’s competitive advantages and world-class business environment, and targeting
potential investors through our international trade and investment office network.

The Ministry also undertakes activities focused specifically on attracting investment to B.C., for
example through marketing campaigns, key market publi¢ relations and a suite of services for
potential investors. These services include providing detailed information on B.C.’s business climate,
facilitating site tours, suppotting connections with business services suppliers, and providing
assistance with accessing federal, provincial and local government incentive and support programs,
Examples of investments facilitated by the Ministry can be found on our website. The target for
investment has been increased to reflect the growth of B.C."s trade and investment network to the
Association of Southeast Asia Nations (ASEAN) region.

2017718 — 2019/20 Service Plan 10
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Minisiry of In{ernational Trade and Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism

Performance Measure 3: National and international offices locating in
British Columbia

Total number of national and
internaticnal offices that locate in B.C. 29
annually as a result of the Ministry and
HQ Vancouver's assistance

25 25 25°

Data Source: Ministry of International Trade and Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturafism internal performance metrics Iracking
system. Infernational offices must occupy a physical space such as a storefront to be counted.

1Target will be reviewed and adjusted during the 2018/18 Service Planning process, Economic uncerlainty in scme of B.C.'s priorily markels, e.g. in
Europe and the U.S., provides estimating targets three years out difficult '

Discussion

Atiracting foreign offices to B.C. creates direct and indirect econemic benefits, including new jobs;
increased contributions to the tax base; higher demand for business services such as accounting, tegal,
advertising and real estate leasing; and greater national and international awareness of the fact that
B.C. is one of the most competitive business jurisdictions in North America. Moreover, businesses are
more likely to reinvest in a location once they have an established office location, and these
investments often create proportionately more jobs.

Foreign office attraction also helps strengthen B.C.’s sectors by creating industry clusters that attract
other complementary businesses. As new offices locate to B.C., other companies that are a part of or
are looking to enter the supply chain will locate nearby. Finally, the growth of clusters helps to grow
an increasingly skilled workforce that leads to higher paying jobs and greater productivity.

The Ministry works directly with international companies to generate interest in being located in the
province and then helps facilitate their move to B.C, This includes, among other things, providing
them with in-depth sector information, operating costs and B.C. cost comparison information,
connecting them with B.C. suppliers, and identifying appropriate industry contacts and service
providers.

Objective 1.3: Leverage investment capital programs to support a competitive
business environment
Strategies

+ Continue to promote and deliver the Small Business Venturce Capital Tax Credil program to
facilitatc access to investment capital for small businesses in B.C.

¢ Work with the BC Tech Fund manager to support the BC Renaissance Capital Fund’s existing
portfolio of venture capital investments which are invested in four key technology sectors:
information technology, digital media, clean technology, and life scienccs.

2017/18 — 2019/2G Service Plan 11
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Ministry of Intcrnational Trade and Responsiblc for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism

e Support the $100 million BC Tech Fund, 2 venture capital fund-of-finds focused on early stage
(A-tound) venture capital funding in B.C., which also includes work to grow a stronger venture
capital system in B.C. over the longer-term.

Goal 2: British Columbians value diversity and inclusiveness
in our communities

Objective 2.1: Celebrate B.C.’s rich diversity as a source of innovation and
global networking
Strategies

e Support capacity-building across B.C. through the development and recognition of leaders in
multiculturalism, anti-racism and cultural diversity.

» Provide community grants that support cultural expression and raise awareness about or cnhance
B.C.’s multicultural identity.

Objective 2.2: Collaborate with communities and partners to challienge racism
and barriers to inclusivity _ ¢
Strategies

e Fulfil the requirements and objectives established in the B.C. Multiculturalism Act, which
includes developing the annual Report on Multiculturalism and supporting the Multicultural
Advisory Council in its public engagement and advisory role to the Minister.

¢ Provide support to B.C. communities to deliver locally-fed anti-racism projects.

» Promote awareness and understanding of cultural diversity in B.C. through public education,
including online resources and community events.

» Continued implementation ol B.C.’s Chinese Legacy projects commemorating the May 15,2014
apology to the province’s Chinese community for historical wrongs.

2017/18 — 2019720 Service Plan 12
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Ministry of International Trade and Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism

Performance Measure 4: Organizing Against Racism and Hate Network
(OARH) membership

2016/17 201718 201819 2019/20

Performance Measure Boracast Target Target Target

Number of communities who have
completed their annual deliverables to
be an active member of the Organizing
Against Racism and Hate network

32 36 40 44

Data Source: Ministry of International Trade and Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism.

Discussion

The Ministry is responsible for the Multiculturalism Act, which includes a policy directive to
“reaffirm that violence, hatred and discrimination on the basis of race, cultural heritage, religion,
ethnicity, ancestry or place of origin have no place in the society of British Columbia” and “work
towards building a society in British Columbia free from all forms of racism and from conflict and
discrimination based on race, cultural heritage, religion, ethnicity, ancestry and place of origin.”

The Organizing Against Racism and Hate (OARH) network helps government implement that policy
directive through a community partnership approach, which strives towards local solutions for local
incidents. This approach allows communities to prepare for a racially motivated incident early, and
before it becomes a major issue.

The OARH community membership ensures that B.C. communities are able to identify and respond
to incidents of racism and hate. Therefore, increasing the number of communities involved in OARH
strengthens British Columbia’s overall ability to foster a society “in which there are no impediments
to the full and free participation of all British Columbians in the economic, social, cultural and
political life of British Columbia.”

Active members of OARH are required to hold regular community partnership meetings, monitor and
record acts of racism, and have an established critical incident response protocol for racism and hate
as well as a working relationship with the local police force.
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Ministry of International Trade and Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism

Resource Summary

Operating Expenses (5000)
International Business Development...... 19.678 22216 22,766 22,766
International Strategy and
Competitiveness 8,974 8.991 9,019 9,019
Corporate Initiatives and
Multiculturalism 1,627 1,631 1,638 1,638
Transfers to Crown Corporations and
Agencies 18,300 19,050 19,550 19,550
Executive and Support Services .......... 1,712 1,712 1,717 LT
Total 50,291 53,600 54,690 54,690
Ministry Capital Expenditures (Consolidated Revenue Fund) (8000)
Executive and Support Services........... 1 1 1 1
Total 1 1 1 1

! For comparative purposes, amounts shown for 2016/17 have been restated to be consistent with the presentation of the

2017/18 Estimates.

*Further information on program funding and vote recoveries is available in the Estimates and Supplement to the

Estimates.
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Ministry of International Trade and Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism

Appendices
Appendix A: Ministry Contact Information

Minister’s Office

Honourable Teresa Wat

Minister of International Trade and

Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism
PO BOX 9063

Stn Prov Govt

Victoria B.C. V8W 9E2

Email: MIT.Minister@gov.bc.ca

Phone: 250 953-0910

Deputy Minister’s Office

Clark Roberts

Deputy Minister

Ministry of International Trade and

Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism
PO Box 9063

Stn Prov Govt

Victoria B.C. V8W 9E2

Email: DM.MIT@gov.bc.ca

Phone: 250 952-0242

To learn more about the numerous programs and services provided by the Ministry of International
Trade and Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism, please visit www.gov.bc.ca/mit

To find a specific person or program in the Ministry of International Trade and Responsible for Asia
Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism, you can use the B.C. Government Directory.
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Ministry of International Trade and Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism

—

Appendix B: List of Crowns, Agencies, Boards and
Commissions

BC Immigrant Investment Fund (BCIIF)

This Crown Corporation promotes economic development and job creation through its investments in
public infrastructure projects and venture capital funds that are focused on four key technology
sectors: information technology, digital media, clean technology, and life sciences.

BC Renaissance Capital Fund (BCRCF)

This subsidiary of the BC Immigrant Investment Fund invests in venture capital funds that focus on
four key sectors: information technology, digital media, clean technology, and life sciences.

Forestry Innovation Investment (FII)

This Crown Corporation is the B.C. government’s market development agency for forest products. FII
works closely with industry associations and other levels of government in marketing B.C. forest
products around the world.

Multicultural Advisory Council (MAC)

This council is a legislated body officially created in 1988 to provide advice to the Minister
Responsible on issues related to multiculturalism and anti-racism. The council also performs other
duties and functions as specified by the Minister as set out in Section 5(1) of the Multiculturalism Act.

Legacy Initiatives Advisory Council

This council works with Chinese Canadian communities and other key partners to support and advise
government and ensure that the legacy projects recommended in the Chinese Historical Wrongs
Consultation Final Report are successfully implemented and are known and communicated
throughout the province.
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For more information on the British Columbia
Ministry of International Trade and Minister Responsible for
Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism,
see Ministry Contact Information on page 16 or contact;

‘Ministry of International Trade and Minister Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and
Multiculturalism
PO BOX 9855
STN PROV GOVT
VICTORIA, BC
VW 915

or visit our website at
www.gov.be.ca/mit

Published by the Ministry of International Trade and Minister Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy
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Ministry of International Trade and Minister Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism

Minister’s Message and Accountability Statement

I am pleased to present the annual report for the Ministry of International
Trade and Minister Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and
Multiculturalism, which outlines the Ministry’s priorities and progress

toward achieving our commitments during the fiscal year ending March 31,
2017.

This past fiscal year, we have made significant progress on our mandate,
which is: to open and expand international markets for B.C.’s goods and
services; attract investment for our province's businesses, entrepreneurs and
communities; and leverage our many family, cultural and business links to
countries across the Pacific and around the world.

The Ministry exceeded all trade and investment targets in 2016/17. The
total value of foreign direct investment influenced by government programs was over $2.0 billion,
almost double its target of $1.1 billion. The Ministry also supported the facilitation of 219 investment
deals valued in excess of $640 million exceeding the target of 125 deals with a value of $350 million,
and assisted 29 new companies — the target was 22 — in setting up offices here.

Under the Raising Our Game in Asia — The BC Jobs Plan Trade Strategy, the Ministry opened two
new trade and investment offices in Jakarta, Indonesia and Manila, Philippines and announced plans
to open an office in Johor Bahru, Malaysia in 2017, which will help British Columbia accelerate our
economic ties in the fast-growing ASEAN (Association of Southeast Asian Nations) region.

As part of government’s #BCTECH Strategy, we launched the $100-million BC Tech Fund in October
2016 to provide early stage capital to B.C. companies and grow B.C.’s tech sector.

British Columbia is a strong supporter of free trade and the many benefits that free trade agreements
bring for B.C. businesses. Our Ministry participated in negotiations for the Canadian Free Trade
Agreement — to come into effect July 1, 2017, and represented the province’s interests in the Canada-
European Union Comprehensive Economic and Trade Agreement (CETA) signed on October 30,
2016. We have also worked to advance other trade and investment agreements, and defend B.C.’s
interests both domestically and internationally.

We have also continued our work towards completing the Chinese Legacy Projects and championing
the benefits of multiculturalism for all British Columbians. In partnership with the Ministry of Justice,
the Ministry introduced the Discriminatory Provisions (Historical Wrongs) Repeal Act to permanently
remove discriminatory provisions in historical private legislation. The first regional monuments
honouring early Chinese Canadian contributions to the development of B.C. were unveiled in
Kelowna, Cumberland, Ashcroft, Kamloops and Barkerville — part of the Chinese Legacy Projects.

Finally, I was pleased to host the seventh British Columbia Multicultural Awards recognizing British
Columbians whose exceptional work helps bring diverse cultures together. The ceremony was
attended by 400 people and five award nominees were recognized for delivering exceptional work in
business, organization, individual, youth and government categories.
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The Ministry of International Trade and Minister Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and
Multiculturalism 2016/17 Annual Service Plan Report compares the Ministry’s actual results to the (
expected results identified in the 2016/17 — 2018/19 Service Plan. 1 am accountable for those results

as reported.

jm/f

Honourable Teresa Wat

Minister of International Trade and

Minister Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism
June 16, 2017
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Purpose of the Ministry

The Ministry of International Trade and Minister Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and (
Multiculturalism pursues strategic opportunities to promote British Columbia internationally as a

preferred place to invest and do business. This is achieved by delivering services that accelerate

British Columbia’s exports, attracting strategic investments including international offices, developing
international partnerships, and increasing awareness of B.C.’s competitive advantages, as well as by
negotiating and managing trade agreements and delivering venture capital programs.

The Ministry also promotes the benefits of B.C.’s diverse cultures and connects communities with
services to eliminate racism and foster the full and free participation of all British Columbians in the
economic, social, cultural and political life of British Columbia. These efforts promote economic
prosperity in communities across the province while simultaneously positioning the province for long-
term growth and creating jobs for British Columbians.

Specifically, the Ministry works to:

e Open and expand priority markets for B.C. goods and services, particularly in Asia, Europe
and the United States, and to engage B.C. exporters in new opportunities;

e Fight protectionism and address barriers to trade, investment and labour mobility in domestic
and international markets to ensure B.C. companies, investors and workers compete on a level
playing field;

e Advance the province’s interests and priorities with the Government of Canada in
international trade negotiations and defend the province’s interests in domestic and
international trade disputes; (

e Attract strategic investments to B.C.’s priority sectors that create jobs and grow
competitiveness;

e Leverage investment capital programs (venture capital and infrastructure) to support a
competitive business environment; and

e Promote the value of diversity and inclusiveness in B.C. communities.

The Ministry has an oversight role for the following Crown agencies: the BC Immigrant Investment
Fund and its subsidiary the BC Renaissance Capital Fund, and Forestry Innovation Investment. Please
see Appendix B for information on these agencies.

Strategic Direction and Context

The Ministry plays a key role in delivering on government strategic priorities with a focus on creating
good jobs, sustaintable economic growth and exports. These priorities are supported by a number of
Ministry initiatives, including attracting foreign investment and promoting the export of B.C. products
and services to various markets, particularly in Asia.

The Premier’s Mandate Letter to the Minister of International Trade and Minister Responsible for
Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism, included direction to, among other actions: balance the
ministerial budget; work with the Ministries of Advanced Education, and Technology, Innovation and
Citizens’ Services to develop and present options to Cabinet on ways to improve the availability of
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venture capital funding in British Columbia; and develop options and present to Cabinet a strategy for
increasing B.C.’s trade with India and presence in the ASEAN region.

In addition, the Ministry works with the Ministry of Small Business and Red Tape Reduction, and the
Ministry of Jobs, Tourism and Skills Training to help growth-oriented small and medium-sized
businesses navigate and access existing services to support them in becoming export ready and make
it easier to get their goods and services to new domestic or international markets.

Finally, the introduction of the Taxpayer Accountability Principles (TAP) in June 2014 provided a
framework to enhance greater strategic engagement between the Ministry of International Trade and
its Crown corporations. The Ministry will continue to work with its Crown corporations to
implement TAP and strengthen accountability, promote cost control and support strategic alignment
so that these public sector agencies can continue to be effective and efficient in their service delivery,
while doing so in the best interest of taxpayers with integrity and respect.

British Columbia’s real GDP increased by 3.7 per cent in 2016 (according to preliminary GDP by
industry data from Statistics Canada), the strongest growth among provinces. Employment in B.C.
grew by 3.2 per cent in 2016, its fastest annual pace since 1994. Consumer spending was strong for a
third consecutive year as retail sales were supported by strong employment growth, increased tourism,
interprovincial migration and low interest rates. B.C.’s housing market saw elevated levels of activity
in 2016, with the highest number of annual housing starts since 1993. B.C. manufacturing shipments
and exports expanded in 2016 as goods exports to both the U.S. and the rest of the world increased.

The strategic context in which the Ministry operated in 2016/17 was also marked by:

e Current economic conditions, including the multi-year declines in commodity values, has
impacted international investment interests globally and also in B.C.’s traditional natural
resource sectors. The Ministry is continuing to actively market and promote provincial
strengths in these sectors, but is also taking initiative to increase awareness of B.C.
capabilities in associated sectors such as Agritech and Natural Resource technology areas.

e The province’s technology sector experienced significant growth, resulting in increased
investment interest and requests to support B.C. exports.

e Protectionist sentiments in key markets for B.C., such as the United States and the United
Kingdom, have changed the landscape for open trade policies. Significant Ministry
resources were expended supporting key sectors of the province, such as forestry and
construction, in international disputes. Global attention has also been drawn towards East
Asia where Canada has a free trade agreement with South Korea; and China has stepped
forward to champion free trade and open markets.

Report on Performance

The reference point for this annual report is the Ministry’s 20/6/17- 2018/19 Service Plan, which was
informed in part by the Premier’s July 30, 2015 Mandate Letter to the Minister of International Trade
and Minister Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism. In 2016/17, the Ministry
successfully completed 12 of the 14 deliverables outlined in the Mandate Letter, while the remaining
two are of an ongoing nature. More detail on actions taken in response to the Mandate Letter can be
found in Appendix C of this report.
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Consistent with its Mandate Letter direction, the Ministry worked to achieve the following two goals:
Goal 1: B.C. is recognized globally as a preferred place to invest and do business. (
Goal 2: British Columbians value diversity and inclusiveness in our communities.

Of its four performance targets for the year, the Ministry exceeded three and met one. More detail
about the Ministry’s goals, strategies, performance measures and targets is provided below.

The Ministry operates under the Taxpayver Accountability Principles, which strengthen accountability
to the citizens of B.C. by providing a common platform of compensation and accountability across the
public sector. The six principles—cost-consciousness (efficiency), accountability, appropriate
compensation, service, respect and integrity—are integrated into the Ministry’s operations and
reflected by the goals, objectives and measures of its service plans.

Goals, Objectives, Strategies and Performance Results

Goal 1: B.C. is recognized globally as a preferred place to invest and do business

This goal supports B.C. business and industry in the creation of long-term jobs and investments in the
province and converting B.C.’s strengths into strategic, competitive advantages in the global
economy.

Objective 1.1: Open and expand priority markets for B.C. goods and services,
particularly in Asia

Strategies (
Key strategies in 2016/17 included:

e Promoting B.C. internationally and growing markets in key sectors by capitalizing on our
expanded international trade and investment representative presence and deploying dedicated
sector and market staff both domestically and in overseas offices.

e Providing B.C. businesses and exporters with streamlined services, business-to-business
opportunities including trade shows and missions, and targeted in-market assistance to help
them expand their business through exports, and enter new markets to achieve their business
growth goals.

e Reducing barriers to trade and investment by advancing B.C.’s priorities in international and
domestic trade negotiations and reducing or eliminating protectionist measures in other
jurisdictions through engagement and, where necessary, more formal means.

e Continuously improving the supports that help B.C. businesses grow through trade with
international partners.
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Performance Measure 1: Total number of international export agreements facilitated by
Ministry programs

125 : 135 150
_ . 219 _
Total number of agreements - agreements | agreements
. . X agreements . .
international export with a " witha with a
= _ 276 250 . with a value . )
agreemcnts facilitated value in value In value in

in excess of

by Ministry programs excess of S640M excess of | excess of

$350M $375M $375M

Data Source: Ministry of Intemational Trade and Minister Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism
internal data.

Discussion

Expanding the sale of goods and services to new markets is critical to growing B.C. businesses and
keeping them here, Export agreements take the form of international purchases of B.C. goads and
services and represent an agreement between two distinet business entities. In 2016/17, the Ministry
facilitated 219 international business agreements with a financial value of approximately $640
million. The Ministry supports and facilitates international export agreements by connecting B.C.
businesscs and institulions to qualified infernational prospects, supporting key international trade
events, organizing and supporting inbound and outbound missions to target markets, providing
information necessary to conclude agreements, assisting parties o work with all levels of government
in B.C., Canada and internationally and providing other services tailored to the needs of the parties.
Examples of agreements facilitated by the Ministry may be found on our website. B.C."s Special
Representative in Asia also worked with B.C.’s Trade and Investment Representative Offices to
support export agreements in East Asia markets.

The Ministry focused this measure on export agreements that involve the sale of goods and services to
clients outside B.C. These agreements show the economic value that government assistance provides
exporters.

Objective 1.2: Attract increased investment to B.C.’s priority scctors

Strategies
Key strategies in 2016/17 included:

» [dentifying strategic investments and—working closely with the Ministry of Jobs, Tourism and
Skills Training and other ministries—supporting successful outcomes [rom investment
opportunities.

» Encouraging reinvestment {rom companies that have previously invested in B.C.

o Working with HQ Vancouver to attract five Asian head offices to B.C. and continuing to attract
other national and international offices that create jobs for British Columbians.

* Facilitating positive investment decisions by identifying potential obstacles to investment,
developing strategies and delivering timely solutions for clients considering B.C. as an
investment location.
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Performance Measure 2: Foreign direct investment facilitated by Ministry programs {

Total value of foreign ' o
investment facilitated by [$1.91 billion
Ministry programs

$1.407 $1.1 $2.0 $1.2 $1.25
billion billion billion billion billion

Data Source: Ministry of International Trade and Minister Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism
internal performance tracking system.

Discusston

Foreign investment helps B.C. grow its industrics, crcate and safcguard jobs, and secure a position of
strength in the global economy. B.C. has fostered a highly competitive and open investment climate
and has included strong investment provisions in trade agreements to show investors that B.C. is a
desirable and secure place to do business. The Ministry attracts foreign investment to B.C. by
marketing the province’s competitive advantages and world-class business environment, and targeting
potential investors through our international trade and investment office network.

The Ministry also undertakes activities focused specifically on attracting investment to B.C., for

example through marketing campaigns, key market public relations and a suite of services for

potcntial investors. These services include providing defailed information on B.C. s busincss climatc,
facilitating site tours, supporting connections with business services suppliers and providing (
assistance with accessing federal, provincial and local government incentive and support programs.
Examples of investments facilitated by the Ministry can be found on our website. In 2016/17, ministry
programs facilitated $2.0 billion in foreign investment. The target for investment has been increased

to reflect the growth of B.C.’s trade and investment network to the ASEAN region.

Performance Measure 3:  National and international offices locating in British Columbia

Total number of national
and infernational offices
that locate in B,C.
annually as a result of
the Ministry and HQ
Vancouver’s assistance

15 21 22 29 25 25

Data Source: Ministry of International Trade and Minister Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism
internal performance metries tracking system. International offices inust cceupy a physical space such as storefront to be
counted.
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e

Discussion

Attracting foreign offices to B.C. creates direct and indirect economic benefits, including new jobs,
increased contributions to the tax base, higher demand for business services such as accounting, legal,
advertising and real estate leasing, and greater national and international awareness of the fact that
B.C. is one of the most competitive business jurisdictions in North America. Moreover, businesses are
generally more likely to reinvest in a location once they have an established office location and these
investments often create proportionately more jobs. '

Foreign office attraction also helps strengthen B.C.’s sectors by creating industry clusters that attract
other complementary businesses. As new offices locate to B.C., other companies that are a part of, or
are looking to enter the supply chain, will locate nearby. This helps to grow an increasingly skilled
workforce that leads to higher paying jobs and greater productivity.

In 2016/17, the Ministry exceeded its goal of 22 national and international offices locating in B.C.,
with 29 offices opening in the province. These outcomes are a result of the Ministry working directly
with international companies to generate interest in locating in the province and then helping to
facilitate their move to B.C. This includes, among other things, providing them in-depth sector
information, operating costs and B.C. cost comparison information, connecting them with B.C.
suppliers, and identifying appropriate industry contacts and service providers.

Objective 1.3: Leverage investment capital programs to support a competitive business
environment

Strategies
Key strategies in 2016/17 included:

e Continuing to promote and deliver the Small Business Venture Capital Tax Credit program to
facilitate access to investment capital for small businesses in B.C.

e Continuing to manage $90 million of committed capital in the BC Renaissance Capital Fund, a
venture capital fund-of-funds model, aimed at attracting venture capital fund managers to B.C.
Investments are committed to fund managers who make direct equity investments in companies
across four key technology sectors: information technology, digital media, clean technology and
life sciences.

e Implementing the $100 million BC Tech FFund, a venture capital fund-of-funds to address the
current early stage (A-round) venture capital funding gap in B.C. and support the development
of a stronger venture capital system over the longer-term.

e Completing a venture capital review and implementing its findings through the development of a
multi-year action plan.
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Goal 2: British Columbians value diversity and inclusiveness in our
communities (

Objective 2.1 Celebrate B.C.’s rich diversity as a source of innovation and
global networking

Strategics
Key strategies in 2016/17 included:

e Supporting capacity-building across B.C. through the development and recognition of leaders in
multiculturalism, anti-racism and cultural diversity.

e Providing community grants that support cultural expression and raise awareness about or
enhance B.C.’s multicultural identity.

» Working to integrate multicultural festivals and events with in-bound trade and investment
missions to highlight the strong cultural ties that connect B.C. to our overseas business partners.

Objective 2.2: Collaborate with communitics and pariners to challenge racism
and barriers to inclusivity

Strategies
Key strategies in 2016/17 included:

e Fulfilling the requirements and objectives eslablished in the B.C. Multiculturalism Act, which
includes developing the annual Report on Multiculturalism and supporting the Multicultural \
Advisory Council in its public engagement and advisory role to the Minister. (

e Providing support to B.C. communities to deliver tocally-led anti-racism projecis.

¢ Promoting awareness and understanding of cultural diversity in B.C. through public education,
including online resources and community events.

e Continuing the implementation of B.C.’s Chinese Legacy projects commemorating the May 15,
2014 apology to the province’s Chinese Community for historical wrongs.

Performance Measure 4: Organizing Against Racism and Hate Network (OARH}
membersiip

Number of communities
who have completed
their annual deliverables -
to be an active member 28 28 32 32 36 40
of the Organizing
Against Racism and
Iate network

Data Source; Ministry of Iuternational Trade and Minister Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism.
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Discussion

The Ministry is responsible for the Multiculturalism Act, which includes a policy directive to
“reaffirm that violence, hatred and discrimination on the basis of race, cultural heritage, religion,
ethnicity, ancestry or place of origin have no place in the society of British Columbia” and “work
towards building a society in British Columbia free from all forms of racism and from conflict and
discrimination based on race, cultural heritage, religion, ethnicity, ancestry and place of origin.”

This measure provided an indication of the strong foundation of community partners working to
continually challenge racism in B.C. It measures the number of communities active in the Organizing
Against Racism and Hate (OARH) network until March 2017. The OARH network helps government
implement that policy directive through a community partnership approach, which strives towards
local solutions for local incidents. This approach allows communities to prepare for a racially
motivated incident early, before it becomes a major issue.

The OARH community membership ensures that British Columbia communities are able to identify
and respond to incidents of racism and hate. Increasing the number of communities involved in
OARH strengthens British Columbia’s overall ability to foster a society in which there are no
impediments to the full and free participation of all British Columbians in the economic, social,
cultural and political life of British Columbia.

Active members of OARH are required to hold regular community partnership meetings, monitor and
record acts of racism, and have an established critical incident response protocol for racism and hate
as well as a working relationship with the local police force.
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Financial Report

Discussion of Results

This Discussion of Results reports on the Ministry of International Trade and Minister Responsible
for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculfuralism financial results for the year ended March 31, 2017 and

should be read in conjunction with the Financial Report Summary Table provided below.

Opcrations

¢ In2016/17, the Ministry managed within its Fstimates budget and other authorizations with no
overall variance before accounting for an adjustment of prior year accruals.

e A surplus in Executive and Support Services Division was realized due to lower than

estimated administrative costs for the Ministry.

e [n2016/17, additional financial appropriation was provided through access to contingencies.
to support the expansion of B.C.’s Trade and [nvestment Office network in the ASEAN region
and export capacity development for small- and medium-sized cnterprises.

Financial Report Summary Table

International Business

Services

19,678 1,354 21,032 21,131 99
Development....oueiensisme
International Strategy and £.974 2 500 11.474 11.491 17
Competitiveness .........m... ’ ’ ’ T
Carporate Initiatives and 1.627 0 1.627 1.651 24
Multiculturalistn ...coosernene ’ N 7
Transfers to Crown 18,300 0 18,300 18,300 0
Corporations and Agencies..
Executive and Sl.lpl]()l‘t 1‘? 12 0 1712 1,572 (140)

Adjustment of Prior Year
Accrual’

(20)

(20)
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t«Other Authorizations” include Supplementary Estimates, Statutory Appropriations and Contingeneics. Amounts in this column are
nat related to the “estimated amount™ tnder sections 5(F) and 6(1) of the Balanced Budget and Ministerial Accotnvability Acr for

ministerial accountability for operating expenses under the Act.

Coutingencies access:
»  ASEAN Trade Investiment Office Presence $1.354 million.
o lixpar capacily development for small and medium-sized enterprises $2.500 million.

* Variances of a business line’s Actual results from Total Estimated are considered material if they exceed 5 per cent. The Ministry
experienced a SO,140 M surplus in Executive and Support Services as the result of tower thin estimated administrative costs incurred
for the year.

¥ The Adjustment of Prior Year Accrual of $0.02 million is a reversal of accruals in the previous vear.
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Appendix A — Contact Information and Hyperlinks

Minister’s Office

Honourable Teresa Wat

Ministry of International Trade and

Minister Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism
PO BOX 9063

Stn Prov Govt

Victoria B.C. V8W 9E2

Email: MIT.Minister@gov.bc.ca

Phone: 250 953-0910

Deputy Minister’s Office

Clark M. Roberts

Deputy Minister

Ministry of International Trade and

Minister Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism
PO Box 9063

Stn Prov Govt

Victoria B.C. V8W 9E2

Email: DM.MIT@gov.bc.ca

Phone: 250 952-0242

To learn more about the numerous programs and services provided by the Ministry of International (
Trade and Minister Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism, please
visit www.gov.bc.ca/mit.

To find a specific person or program in the Ministry of International Trade and Minister Responsible
for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism, you can use the B.C. Government Directory.
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Appendix B — List of Crowns, Agencies, Boards and Commissions

BC Immigrant Investment Fund (BCIIF)

This Crown Corporation promotes economic development and job creation through its investments in
public infrastructure projects and venture capital funds that are focused on four key technology
sectors: information technology, digital media, clean technology, and life sciences.

BC Renaissance Capital Fund (BCRCF)

This subsidiary of the BC Immigrant Investment Fund invests in venture capital funds that focus on
four key sectors: information technology, digital media, clean technology, and life sciences.

Forestry Innovation Investment (FII)

This Crown Corporation is the B.C. government’s market development agency for forest products. FII
works closely with industry associations and other levels of government in marketing B.C. forest
products around the world.

Multicultural Advisory Council (MAC)

This council is a legislated body officially created in 1988 to provide advice to the Minister
Responsible on issues related to multiculturalism and anti-racism. The council also performs other
duties and functions as specified by the Minister as set out in Section 5(1) of the Multiculturalism Act.

Legacy Initiatives Advisory Council

This council works with Chinese Canadian communities and other key partners to support and advise
government and ensure that the legacy projects recommended in the Chinese Historical Wrongs
Consultation Final Report are successfully implemented and are known and communicated
throughout the province.

" AdvantageBC

This non-profit Society communicates the tax incentive program as well as the many advantages
British Columbia offers as a location for corporate investment, including an educated and multilingual
workforce, an outstanding telecommunications infrastructure, clean and competitive energy, and a
high quality of living.
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Appendix C — Minister’s Mandate and Actions Summary

In the Premier’s July 30. 2015 Mandate Letter. the Minister of International Trade and Minister

Responsible for Asia Pacific Strategy and Multiculturalism received direction on strategic priorities
for the 2015/16 fiscal year. These priorities and the Ministry’s resulting actions are summarized

below:

Mandate Letter Direction

Ministry’s Action

1. Balance your ministerial budget in
order to control spending and ensure
an overall balanced budget for the
province of British Columbia.

Completed — The Ministry balanced its budget in
2016/17, and met expenditure targets.

2. Coordinate trade missions across all
ministries to ensure maximum
coverage and minimal duplication as
ministries execute BC Jobs Plan
strategies.

Completed — The Ministry of International Trade
submitted the 2016/17 Cross Government Mission
Plan to the Premier’s Office.

The Ministry continues to work with all ministries
across government to ensure approved trade missions
align with government priorities. The Ministry is
coordinating all international travel to ensure there is
no duplication in market.

3. Work with the BC chapter of the
Canadian Manufacturers and
Exporters Association to further
export opportunities for BC business
that were identified by your ministry
last year.

Completed — The Ministry worked closely with the
Canadian Manufacturers and Exporters Association
of BC (CME BC) to develop recommendations to
advance export opportunities for B.C. businesses.
CME BC was engaged in the consultation process to
develop the Export Navigator pilot project, which
assists B.C. companies with export readiness.

4. Continue to work with Canada and
the BC Business Council and HQ
Vancouver to attract major Asian
firms to invest in BC and locate their
North American presence in our
province as committed in Strong
Economy, Secure Tomorrow.

Ongoing — The project was announced in February
2015. The first head office announcement was made
on May 1, 2015. The project spans three years and
includes ongoing alignment between the Ministry
and HQ Vancouver.

5. Work with the federal government to
ensure British Columbia's interests
are protected in the Trans-Pacific
Partnership trade negotiations.

Completed — A final agreement was signed in
February 2016. Since then, the United States has
withdrawn from the TPP and the agreement is now
not likely to come into force.

6. Work with the BC construction
industry to fight the federal tariffs
imposed on imported rebar and
ensure construction costs remain as
low as possible in BC.

Completed — The Canadian International Trade
Tribunal (CITT) issued its original opinion and
supporting reasons report in December 2015. CITT
found that public interest does not warrant a
reduction or elimination of duties.

7. Work with the Ministries of
Advanced Education and

Completed — The Ministry worked with the
Ministries of Advanced Education and Technology,
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Technology, Innovation and Citizens'
Services to develop and present
options to Cabinet on ways to
improve the availability of venture
capital funding in British Columbia.

Innovation and Citizens’ Services to complete the
province’s venture capital policy review, and
received Cabinet direction in summer 2015. The
#BCTECH Stratcgy was announced in December
2015 and the related BC Tech Fund was launched in
October 2016.

Small Business and Tourism to
review and make options to Cabinet
on ways to expand the LNG-Buy BC
oniine tool to other sectors of the
provincial economy.

8. Develop and present options to Completed — The Ministry worked to develop a
Cabinel on a trade strategy for China | strategy for mid-sized Chinese cities, seeking to
focusing on mid-sized Chinese cities. | identify new trade and investment opportunitics that

align with B.C. sector priorities and building upon
current engagement with key coastal cities in China
over the past several Premier and Ministers missions
to China. The mid-sized Chinese cities strategy was
approved by Cabinet in April 2016.

0. Work with the Premier's Office to Completed - The Premier’s mission to Goangdong
recognize the 20th anniversary of the { Province in November 2015 marked the culmination
sister province relationship between | of a year-long celebration of the 20™ anniversary of
British Columbia and Guangdong, gister province relations, Over 200 B.C. participants
China. from a diversity of sectors and community members

joined the Premier’s mission to Guangdong to
celebrate the occasion.

10. Develop options and present to Completed — Both ASEAN {Qctober 2015) and
Cabinet a strategy for increasing our | India strategies (February 2016) were presented and
trade with India and presence in the | approved by Cabinet.

ASEAN nations.

11. Continue to implement the Completed — As of March 31, 2017, 12 of the 13
recommendations of the Chinese Report Recommendations are fulfilled, with the
Historical Wrongs Consultation remaining one recommendation expected to be
Report and provide an update to completed by fall 2017.

Cabinet on their status by December
31,2015,

12. Work with the Ministry of Education { Completed — The Ministry of International Trade
to ensure the Historical Wrongs (MIT) worked with the Ministry of Education to
Educational Curriculum Supplement | develop learning objectives related to Asian and
is available t6 BC schools in the South Asian discrimination in the updated education
2015/16 school year. curriculum. The updated education curriculum was

announced in August 2015. The education
curriculum supplement for Chinese Historical
Wrongs developed by MIT and the Ministry of
Education was announced and made available to
_ B.C. schools in September 2015.
13. Work with the Minister of State for Ongoing — The Ministry has been working with the

Ministry of Jobs, Tourism and Skills Training and
the Ministry of Small Business and Red Tape
Reduction on the LNG-Buy BC online tool.
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14. Implement the Medal of Good Completed — The Ministry worked with the
Citizenship and ensure potential Intergovernmental Relations Secretariat to announce (-
nominees are aware of the program in | the Medal of Good Citizenship Award. The
advance of its first investiturce nomination period has closed and the selection
ceremony in 2016. committee recommendations have gone forward to
the Licutcnant Governor in Council. Regional
presentations take place throughout the year.

Pt
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*REVISED FORMAT**
Updated: 11 July 2017 30/60/90 Tracking Document
DESCRIPTION PURPOSE, CONTENT AND CONTEXT-(100 words or less) MILESTONES
For Decision or Information In plain language, What is the item? What is the problem or opportunity? Why | (Next Steps/Decision Points/Timeline)

For Who (DM; Min; Cabinet) is it required now? What are the consequences if this does not go ahead?

Who requested this change? (stakeholder, Cabinet direction, legal requirement,
etc.) What is the cost? How will cost be covered? Stakeholders / Ministries
Affected (who is impacted, were they consulted, do they support, why or why
not?)

NAFTA initial guidance and 1281517 Timing TBC
approval for stakeholder
consultations

(15C/samie) 5.13,5.17
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Prince George Foreign Trade Zone
(FTZ) application

On May 2, 2017, the City of Prince George was informed by Western
Economic Diversification Canada (WD) that their application to be
designated a Foreign Trade Zone Point under the federal Foreign Trade
Zone program was approved. This information is strictly confidential
until a federal announcement is made. WD has agreed to wait until
after the interregnum period to make a joint announcement with the
Province and City of Prince George. The Ministry’s communication
branch has connected with WD and drafted an event plan.

In April, 2017, Natural Resources Canada received a letter from the
Vancouver Island Economic Alliance (VIEA) indicating that they intended
to submit a Foreign Trade Zone Point designation application. In May,
VIEA contacted MIT staff to request that MIT begin drafting a letter of
provincial support for VIEA’s application. Staff indicated that work on

the Foreign Trade Zone file is on hold until after the interregnum period.

An FTZ is a place where raw materials, components and finished goods
are exempt from import tariffs and taxes — similar to a duty free zone at
the airport. Canadian FTZ programs offer duty deferral benefits for
export-oriented activities, without limiting these activities to specific,
geographic sites. This provides businesses with cash flow benefits and is
a significant trade advantage for Prince George, helping the city attract
foreign investment, open up global markets for exporters, and create
local jobs.

June 2017 (TBC): WD has agreed to delay a
federal announcement until June 2017 so the
Province and Prince George can both
participate. MIT GCPE has drafted an event
plan.

No Cabinet / TB decisions required.

BC Multicultural Awards

The BC Multicultural Awards honour and celebrate British Columbia’s
cultural diversity. Individuals, organizations and businesses, whose work
helps bring our diverse cultures together, are nominated by the public
during the nominations period, which is usually open from June/July
through September.

The awards ceremony is traditionally held during B.C."’s Multiculturalism
Week in November.

July 2017: A decision is required on the date
of the Awards ceremony — Multicultural
Awards to be held in November 2017, or
delay Awards ceremony until early 2018.

If the Awards are still held in November
2017, Minister must send out a request for
nominations by end of July.

CONFIDENTIAL

Page 2
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Rebar | Reinvestigation

The CBSA is conducting a reinvestigation of the 2015 anti-dumping
investigation for rebar imported from China, Korea and Turkey. Nominal
values used for China did not take into account that Chinese producers
are state-owned enterprises and values were not competitive market

prices.

Key CBSA Dates:
Date

August 4, 2017

August 14, 2017
August 21, 2017
September 1, 2017 Conclusion of re-investigation

Event

Closing of the record

Case arguments due from all parti
Reply submissions due

No Cabinet / TB decisions required.

Regulatory Reconciliation
Cooperation Council (RCT)

The Canadian Free Trade Agreement (CFTA) establishes a regulatory
reconciliation process to address differences in regulatory measures
that create barriers to trade across Canada.

The CFTA’s new Regulatory Reconciliation and Cooperation Table (RCT)
will be responsible for identifying and addressing regulatory barriers.

Parties have been asked to provide the name
of senior-level official to act as its RCT
representative (i.e. ADM level) by July 14,
2017. As each appointment is supposed to be
made by First Ministers, BC had indicated it
will not be able to meet this deadline.

s.13
1
60 DAYS
GOAL STATUS MILESTONES

Chinese Historical Wrongs Legacy
Project - Commemorative Plaques
and Monuments Plan

This is one of four legacy recommendations progressing toward
completion, of the 13 recommendations committed to by Government
from the Consultation Final Report.

The remaining monuments in discussion and planning stage are: Prince
George, Musqueam market Garden, Richmond at Steveston, Victoria
Immigration House, Victoria Chinatown, and Craigellachie. The
proposed Vancouver Monument plan is under development.

Summer 2017 (TBC): Regional monuments in
Lytton Village and Yale are ready for
unveiling. Communities have requested
Minister participation for these events.

CONFIDENTIAL

Page 3

page 276 of 295 MIT-2017-72289



Updated: 11 July 2017

30/60/90 Tracking Document

The first regional unveiling was in Kelowna on Dec 3, 2016. The second

unveiling was in Cumberland Jan 13, 2017.

Export Navigator Pilot

MUJI Canada investment in BC
(1BD/Brian)

s.13,8.17

Japan-based MUIJI Canada will establish major department stores in
Richmond (Metrotown mall) and in Vancouver (Robson Street). MIT is
assisting with introductions to BC services providers (e.g. PR, legal, local
wholesalers, etc). The Robson Street store will be the largest MUJI
store in North America. There will be an opportunity for MIT to
participate in the grand openings and announcements.

5.12,5.13,5.17

Sept 2017 (TBC): Opening of MUJI
department store in Richmond.

Dec 2017 (TBC): Opening of MUJI
department store on Robson Street,
Vancouver.

Chinese Historical Wrongs Legacy
Project - Celebration Book

The Launch of a Chinese Canadian “Celebration Book” which profiles
prominent Chinese Canadians (both Past and present). This is one of five
legacy recommendations progressing toward completion, of the 13
recommendations committed to by Government from the Consultation
Final Report.

Approximately 1,700 copies of the book will be printed, with a PDF
version posted on the Chinese Legacy website. 513
s.13

Sept 2017 (TBC): Decision required regarding
Celebration Book launch date.

Note: The book is currently under review in
regard to information privacy and personal
content approval.

CONFIDENTIAL
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5.12,5.13,5.17

Exploratory Discussions towarda >3
Canada-China FTA

Softwood Lumber Negotiations

Page 5
CONFIDENTIAL
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Investment Alignment
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Bid Protest Mechanism 10
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BRITISH
COLUMBIA

30-DAY NOTE
NORTH AMERICAN FREE TRADE AGREEMENT (NAFTA)
RENEGOTIATIONS

Issue:

o NAFTA negotiating mandate to assert provincial interests to the Government of
Canada.

Background:

e The NAFTA came into force in 1994. The current US President has committed to
renegotiating the NAFTA, or withdrawing if unsatisfied with the negotiations.

e As required under US Trade Promotion Authority law, the President notified
Congress on May 18, 2017 of his intention to initiate negotiations with Canada and
Mexico in order to modernize the NAFTA. With Congress notified, the earliest

negotiations can start is August 16, 2017.
e5.13,5.16,5.17

Last update: July 7, 2017 Page 1 of 4
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5.13,5.16,5.17

Decision Required:

s 30-day issue.

Attachment:
s Appendix 1: Softwood Lumber and the North American Free Trade Agreement

Division: International Strategy & Competitiveness
Contact: Janna Jessee, Senior Manager, 250 952-0453

Last update: July 7, 2017 Page 2of 4
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BRITISH
COLUMBIA
30-DAY NOTE
WINE DISPUTE
Issue:

e US trade challenge over sale of BC only wine on grocery store shelves.

Background:

e On January 18, 2017, the US launched a challenge against Canada at the World
Trade Organization (WTQO) over BC'’s policy of allowing the sale of only 100 per cent
BC wines on some grocery store shelves. Australia, the European Union, New
Zealand, and Argentina joined the dispute as third parties.

e The US alleges that these regulations discriminate against the sale of US wine,
-breach Canada’s WTO commitments, and adversely impact US wine producers.
Canada and the US met for formal consultations on this matter on April 21 in Ottawa
(a Ministry of International Trade staff member attended the meeting).

e |f consultations do not resolve the dispute, the US could be in a position to request
the establishment of a dispute panel as early as July 20.

5.13,5.16,5.17

Last update: July 10, 2017 Page 10f2
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Decision Required:

* 30-day issue.
s.13,5.17

Division: International Sirategy & Competitiveness
Contact: Janna Jessee, Senior Manager, (250) 952-0453
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BRITISH -;.
COLUMBIA |
60-DAY NOTE
SOFTWOOD LUMBER DISPUTE '

Issue:

e While trade litigation is ongoing, Canada and the US have been meeting to
determine if a negotiated solution to the long-standing dispute is possible.

Background:

e The Ministry of Forests, Lands and Natural Resource Operations (FLNRO) leads this
file on behalf of the Province, with the Ministry of International Trade providing
support. The Minister of International Trade participates in the Forest Trade Policy
Committee.

¢ [n November 2016, the US industry petitioned the US Department of Commerce,
alleging that Canadian lumber exports are subsidized, injure the US industry and that
Canadian exporters are guilty of dumping (selling below market rates) their products.
The April 24, 2017 preliminary subsidy determination applied duties to softwood
exports from BC companies ranging from 19.5 per cent to 24.12 per cent, depending
on the company.

e The preliminary antidumping determination issued on June 26, 2017 resulted in an
average additional duty to be applied to softwood exports, as follows: Canfor 7.72
per cent, Tolko 7.53 per cent and West Fraser 6.76 per cent, and all other BC
softwood producers 6.87 per cent. As with the subsidy case, all BC softwood
producers other than Canfor, Tolko and West must pay retroactive duties going back
90 days.

e The total average duty now paid by BC's softwood lumber producers exporting to the
US is approximately 27 per cent.

e The final decisions for both subsidy and dumping could be issued by the US as early
as September 6, 2017. Avenues of appeal are through the North American Free
Trade Agreement, the US Court of International Trade, and the World Trade
Organization. Canada has had some success with appeals in past disputes, but it
can take years before the industry can be relieved of unfair duties.

5.13,5.16,5.17
[ ]

Last update: July 10, 2017 Page 1 of 2
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5.13,5.16,5.17

Decision Required:

s 60-day issue.
" $.13,5.16,5.17

Division: International Strategy & Competitiveness
Contact: Janna Jessee, Senior Manager, (250) 952-0453
({
(
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BRITISH
COLUMBIA

90-DAY NOTE
CHINESE HISTORICAL WRONGS - COMMEMORATIVE REGIONAL
PLAQUES AND MONUMENTS UNVEILING

Issue:

» Chinese Historical Wrongs Regional Monument Legacy Project.

Background:

e A Vancouver monument and up to 10 Regional monuments will be ready for
unveiling in 2017 in partial fulfillment of recommendations from the Chinese
Historical Wrongs Consultation Final Report.

e The Ministry has been mandated to complete up to 15 regional commemorative
monuments to recognize the historical contribution of Chinese Canadians in British
Columbia.

¢ To date, five regional monuments have been unveiled (Kelowna, Cumberland,
Ashcroft, Kamloops and Barkerville).

e Regional monuments in discussion and development include: Prince George,
Craigellachie, Musqueam Market Garden (Vancouver), Richmond, Victoria
Chinatown, Victoria Immigration House, and Hell's Gate, some of which may be
ready to be unveiled in spring or summer 2017.

e A larger proposed Vancouver Monument plan is under development.
Decision Required:

e 90-day issue.

¢ Confirmation of Minister participation and unveiling dates in Yale and Lytton Village.

Division: Corporate Initiatives and Multiculturalism
Contact: Dean Sekyer, Executive Lead, 250 952-0409
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' FEDERAL PROVINCIAL TERRITORIAL (FPT) COMMITTEES

Committee on Internal Trade

Under the Agreement on Internal Trade a Commiittee on Internal Trade (CIT) is established to:

(a) Supervise the implementation of the Agreement;

{b) Assist in the resolution of disputes arising out of the interpretation and application of the
Agreement;

(¢) Approve the annual operating budget of the Secretariat; and

(d} Consider any other matter that may affect the operation of the Agreement,

The current Chair is New Brunswick. Their CIT representative is Roger Melanson, President of
Treasury Board and Responsible for Trade Policy.

The CIT meets annually. The renegotiation of the Agreement on internal Trade has been the
main focus of the CIT for the past two years.

A CIT meeting was held on April 7, 2017. At this meeting, all provinces, territories and the
federal government approved and released the new Canadian Free Trade Agreement (CFTA).

When the CFTA comes into force on July 1, 2017, the AIT will be phased out. The CIT will
continue with the same functions under the CFTA.

Last update: June 8, 2017 Page 1 of 1
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